ISSN:2687-6078





SAKARYA UNİVERSITY JOURNAL OF HOLISTIC HEALTH





VOLUME: 7 ISSUE: 1 E-ISSN: 2687-6078 $\label{eq:approx_appr$

SAKARYA ÜNİVERSİTESİ HOLİSTİK SAĞLIK DERGİSİ SAKARYA UNIVERSITY JOURNAL OF HOLISTIC HEALTH



The Owner on Behalf of Sakarya University

Prof. Dr. Hamza Al Sakarya University, Sakarya - Türkiye

Editor in Chief

Havva Sert Department Internal Diseases Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye hsert@sakarya.edu.tr

Assistant Editor

Kevser İlçioğlu Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye

Editorial Board

Gülgün Durat Department of Mental Health Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye Gönül Kurt Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Nursing University of Health Sciences Ankara - Türkiye

Yasemin Hamlacı Başkaya Department of Obstetrics And Gynaecology Midwifery Clinical Midwifery Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye

Yurdanur Dikmen Department of Nursing Education Sakarya University of Applied Sciences Sakarya - Türkiye Zeynep Kızılcık Özkan Department of Surgical Oncology Thoracic Surgery Orthopaedics, Nursing Trakya University Edirne - Türkiye

Hicran Yıldız Department Internal Diseases Nursing Bursa Uludag University Bursa - Türkiye Mahmut Akbolat Department of Health Management Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye

Selda Çelik Department of Endocrinology, Health Sciences Nursing, Internal Diseases Nursing University of Health Sciences Ankara - Türkiye

Meltem Kürtüncü Department of Child Health and Diseases Nursing Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University Zonguldak - Türkiye

İbrahim Dönmez Department of Cardiology Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University Bolu - Türkiye

Metin Yıldız Department of Statistics, Public Health Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye Sena Dilek Aksoy Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Kocaeli University Kocaeli - Türkiye

> Gamze Göke Arslan Department of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences Nursing Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Karaman - Türkiye

Ayfer Peker Karatoprak Department of Surgical Diseases Nursing Kocaeli University Kocaeli - Türkiye

Sevil Albayrak Department of Preventive Health Services University of Health Sciences Ankara - Türkiye

> Osman Kayapınar Department of Health Sciences Duzce University Düzce - Türkiye

Deniz Akyıldız Department of Neonatology, Obstetrics and Gynaecology Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University Kahramanmaraş - Türkiye

Ethics Editor

Nursan Çınar Department of Nursing, Child Health and Diseases Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya-Türkiye

Statistics Editor

Murat Güven Department of Econometrics Sakarya University Sakarya-Türkiye

Turkish Spelling and Language Editor

Ayla Dikmen Department of Nursing Principles Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye Ahsen Demirhan Kayacık Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye

Secretariat

Çiğdem Şen Tepe Department of Mental Health Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye Meryem Pelin Department Internal Diseases Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye

Merve Gülbahar Eren Department Internal Diseases Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye

English Spelling and Language Editor

Parisa Hadavibavili Department of Midwifery Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye Bedia Tarsuslu Department of Mental Health Nursing Sakarya University Sakarya - Türkiye

Layout Editor

Mehmet Emin Çolak Scientific Journals Coordinatorship Sakarya University Sakarya-Türkiye mehmetcolak@sakarya.edu.tr Yakup Beriş Scientific Journals Coordinatorship Sakarya University Sakarya-Türkiye yakupberis@sakarya.edu.tr

Indexing





Contents

Research Article

1	Coronavirus Phobia and Burnout in Healthcare Workers During the Pandemic Process Burcu Bayrak Kahraman, Aysun Acun, Erhan Arıkan, Nilgün Çevik, Arzu Dahil 1-11
2	The Relationship Between Proactive Personality Traits and Professional Values in FinalYear Nursing Students Semiha Dertli, Seher Çevik Aktura
3	Healthcare Workers' Anxiety Levels and Mindful Attention Awareness Towards the Covid-19 Pandemic Füsun Fakılı, Nurgül Özdemir
4	The Turkish Adaptation Study of the Digital Addiction Scale For Children: A Validity and Reliability Study Hamide Zengin, Elif Erbay Özdede, Nursan Çınar
5	Prevalence of Anaemia in Pregnant Women Registered in a Family Health Centre in Kütahya <i>Adem Durmaz, Muammer Yılmaz</i>
6	Relationship Between Fluid Control and Symptom Severity in Hemodialysis Patients <i>İkbal Demiralp Feride Taşkın Yılmaz</i>
Err	atum Article
7	 Spinal Kord Yaralanması Olan Hastalarda Fiziksel Engelliler için Fiziksel Aktivite Ölçeği'nin (FEFA) Geçerlik ve Güvenilirliği Validity and Reliability of the Physical Activity Scale for the Physical Disabilities in patients with Spinal Cord Injury Abdurrahim Yıldız, Rüstem Mustafaoğlu, Fatma Nur Kesiktaş
Rev	view



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN : 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University Vol. 7, No. 1, 1-11, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1264207

Research Article

Coronavirus Phobia and Burnout in Healthcare Workers During the Pandemic Process

Burcu Bayrak Kahraman¹*^(D), Aysun Acun¹^(D), Erhan Arıkan²^(D), Nilgün Çevik³^(D), Arzu Dahil³^(D)

¹ Bilecik Şeyh Edebali University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing burcumbayrak@hotmail.com avsun.acun@bilecik.edu.tr

² Bilecik Şeyh Edebali University, Faculty of Medicine dr.erhan.arikan@gmail.com

³ Bilecik Training and Research Hospital kaankerem11@hotmail.com arzueren11@hotmail.com

*Corresponding Author

Received: 18.03.2023 Accepted: 05.03.2024 Available Online: 19.04.2024

1. Introduction

Abstract

Aim: During the pandemic process, healthcare workers are in a very high-risk group and constitute the group most affected by the process. This study was conducted to determine coronavirus phobia and burnout in healthcare workers during the pandemic process.

Method: This descriptive study was conducted with 337 healthcare workers between June and December 2021. Research data were collected using the Descriptive Characteristics Form, the Coronavirus 19 Phobia Scale, and the Coronavirus Burnout Scale.

Results: The mean age of participants in the study was 31.7 ± 8.5 ; 69.97% of them were female, and 45.7% of them were nurses. The mean score of the Coronavirus Phobia Scale of the healthcare professionals was 49.46 ± 15.83 , and the mean score of the Coronavirus Burnout Scale was determined as 25.65 ± 10.50 . It was concluded that there was a statistically significant positive correlation between the Coronavirus Phobia Scale of healthcare workers and the Coronavirus Burnout Scale (p<0.05). It was determined that coronavirus phobia and burnout were higher in women and in those who worked in the intensive care unit. Coronavirus phobia was higher in healthcare workers who had chronic diseases and whose family members were not diagnosed with COVID-19 (p<0.05). In addition, it was determined that coronavirus phobia and burnout were higher in healthcare workers who had chronic diseases and whose family members were not diagnosed with COVID-19 (p<0.05). In addition, it was determined that coronavirus phobia and burnout were higher in healthcare workers higher in healthcare workers who had chronic diseases and whose family members were not diagnosed with COVID-19 (p<0.05). In addition, it was determined that coronavirus phobia and burnout were higher in hurses in doctors (p<0.05).

Conclusion: It was concluded that the coronavirus phobia and burnout levels of healthcare workers were low, and the burnout increased as the phobia level increased.

Keywords: Coronavirus, Phobia, Burnout, Healthcare worker

It is a well-known fact that the epidemic process that the whole world is going through has psychological as well as physical effects on individuals. Healthcare workers are undoubtedly the most affected by this situation (1). Since the beginning of the H1N1 pandemic, healthcare workers have been under heavy workloads. Limited resources, long shifts, disruption of sleep and work-life balance, and occupational hazards associated with exposure to COVID-19 patients lead to many post-traumatic psychological problems such as stress, insomnia, anxiety, and depression in healthcare workers (2). According to data from a study conducted with healthcare workers, depression was found in 95% of the participants, and 35% of these individuals were found to have severe depression. In the same study, 60% of participants were reported to have extremely severe anxiety (3). In addition to anxiety and depression, another psychological problem experienced by healthcare workers is fear. Fear is a defense mechanism. It can be adapted to the environment and increase the chance of survival (4). The results of studies on the fear caused by the coronavirus, which has recently entered our lives, on individuals have begun to take their place in the literature. In fact, in a study conducted with healthcare workers, it was found that the participants' COVID-19 anxiety levels were above average and that male participants had higher anxiety

Cite as: Bayrak Kahraman B., Acun A., Arıkan E., Çevik N., Dahil A. Coronavirus Phobia and Burnout in Healthcare Workers During the Pandemic Process. Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi. 2024;7(1): 1-11. https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1264207 levels than females (3). In a similar study conducted with healthcare workers in our country, it was found that women's fear of COVID-19 was higher than men's (5). Fear can be defined as a defense mechanism, but its excessive presence leads to individual mental health problems such as phobia (4). A phobia is defined by the Turkish Language Association as "an unusually strong fear of certain objects or situations, anxiety" (6). In addition, phobia is also expressed as a pathological fear that cannot be controlled and causes panic. Therefore, in phobias, life is organized around fear, and quality of life is negatively affected (7). Certain phobias may arise due to structural, genetic, and physiological characteristics, as well as the influence of environmental conditions. In this sense, the COVID-19 pandemic may be an environmental trigger of phobic conditions. People may develop disproportionate reactions to objects or situations that they associate with the COVID-19 pandemic, and as a result, a coronavirus phobia may develop (8). It can be seen that current studies generally question the fear of coronavirus. However, considering the changes and effects it causes in lives, it is believed that the fear of coronavirus has begun to reach pathological dimensions. All of these effects can lead to burnout in healthcare workers (5). In a study conducted with healthcare workers, 52.8% of the participants experienced burnout (9). In another study of healthcare workers, this rate was found to be 75% (10). The COVID-19 process has highlighted the importance of the healthcare system for societies and healthcare professionals. Undoubtedly, the usefulness of healthcare workers is related to their physical and mental health (11). Determining the psychological problems experienced by healthcare workers during the COVID-19 process will prepare the ground for effective psychological support practices and institutional policies that can be made in this regard. Therefore, this study was designed to determine coronavirus phobia and burnout in healthcare workers.

2. Methods

The study was conducted in a training and research hospital in Turkey between 15.7.2021 and 15.12.2021. The population of the study consisted of 900 employees working in the hospital on the specified dates. The study aimed to reach the entire population, so no sample selection was made. After explaining the purpose of the study to the individuals based on voluntary participation in the study, 337 healthcare workers who were over 18 years of age, who could read and write, who were not on vacation on the dates of the study, who did not have hearing/visual disabilities, and who agreed to participate in the study were included in the study. The data collection form was administered through face-to-face interviews. At the end of the study, a sample calculation was performed using the OpenEpi version 3 program. The sample size was determined to be 310, with a margin of error of 5% and a power interval of 97%.

3. Data Collection Forms

3.1. Descriptive characteristics form

This section includes a total of 16 questions, such as age, gender, occupation, type of employment, COVID-19 vaccination status, COVID-19 infection status, and COVID-19 infection status of a family member.

COVID-19 phobia scale (C19P-S): It was developed by Arpacı et al. The aim of this scale, which is a 5point Likert-type self-rating scale, is to measure coronavirus phobia. It is rated between 1 "strongly disagree" and 5 "strongly agree." The scale consists of psychological (items 1, 5, 9, 13, 17, 20), somatic (items 2, 6, 10, 14, and 18), social (items 3, 7, 11, 15, and 19) and economic (items 4, 8, 12, and 16) subscales. The subscale scores are obtained by summing the responses to the subscale items, and the total scale score is obtained by summing all the subscale scores. The total score ranges from 20-100. An increase in the score indicates an increase in the sub-dimensions and general coronavirus phobia. The Cronbach's alpha value of the scale was found to be 0.92 (8). In our study, this value was found to be 0.94. **Covid-19 burnout scale:** The validity and reliability of the scale conducted by Yıldırım and Solmaz has a 5-point Likert scale. The scale items are rated as Never = 1, Rarely = 2, Sometimes = 3, Often = 4, and Always = 5. The scale is unidimensional, and the total score is obtained by summing up all responses. The total score ranges from 10 to 50. A higher total score indicates a higher level of burnout. The Cronbach alpha value of the scale is 0.92 (12). This value was found to be 0.94 in our study.

3.2. Data analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics for Windows 25.0. Numbers, percentages, and means were used to evaluate the data. An independent sample t-test was used to compare two independent groups, and F test was used to compare more than two groups. The Bonferroni multiple comparison test was used to identify groups with differences. A value of p<0.05 was accepted as the level of statistical significance.

3.3. Ethical aspect of the study

Approval was obtained from Bilecik Şeyh Edebali University Ethics Committee for the research to be carried out (18/06/2021-27325).Written institutional permission was obtained from Health Ministry and the hospital where the study was conducted (E-41652334-604.02-2021/15). In addition, the necessary permissions were obtained from the health professionals participating in the study too.

4. Results

The mean age of the participants was 31.7±8.5 years 69.7% were female, and 45.7% were nurses. 14.5% of the workers had a chronic disease, 26.4% had been diagnosed with COVID-19, and 86.6% had received the COVID-19 vaccine. In addition, 19.9% of the healthcare workers participating in the study worked in the COVID-19 clinic, and 17.5% worked in the intensive care unit during the pandemic (Table 1).

Sociodemographic Characteristics		Number	Percentage
Age (Mean±SD =31.7± 8.5)	18-30	168	49.9
	30-60	169	50.1
Gender	Female	235	69.7
	Male	102	30.3
Profession	Nurse	154	45.7
	Physician	50	14.8
	Patient care staff	79	23.4
	Cleaning staff	27	8.0
	Health Technician	27	8.0
Marital status	Married	169	50.1
	Single	168	49.9
Has children	Yes (Mean±SD)=1,69±0,73	175	51.9
	No	162	48.1
Chronic disease	Yes	49	14.5
	No	288	85.5
The unit worked before the pandemic	Intensive care	51	15.1
	Emergency service	44	13.1
	Polyclinic	166	49.3
	Inpatient care	76	22.6

Table 1. Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants (n=337)

The unit worked in the pandemic	Intensive care	59	17.5
	COVID-19 service	67	19.9
	Emergency service	35	10.4
	Polyclinic	94	27.9
	Non-COVID-19 services	82	24.3
Operating hours	Day shift	131	38.9
	Night shift	6	1.8
	Rotating shifts	200	59.3
Are there any people over 65 years of	Yes	135	40.1
age or with a high-risk disease in your	No	202	59.9
family or among the people you live			
with?			
Have you been diagnosed with COVID-	Yes	89	26.4
19?	No	248	73.6
If you have been diagnosed with COVID-	Yes	13	3.9
19, have you had to be hospitalized for	No	324	96.1
further examination and treatment?			
Have you been vaccinated against	Yes	292	86.6
COVID-19?	No	45	13.4
Has anyone in your family been	Yes	132	39.2
diagnosed with COVID-19?	No	205	60.8
If someone in your family was diagnosed	Yes	31	9.2
with COVID-19, did they have to be	No	306	90.8
hospitalized for further examination and			
treatment?			
Have you experienced the loss of family,	Yes	82	24.3
friends, etc. due to COVID-19?	No	255	75.7

Mean±SD: Mean ±Standard Deviation

The mean score of the C19P-S scale was 49.46±15.83, and the mean score of the COVID-19 Burnout Scale was 25.65±10.50 (Table 2).

	Table 2. Coronavirus	Phobia and Burnout	Levels of Participants
--	----------------------	--------------------	------------------------

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
COVID-19 Phobia Scale	20.00	100.00	49.46	15.83
Psychological Sub-dimension	6.00	30.00	17.91	5.69
Somatic Sub-dimension	5.00	25.00	10.01	4.27
Social Sub-dimension	5.00	25.00	13.27	4.83
Economic Sub-dimension	4.00	20.00	8.28	3.53
COVID-19 Burnout Scale	10.00	50.00	25.65	10.50

It was found that there was a statistically significant positive and moderate relationship between the C19P-S scale and the Coronavirus Burnout Scale (r=0.642; p=0.000). It was also concluded that there was a statistically significant positive and moderate relationship between the psychological, somatic, social, and economic sub-dimensions of the C19P-S scale and the COVID-19 Burnout Scale (r=0.607; p=0.000, r=0.531; p=0.000, r=0.601; p=0.000, r=0.437; p=0.000) (Table 3).

Table 3. The Relationship Between Coronavirus Phobia and Burnout Levels of Participants

Scale		COVID-19 Burnout Scale
COVID-19 Phobia Scale	r	0.642**
COVID-19 Phobla Scale	р	0.000
Psychological Sub-dimension	r	0.607**
	р	0.000
Somatic Sub-dimension	r	0.531**
	р	0.000
Social Sub-dimension	r	0.601**
	р	0.000
Economic Sub-dimension	r	0.437**
	р	0.000

**p<0.01

Table 4. Coronavirus Phobia and Burnout Levels of Participants Based on Some Descriptive Characteristics (n=337)

Some	CP19-S	Psychological Sub-	Somatic	Social	Fconomic	COVID-19
descriptive	01175	dimension	Suh-dimension	Sub-dimension	Sub-dimension	Burnout Scale
characteristic	Mean+SD(med)	Mean+SD(med)	Mean+SD(med)	Mean+SD(med)	Mean+SD(med)	Mean+SD(med)
s	(Min-Max)	(Min-Max)	(Min-Max)	(Min-Max)	(Min-Max)	(Min-Max)
3	(min max)	(min max)	(min max)	(min max)	(min max)	(MIII Max)
Gender	L					
Female	51.94±15.21	18.94±5.35(19)	10.47±4.38(10)(13.94±4.69(14)	8.6±3.57(8)	27.11±10.33
	(51)(20-100)	(6-30)	5-25)	(5-25)	(4-20)	(26)(10-50)
Male	43.73±15.82	15.54±5.76(15)	8.93±3.82(8)	11.73±4.83(11)	7.53±3.33(8)	22.28±10.15
	(43)(20-100)	(6-30)	(5-25)	(5-25)	(4-20)	(21.5)(10-50)
t test	4.502	5.230	3.082	3.941	2.582	3.961
p value	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.010	0.000
Profession	L		1	1	1	1
Nurse (1)	52.35±15.15	18.84±5.35(19)	10.64±4.25(10)(13.99±4.61(14)	8.88±3.48(8)	27.37±10.37
	(51)(20-100)	(6-30)	5-25)	(5-25)	(4-20)	(27.5)(10-50)
Physician (2)	39.36±12.03	14.1±4.49(13)	8.26±3.15(7)	10.5±3.42(10)	6.5±2.76(6)	23.28±8.2(24)
	(40)(20-65)	(6-26)	(5-16)	(5-18)	(4-15)	(10-49)
Patient care	50.78±14.23	18.9±5.58(19)	9.87±3.84(10)	13.9±4.97(13)	8.11±3.15(8)	24.29±9.74(23)
staff (3)	(50)(20-81)	(6-30)	(5-21)	(5-25)	(4-16)	(10-50)
Cleaning staff	50.85±22.36	17.52±6.8(18)	11.19±6.31(9)	13.44±5.83(14)	8.7±4.96(8)	23.3±13.88(18)
(4)	(50)(23-100)	(7-30)	(5-25)	(5-25)	(4-20)	(10-50)
Health	46.37±15.67	17.15±5.97(17)	8.81±3.88(9)	12.26±5.15(11)	8.15±3.47(8)	26.56±12.11
Technician (5)	(43)(20-75)	(6-27)	(5-20)	(5-23)	(4-18)	(26) (10-47)
F test	10.170	7.994	5.153	9.036	6.098	2.632
p value	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.040
Post-hoc	2<1,3,4	2<1,3	2<1,4	2<1,3	2<1	2<1
Chronic diseas	se					
Yes	54.98±15.48(54)	19.24±5.42(19)(6-	11.27±4.32(10)(14.92±4.61(14)(9.55±3.7(9)	27.37±10.98
	(20-94)	30)	5-23)	5-25)	(4-19)	(27) (10-50)
No	48.52±15.73(48)	17.68±5.71(18)	9.79±4.23(10)	12.99±4.82(12.5)	8.06±3.46(8)	25.36±10.41
	(20-100)	(6-30)	(5-25)	(5-25)	(4-20)	(24) (10-50)
t test	2.665	1.785	2.247	2.610	2.764	1.240
p value	0.008	0.075	0.025	0.009	0.006	0.216
Unit worked in	n the pandemic					
Intensive care	54.15±16.32	20.15±4.94(19)	10.36±4.78(10)(14.51±4.87(14)	9.14±3.87(8) (4-	30.76±11.44
(1)	(51) (24-100)	(10-30)	5-25)	(5-25)	20)	(29) (10-50)

Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi, 7(1) 2024, 1-11

t-test	-2.192	-2.811	-0.673	-2.901	-0.551	-0.986
	0-100)	(6-30)	5-25)	5-25)	(4-20)	(10-50)
No	50.97 + 15.5(50)(2)	18.6+5.55(19)	10.13+4.22(10)(13.87+4.85(14)	8.36+3.49(8)	26.1+10.71(25)
103	(46)(20-100)	30)	(5-25)	5-25)	(4-20)	(24)(10.50)
Vos	47 11+16 12	16 83+5 75(16)(6-	$9.81 \pm 4.35(10)$	12 33+4 67(12)(8 14+3 6(8)	24.95+10.16
Has anyone in	your family been	diagnosed with CO	VID-19?	1	1	1
Post-hoc	3<1,4	1>3,5		3<1,2,4	3<1,4	1>3,4,5
p-value	0.002	0.001	0.113	0.004	0.019	0.001
F test	4.347	5.132	1.882	3.911	2.985	5.094
services (5)	(46) (20-80)	(6-30)	(5-21)	(5-25)	16)	(23.5)(10-48)
Non-COVID-19	47.51±15.32	16.85±5.46(17)	9.76±4.08(10)	12.87±4.74(13)	8.04±3.26(8) (4-	24.49±10.45
	(49) (21-100)	(7-30)	5-25)	(5-25)	20)	(22.5) (10-45)
Polyclinic (4)	51.05±15.97	18.29±5.74(18)	10.46±4.51(10)(13.55±4.78(12.5)	8.76±3.61(8) (4-	23.82±9.12
service (3)	(40) (20-79)	(6-27)	20)	(5-21)	14)	(10-47)
Emergency	41.29±14.81	15.34±5.64(15)	8.31±3.98(7) (5-	10.69±4.3(10)	6.94±2.75(7) (4-	23.57±9.87(24)
service (2)	(52) (20-77)	(6-30)	5-20)	(5-25)	18)	(25) (10-50)
COVID-19	49.73±14.78	18.03±5.85(19)	10.25±3.66(10)(13.61±4.83(14)	7.84±3.56(8) (4-	26.22±10.59

Mean±SD: Mean±Standard Deviation

When the levels of coronavirus phobia and burnout of the participants were examined according to some descriptive characteristics of the participants, it was determined that the scores obtained from the C19P-S, psychological, somatic, social, economic sub-dimensions, and the COVID-19 Burnout Scale showed a statistically significant difference according to the gender of the participants (p<0.05) and the scores of women were higher. It was concluded that the scores obtained from the C19P-S scale, psychological, somatic, social, and economic sub-dimensions, and the COVID-19 Burnout Scale showed a statistically significant difference according to the occupation of the participants (p<0.05). According to the multiple comparison tests performed to determine the groups showing differences, it was determined that the general and sub-dimensions of phobia scores of nurses were higher than those of physicians. It was determined that the scores obtained from the C19P-S scale, somatic, social, and economic sub-dimensions showed a statistically significant difference according to the presence of chronic disease of the participants (p<0.05), and the scores of individuals with chronic disease were higher. However, it was concluded that the participants' scores on the burnout scale did not show a statistically significant difference according to the presence of chronic disease (p>0.05). It was found that the participants' scores on the C19P-S scale, psychological, social, economic sub-dimensions, and COVID-19 burnout scale showed a statistically significant difference according to the unit in which they worked during the pandemic process (p<0.05). According to the multiple comparison tests performed to determine the groups showing differences, it was found that the total score of the C19P-S scale was higher among intensive care and outpatient clinic staff than among emergency department staff. In the psychological sub-dimension, it was determined that the score of those working in the intensive care unit was higher than that of those working in the emergency department and units other than COVID. In the social and economic sub-dimensions, it was found that the scores of those working in the emergency department were lower than those working in intensive care and outpatient clinics. The COVID-19 Burnout Scale score was higher for those working in the ICU than for those working in the ED, outpatient clinics, and outside the COVID-19 clinic. It was found that the scores obtained from the C19P-S scale, psychological and social sub-dimensions showed a statistically significant difference (p<0.05) according to the presence of someone diagnosed with COVID-19 in the family of the participants (p<0.05), and the scores of people who did not have a COVID-19 diagnosis in their family were higher.

5. Discussion

It is clear that healthcare workers are at very high risk during the pandemic process and are one of the most affected groups. In addition to the physiological effects of the process on healthcare workers, the psychological effects are also considerable (13). Therefore, the psychological impact of the pandemic on healthcare workers has been addressed in many studies (14). This study investigated the coronavirus phobia and burnout levels of healthcare workers during the pandemic. Considering the highest and lowest scores attainable from the coronavirus phobia and burnout levels scales, the coronavirus phobia and burnout levels of healthcare workers are low. In a study conducted by Oktay Arslan et al. (2021), it was observed that healthcare workers had a moderate level of coronavirus phobia (15). The fear of coronavirus was also found to be at a moderate level in a study conducted among nurses (14). In a study done by Hu et al. (2020), the level of burnout among nurses was found to be moderate (16), while in another study conducted among physicians, physicians were found to have high levels of burnout symptoms (17). When the results of similar studies in the literature were examined, the levels of burnout and fear of COVID-19 varied (14-17). These differences may be due to many factors, such as the characteristics of the group studied, the intensity of the institution, and whether there is a lack of personal protective equipment. In fact, many healthcare workers were infected at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic due to the global problems experienced in this regard (18). It is also thought that this may be related to the time interval where the research was conducted. Because the COVID-19 vaccination program started in 2021, it can be assumed that vaccination changes the impact of the pandemic on the psychology of healthcare workers by eliminating uncertainty in the early stages of the pandemic. Our study showed that the fear of COVID-19 and burnout were found to be higher in women. The study conducted by Çayır Yılmaz and Uysal showed that the level of fear of COVID-19 was found to be significantly higher in women. Similarly, in the study conducted by Arpacioglu et al. (2021), the fear of COVID-19 and burnout were found to be significantly higher in women. It can be seen that the results of our study are similar to the studies in the literature.

In our study, burnout was found to increase as coronavirus phobia increased. In a similar study conducted by Yakut et al. (2020) among healthcare workers, it was found that burnout increased as fear of COVID-19 increased (19). In another study conducted by Çalışkan and Kargın (2022) with healthcare workers, it was concluded that there was a significant relationship between fear of COVID-19 and burnout (20). It can be seen that the result obtained in our study is similar to the literature. It can be assumed that healthcare workers are in direct contact with patients as a high-risk group in the COVID-19 process, and the increased workload in this process is effective in the fear and burnout of employees. In our study, the COVID-19 phobia score of nurses was found to be higher than that of physicians. In a study investigating the health risk factors of physicians and nurses during the pandemic period, nurses were found to be more stressed and anxious than physicians (21). In a study conducted by Karadem et al. (2021) among healthcare professionals, it was concluded that nurses' fear of COVID-19 was higher than that of physicians (22). Our study is similar to the literature. Due to the nature of their profession, nurses spend more time with patients and have closer contact with patients than other healthcare professionals. Therefore, their level of anxiety may be higher.

At the same time, our study found that coronavirus phobia was higher among those working in intensive care units and outpatient clinics than among those working in the emergency department. Intensive care units are units where there is close contact with patients, and many interventions are performed that may increase the risk of infection with COVID-19, such as airway aspiration and intubation. Therefore, it is normal that individuals working in intensive care units were found to have high coronavirus phobia in our study. In outpatient clinics, it is thought that coronavirus phobia among staff may be high because of problems such as maintaining social distancing and providing adequate ventilation in waiting areas. The reason for the low coronavirus phobia among emergency room staff, where the risk of infection with COVID-19 may be high, might be due to the establishment of a triage

area outside the emergency room at the facility where the study was conducted and allowing individuals to enter this area after certain screenings.

In our study, burnout was found to be higher in ICU workers compared to those working in other units. In a similar study conducted in our country during the pandemic, investigating burnout in physicians and nurses in a university hospital, emotional exhaustion was found to be higher in ICU workers (23). A similar result was found in a study conducted by Alnazly et al. (2021) in Jordan (3). In another study conducted in our country, burnout was found to be higher in the group in contact with COVID-19 patients (24). As the COVID-19 pandemic spread, the workload of intensive care units increased (25). It can be said that the higher burnout of ICU staff compared to other units is a result of this situation. Fear of transmitting the infection to loved ones and separation from family members are some of the challenges faced by healthcare workers during the pandemic process (15). The psychological impact of this fear experienced by healthcare workers has been highlighted in many studies (16,26,27). Sakaoğlu et al. (2020) also stated that the most challenging factor for healthcare workers was the risk of infecting their children and other family members (28). In fact, in our study, it was concluded that the general, sociological, and psychological subdimension scores of coronavirus phobia were higher in healthcare workers whose family members were not diagnosed with COVID-19. The lower scores of those diagnosed with COVID-19 may have been because they were confronted with the disease.

6. Conclusions and Recommendations

Results showed that coronavirus phobia and burnout were low among healthcare workers, and burnout increased as phobia levels increased. It was found that coronavirus phobia and burnout were higher in healthcare workers with chronic diseases, whose family members had not been diagnosed with COVID-19, and who worked in intensive care. It was also found that coronavirus phobia and burnout were higher in nurses than in physicians. The pandemic negatively impacted the mental and physical health of healthcare workers. Based on these results, institutional and national plans should be made to strengthen the mental health of healthcare workers. The motivation of workers can be increased through material and moral arrangements to be made within these plans. In addition, health workers can undergo mental health screening at certain intervals. The psychological effects of staff working in high-risk areas, such as intensive care units, can be monitored, and therapeutic programs prepared for them. Healthcare workers subjected to quarantine or isolation can be given access to psychological support during or after quarantine or isolation. In additions, it may be recommended to conduct the study with a larger sample group, including university and private hospitals.

Limitations

This study had some limitations. First, the research was conducted in a single center and within a specific time period. And second the survey responses are based on participant reporting.

Acknowledgements

We thank all healthcare professionals who participated in our study.

References

- 1. Prazeres F, Passos L, Simões JA, Simões P, Martins C, Teixeira A. COVID-19-Related Fear and Anxiety: Spiritual-Religious Coping in Healthcare Workers in Portugal. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021;18(1): 220.
- 2. Lasalvia A, Amaddeo F, Porru S, Carta A, Tardivo S, Bovo C, Ruggeri M,Bonetto, C. Levels of burnout among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic and their associated factors: a cross-sectional study in a tertiary hospital of a highly burdened area of north-east Italy. BMJ open, 2021;11(1):e045127.
- 3. Alnazly E, Khraisat OM, Al-Bashaireh AM, Bryant CL. Anxiety, depression, stress, fear and social support during COVID-19 pandemic among Jordanian healthcare workers. Plos one, 2021;16(3):e0247679.
- 4. García-Reyna B, Castillo-García GD, Barbosa-Camacho FJ, Cervantes-Cardona GA, Cervantes-Pérez E, Torres-Mendoza BM, Fuentes-Orozco C, Pintor-Belmontes KJ, Guzmán-Ramírez BG, Bernal-Hernández A, González-Ojeda A, Cervantes-Guevara, G. Fear of COVID-19 Scale for hospital staff in regional hospitals in Mexico: A brief report. International journal of mental health and addiction, 2022;20(2):895-906.
- 5. Arpacıoğlu S, Baltalı Z, Ünübol B. COVID-19 pandemisinde sağlık çalışanlarında tükenmişlik, Covid korkusu, depresyon, mesleki doyum düzeyleri ve ilişkili faktörler. Cukurova Medical Journal, 2021;46(1):88-100.
- 6. Türk Dil Kurumu Sözlükleri. Erişim tarihi: 13.3.2023 Erişim Adresi: https://sozluk.gov.tr/
- 7. Tözün M, Babaoğlu AB. Fobiler ve sağlıklı yaşam davranışları: Bir halk sağlığı bakışı. Family Practice & Palliative Care, 2016;1(1):24-26.
- 8. Arpaci I, Karataş K, Baloğlu M. The development and initial tests for the psychometric properties of the COVID-19 Phobia Scale (C19P-S). Personality and individual differences, 2020;164(2020):110108.
- 9. Khasne RW, Dhakulkar BS, Mahajan HC, Kulkarni AP. Burnout among healthcare workers during COVID-19 pandemic in India: results of a questionnaire-based survey. Indian journal of critical care medicine: peer-reviewed, official publication of Indian Society of Critical Care Medicine, 2020;24(8):664.
- 10. Alsulimani LK. Farhat AM, Borah RA, AlKhalifah JA, Alyaseen SM, Alghamdi SM, Bajnaid MJ. Health care worker burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional survey study in Saudi Arabia. Saudi medical journal, 2021;42(3):306.
- 11. Kırılmaz H, Yorgun S, Atasoy A. Sağlık çalışanlarında psikososyal risk faktörlerini belirlemeye yönelik bir araştırma. Uluslararası Kültürel ve Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi (UKSAD), 2016;2(Special Issue 1):66-82.
- 12. Yıldırım M, Solmaz F. COVID-19 burnout, COVID-19 stress and resilience: Initial psychometric properties of COVID-19 Burnout Scale. Death Studies, 2022;46(3):524-532.
- 13. Da Silva Neto RM, Benjamim CJR, de Medeiros Carvalho PM, Neto MLR. Psychological effects caused by the COVID-19 pandemic in health professionals: a systematic review with metaanalysis. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 2021;104(2021): 110062.

- 14. Çayır Yılmaz M, Uysal N. Klinisyen Hemşirelerde COVID-19 Korkusu ve Mesleğe Bağlılık Düzeyinin Belirlenmesi Ordu Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Çalışmaları Dergisi,2021;4(3):316-325.
- 15. Oktay Arslan B, Batum Ö, Varol Y, Şenel E, Uçar ZZ. COVID-19 phobia in healthcare workers; a cross-sectional study from a pandemic hospital. Tuberk Toraks, 2021;69(2):207-216.
- 16. Hu D, Kong Y, Li W, Han Q, Zhang X, Zhu LX, Wan SW, Liuc Z, Shenc Q, Yangc J, He HG, Zhu J. Frontline nurses' burnout, anxiety, depression, and fear statuses and their associated factors during the COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan, China: A large-scale cross-sectional study. EClinicalMedicine, 2020;24(2020):100424.
- 17. Abdelghani M, El-Gohary HM, Fouad E, Hassan MS. Addressing the relationship between perceived fear of COVID-19 virus infection and emergence of burnout symptoms in a sample of Egyptian physicians during COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. Middle East Current Psychiatry, 2020;27(2020):1-9.
- Demir C, Töreyin Z, Demir A. Her yönüyle COVİD-19. İçinde: Sağlık Çalışanlarında COVİD-19: Meslek hastalığı mı, iş kazası mı? İtil O, Ergur G, Köktürk N, Havlucu Y, Akgün M, (eds.), Ankara: Türk Toraks Derneği COVİD-19 E-Kitapları, Haziran, 2020.
- 19. Yakut E, Özlem K, Güngör Y. Sağlık Personelinin Covid-19 korkusu ile tükenmişliği arasındaki ilişkide aşırı iş yükü ve algılanan sosyal desteğin etkisinin yapısal eşitlik modeliyle belirlenmesi. Ekev Akademi Dergisi, 2020;24(83),241-262.
- 20. Çalışkan E, Kargın M. The relationship between coronavirus 19 fear and occupational fatigue, burnout and recovery levels in healthcare professionals in Turkey. Archives of Environmental & Occupational Health, 2022;77(9):711-720.
- 21. Ali A, Abbas S, Khan AA, Khan AS, Farid A, Rauf MT. Health Risk Factors among Doctors, Psychologists and Nurses of Pakistan during COVID-19 Pandemic. The Journal of Psychology, 2022;156(4):278-294.
- 22. Karadem FB, Demirdaş A, Işık Ü, Kılıç F. Investigation of the psychiatric factors that determine the fear of COVID-19 in healthcare workers and hospital staff in a university hospital in Turkey. Journal of Community Psychology.2021;7:1-13.
- 23. Toksoy CK, Demiral GZ, Demirbaş H, Acar H, Börü ÜT. Covid-19 Pandemisinde Bir üniversite hastanesinde doktor ve hemşirelerde tükenmişlik sendromu. Kocatepe Tıp Dergisi, 2023;24(Ocak):15-20.
- 24. Tekin SS, Yarar F, Tekin F. Fear, Burnout, and Health Profile in Healthcare Professionals Contacting Patients with COVID-19: A Comparative Study. Gevher Nesibe Journal Of Medical And Health Sciences, 2022;7(20):169-175.
- 25. Taşdemir Mecit BB, Opak SŞ, Yıldırım ÖD, Sıvacı RG. COVID-19 Yoğun Bakım Ünitelerinde Çalışan ve Çalışmayan Sağlık Personelinde Tükenmişlik Düzeyi. JARSS, 2022;30(2):84-88.
- 26. Sasangohar F, Jones SL, Masud FN, Vahidy FS, Kash BA. Provider burnout and fatigue during the COVID-19 pandemic: lessons learned from a high-volume intensive care unit. Anesthesia and analgesia. 2020; 131(1):106-111.
- 27. Guttormson JL, Calkins K, McAndrew N, Fitzgerald J, Losurdo H, Loonsfoot D. Critical care nurses' experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic: a US national survey. American journal of critical care,2022;31(2):96-103.

28. Sakaoğlu HH, Orbatu D, Emiroglu M, Çakır Ö. Covid-19 salgını sırasında sağlık çalışanlarında spielberger durumluk ve sürekli kaygı düzeyi: Tepecik hastanesi örneği. Tepecik Eğit. ve Araşt. Hast. Dergisi, 2020;30(2):1-9.

Article Information Form

Author(s) Notes: The author(s) would like to express their sincere thanks to the editor and the anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments and suggestions.

Author(s) Contributions: All authors contributed equally to the writing of this paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure: No potential conflict of interest was declared by the author.

Copyright Statement: Authors own the copyright of their work published in the journal and their work is published under the CC BY-NC 4.0 license.

Supporting/Supporting Organizations: No grants were received from any public, private or non-profit organizations for this research.

Ethical Approval and Participant Consent: It is declared that during the preparation process of this study, scientific and ethical principles were followed and all the studies benefited from are stated in the bibliography.

Plagiarism Statement: This article has been scanned by iThenticate.



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN : 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University

Vol. 7, No. 1, 12-22, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1315165

Research Article

The Relationship Between Proactive Personality Traits and Professional Values in Final-Year Nursing Students

Semiha Dertli 10, Seher Çevik Aktura1*0

¹ Fırat Üniversitesi semihadertli15@gmail.com *seherrcvk@gmail.com

*Corresponding Author



Received: 15.06.2023 Accepted: 18.03.2024 Available Online: 22.04.2024

1. Introduction

Abstract

Aim: This descriptive, relational study investigated the relationship between final-year nursing students' proactive personality traits and professional values.

Method: The research population consisted of 101 final-year nursing students in the nursing department of a university in eastern Turkey between 10-20 December 2022. The study data were collected online using the participant introduction form, the Abbreviated Proactive Personality Scale and the Professional Nursing Values Scale and analyzed using descriptive statistics, independent groups t-test, Kruskal-Wallis and Pearson correlation test.

Results: The final-year nursing students were found to have an average of 49.53 ± 10.34 and 112.34 ± 15.87 on the Abbreviated Proactive Personality Scale and Professional Nursing Values Scale, respectively, and had a proactive personality and high professional values above the medium level. The study showed that the final-year nursing students who volunteered to become nurses had higher mean scores on the Professional Nursing Values Scale total score and the Professionalism, Activism and Justice subscales, with a statistically significant difference. A moderately significant positive correlation was found between students' Abbreviated Proactive Personality Scale and Professional Nursing Values Scale mean scores (r=0.477, p<0.001). The research found that as students' proactive personality increased, so did their professional values.

Conclusion: The study found that students had proactive personalities and high professional values above the moderate level, and as proactive personality traits increased, their professional values also increased. In this regard, developing students' proactive personality traits and professional nursing values may be recommended, as increasing their awareness and conducting research with larger groups.

Keywords: Final year nursing students, Proactive personality, Nursing, Professional nursing values

Proactive personality is the inclination to take personal actions to influence one's environment (1). Individuals with a stronger proactive personality are more emotionally stable, better equipped to cope with stress and seek opportunities to improve their performance (1,3). Several studies have shown that proactive personality positively impacts various career variables, including career decision-making processes (4) and career adaptability (5) in university students. Proactive personality is positively associated with learning motivation (6) and academic self-efficacy (7). Individuals with proactive personalities are aware of their responsibilities and strive to create positive changes in all environments. These characteristics enable them to achieve their goals more efficiently and persist in their efforts (8,9). Proactive personality behaviours play a crucial role in various professions, including nursing.

Cite as: Dertli S., Çevik Aktura S. The Relationship Between Proactive Personality Traits and Professional Values in Final-Year Nursing Students. Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi. 2024;7(1): 12-22. https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1315165

🖸 💇 This is an open Access paper distributed under the terms of Conditidions of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

Nursing aims to solve existing health problems and improve quality of life. Nurses can offer highquality care by respecting their patients' lives, individuality, integrity, values, decisions, and honour. Nurses must know the personal and professional values that shape their behaviour (10,11). Professional values are the standards of action accepted by practitioners and the professional group, providing a framework for evaluating beliefs and attitudes that affect behaviour (12). The acquisition of nursing professional values is central to professional development. Professional behaviours expand the roles and responsibilities of nurses, enabling positive changes in the people they care for and increasing the quality of care (13,14).

Nursing students must integrate their values and characteristics with their professional values while adapting to their professional roles throughout their education. A study conducted with final-year nursing students found that those with high proactive personality traits had better communication skills and used various approaches to solve conflicts (15). Nursing students must possess a proactive personality to manage their knowledge and skills rationally. The literature reveals limited studies examining proactivity in nurses and student nurses (15,18). However, studies have not explored the relationship between proactive personality traits and professional values in final-year nursing students. Examining and developing nursing students' proactive personalities and professional values can contribute to nursing. This study investigates the relationship between proactive personality traits and professional values among final-year nursing students.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design

The study employed a descriptive-correlational design to investigate the relationship between proactive personality traits and professional values among final-year nursing students.

Dependent variables: Proactive personality traits and professional values of final-year nursing students.

Independent variables: Age, gender, place of residence, school expectations and expectations from the nursing profession.

This study sought answers to the following questions:

- What is the level of proactive personality traits of final-year nursing students?
- What is the level of professional values of final-year nursing students?
- What is the relationship between proactive personality traits and professional values of final-year nursing students?

2.2. Participants and sampling

The study population comprised 170 final-year nursing students enrolled in the nursing department of a university located in eastern Türkiye between November and December 2022. In this faculty, final year nursing students practice Internal Medicine Nursing Care Practices, Surgical Diseases Nursing Care Practices, Obstetrics and Women's Health Nursing Care Practices, Public Health Nursing Care Practices, Child Health and Diseases Nursing Care Practices and Mental Health Nursing Care Practices for five weeks each. They practice for 32 hours a week for 15 weeks each semester. The study included final-year nursing students who took any of these courses for the first time. A power analysis was conducted using OpenEpi Version-3 'Sample Selection with Known Universe,' which determined a sample size of 101 students with an effect size of 80% and a 95% confidence interval.

2.3. Data collection

The study's data was collected through an online questionnaire. The questionnaire forms were converted into an online format using Google Forms and then distributed to the class-representative students via social media groups. Each questionnaire form took approximately 10-15 minutes to complete. The data was collected online.

2.4. Measurements

Data were collected using the 'Participant Introduction Form,' 'Abbreviated Proactive Personality Scale (APPS)' and 'Professional Nursing Values Scale (NPVS),' developed by the researchers following a review of the relevant literature.

2.4.1. Introductory information form

This form, which the researchers developed through a review of the literature, consists of five questions that inquire about the characteristics of final-year nursing students, such as age, gender, and choice of nursing specialty voluntarily.

2.4.2. Abbreviated Proactive Personality Scale (APPS)

Adaptation, validity and reliability studies of the Abbreviated Proactive Personality Scale developed by Bateman and Crant and revised by Claes, Beheydt and Lemmens in 2005 were conducted by Akın and Özcan (1,19,20). It consists of a single dimension and has no reverse-coded items. It is a seven-point Likert scale consisting of 10 items. High scores on the scale indicate that individuals have high proactive personality traits. The Cronbach alpha coefficient of this scale has been reported to be .86. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was found to be .90.

2.4.3. Professional Nursing Values Scale (NPVS)

This scale, developed by Weis and Schank, was adapted into Turkish by Geçkil et al., and its validity and reliability were tested (21,22). The five-point Likert-type scale of 26 items has five subdimensions, including "caring, professionalism, activism, justice and loyalty." The scale is scored between 26 and 130 points, with high scores indicating high professional values. Cronbach's alpha coefficient on this scale was reported to be .92. In this study, Cronbach's alpha coefficient was found to be .97.

2.5.Data analysis

Data from the study were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 22 (IBM Corp., Armonk, New York, USA). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test the normality of the data. Descriptive statistics, independent groups t-test, Kruskal-Wallis and Pearson correlation tests were used to analyze the data. The correlation value (r) of 0.10-0.29 indicates a low-level relationship, 0.30-0.49 indicates a medium-level relationship and 0.50-1.00 indicates a high-level relationship (23). P values <0.05 were accepted as statistically significant.

2.6. Ethical considerations

Prior to commencing the study, ethical approval (date 08.12.2022 and number 2022/26) was obtained from the Social and Humanities Research Ethics Committee of the university where the research was conducted, and institutional approval was obtained from the faculty where the research was conducted. At the same time, informed consent was obtained from the students via an online form before they participated in the study.

3. Results

It was found that the mean age of the final year nursing students who participated in the study was 22.43±1.89 years, 66.3% were female, 67.3% lived in the city centre, 49.5% chose to nurse

voluntarily, 65.3% expected to 'have a career' from school and 40% expected to 'find an easy job' from nursing (Table 1).

The comparison of the descriptive characteristics of the final year nursing students with the mean total scores of the APPS and NPVS and the mean subscale scores of the NPVS is presented in Table 1. It was found that the difference between the mean total scores of the APPS and NPVS and the mean subscale scores of the NPVS and the gender, school expectations and professional expectations of the final-year nursing students was not statistically significant (Table 1).

It was found that the final-year nursing students who had spent most of their lives in the city centre had higher mean total scores on the APPS and NPVS and higher mean subscale scores on caring, professionalism, activism, justice and loyalty than the final-year nursing students who had lived in the district, and the difference between them was statistically significant (Table 1).

It was found that final-year nursing students who voluntarily chose to nurse had higher mean total scores and mean scores for the professionalism, activism and justice subscales of the NPVS than final-year nursing students who did not voluntarily choose to nurse. The difference between them was statistically significant (Table 1).

Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi, 7(1) 2024, 12-22

Table 1. Comparison of Descriptive Characteristics of Final Year Nursing Students with Mean Total APPS and NPVS Scores and Mean NPVS Subscale Scores.

Descriptive	n	%	APPS	NPVS		NPVS	Sub-dimension		
characteristics			(X±SD)	(X±SD)			(X±SD)		
					Caring	Professionalism	Activism	Justice	Loyalty
	X	±SD	Med(Min-Max)						
Age	22.4	3±1.89	22 (19-32)						
Gender						•	•		
Female	67	66.3	48.89±10.24	113.59±14.84	35.73±4.28	30.28±4.51	21.64±3.51	13.28±1.96	12.65±1.90
male	34	33.7	50.79±10.57	109.88±17.70	34.38±5.81	29.44±4.88	20.85±3.83	12.73±2.28	12.47±2.06
Test [#]			t:-0.861	t:1.112	t: 1.321	t: -0.84	t:1.003	t:1.192	t: 0.44
р			.392	.274	.19	.404	.32	.23	.66
Previous place of residen	ce/pla	ice of ma	ximum residence						
City centre	68	67.3	51.44±9.96ª	115.25±13.56 a	36.35±4.02ª	30.51±3.98 ª	21.98±3.37 ª	13.48±1.80 ª	12.91±1.78ª
District	20	19.8	43.45±8.08 ^b	102.20±16.33b	31.95±4.91 ^b	27.60±5.28 ^b	19.30±3.43 ^b	11.80±2.16 ^b	11.55±1.84 ^b
Town/Village	13	12.9	48.92±12.30	112.76±20.76	34.76±6.58	31.00±5.83	21.38±4.25	13.07±2.62	12.53±2.47
Test ^g			KW:11.111	KW:9.946	KW:11.701	KW:6.288	KW:9.771	KW:9.674	KW:7.045
р			.004	.007	.003	.043	.008	.008	.030
Choosing the nursing pro	gramr	ne volun	tarily						
Yes	50	49.5	50.42±9.82	115.36±14.91ª	36.04±4.33	30.70 ± 4.47 a	22.12±3.37 ^a	13.60±1.92 ^a	12.90 ± 2.04
No	18	17.8	46.55±10.92	102.50±18.87 ^b	32.61±6.15	27.16±5.88 ^b	19.22±4.03 ^b	11.77±2.39 ^b	11.72±1.70
Partly	33	32.7	49.81±10.81	113.15±13.72	35.57±4.48	30.48±3.54	21.42±3.40	13.06±1.86	12.60±1.37
Test ^g			KW:1.289	KW:8.102	KW:4.419	KW:6.641	KW:7.768	KW:11.192	KW:5.021
р			.525	.017	.110	.036	.021	.004	.081
Expectations from school									
Having a profession	66	65.3	49.98±9.14	114.01±14.74	35.68±4.32	30.57±4.35	21.62±3.54	13.39±1.90	12.74±1.92
Graduating from school	14	13.9	45.28±14.17	104.57±20.51	32.92±6.98	27.57±5.74	20.28±4.08	11.92±2.73	11.85±1.83
Making money	21	20.8	50.95±10.84	112.01±15.12	35.57±4.46	29.80±4.36	21.33±3.63	12.95±1.96	12.61±2.03
Test ^β			KW: 1.529	KW: 2.987	KW: 1.432	KW: 4.251	KW: 1.333	KW: 4.764	KW: 2.361
р			.465	.225	.489	.119	.514	.092	.307
Expectations from the nu	rsing	professio	n						
Being a good nurse	41	39.0	49.85±10.45	111.53±17.05	34.90±5.32	30.02±4.95	21.12±3.89	13.09±2.27	12.39±1.94
Having a career	18	17.0	52.55±9.55	115.44±12.70	36.00±3.85	30.50±3.63	22.38±2.61	13.33±1.84	13.22±1.62
Easy to find a job	42	40.0	47.92±10.48	111.80±16.09	35.33±4.86	29.76±4.77	21.19±3.73	13.00±2.02	12.52±2.06
Test ^β			KW: 2.37	KW: .512	KW: .708	KW: .286	KW: 1.203	KW: .495	KW: 2.417
p			.305	.774	.702	.876	.548	.781	.299

t: t-test. [&] KW: Kruskal-Wallis tests were used. ^{a-b}: Difference between groups

It was found that the final-year nursing students had a mean total score of 49.53 ± 10.34 on the APPS and a mean total score of 112.34 ± 15.87 on the NPVS and had a proactive personality and high professional values above the medium level. It was found that the mean score of the caring sub-dimension of the NPVS was 35.27 ± 4.86 . the mean score of the professionalism sub-dimension was 30.00 ± 4.63 . the mean score of the activism sub-dimension was 21.37 ± 3.63 . the mean score of the justice sub-dimension was 13.09 ± 2.08 and the mean score of the loyalty sub-dimension was 12.59 ± 1.95 and the scores obtained from all the sub-dimensions were high (Table 2).

Scales	X ± SD	Med(Min-Max Puan)	$Cronbach\alpha$
NPVS total score	49.53 ± 10.34	49.00 (22-68)	.904
APSS total score	112.34 ± 15.87	116.50 (61-130)	.971
Caring	35.27 ± 4.86	36.50 (19-40)	.915
Professionalism	30.00 ± 4.63	31.00 (15-35)	.918
Activism	21.37 ± 3.63	22.00 (11-25)	.925
Justice	13.09 ± 2.08	14.00 (7-15)	.880
Loyalty	12.59 ± 1.95	12.00 (7-15)	.676

Table 2. Total Means of APPS. NPVS and NPVS Subscales for Final Year Nursing Students

In Table 3. it was found that the differences found in the comparisons of final year nursing students' mean total score of APPS. mean total score of NPVS and mean sub-dimension scores of NPVS were statistically positive and moderately significant (Table 3).

Table 3.	Correlations	Between Mea	n Scale T	Fotal and	Subscale Sco	ores for Final	Year Nursing S	tudents
----------	--------------	-------------	-----------	-----------	--------------	----------------	----------------	---------

	NPVS		NPVS Sub-dimensions				
APPS		Caring	Professionalism	Activism	Justice	Loyalty	
r	.477**	.414**	.465**	.444**	.413**	.486**	
р	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	

** The correlation is significant at 0.01 level.

4. Discussion

This study examined the relationship between proactive personality traits and professional values in final-year nursing students. Individuals with higher levels of proactive personality traits are more emotionally stable. better able to cope with stress in their environment. and more likely to create opportunities to improve performance than those with lower proactive personality traits (2). In the study, final-year nursing students were found to have proactive personality traits above the average level. Kong et al.. in studies of undergraduate nursing students in China. and Hu et al.. in studies of university students. reported that students had proactive personality traits above the average level (2,24). Our results support the literature. This shows that university students can take initiative and action rather than being passive and reactive.

The study found that the proactive personality of final-year nursing students did not change significantly according to gender. Aybatan. Er. Demir and Arabacı reported no significant difference between gender and proactive personality traits (25,27). A study conducted by Al-Omari and Al-Ghanbosi on nursing students in Oman found that gender was not a significant variable for proactive personality (16). Our results support the literature. The proactive characteristics of men are likely higher because we come from a patriarchal society and the expectations placed on men. such as being brave. taking

responsibility. taking initiative and taking risks when necessary. There is evidence that this perception has changed in contemporary society (28,29). Especially in the university environment. this perception has been destroyed. and it is common for women to be brave. take initiative. and take risks.

The environment in which individuals live and their opportunities can influence personality development (30). The present study observed that final-year nursing students living in the city centre had significantly higher proactive personalities than those living in towns and districts. No study in the literature examined a similar parameter. The fact that the city centre offers more opportunities for a proactive personality and that proactive people prefer to live in the city centre may have caused this result.

The study found that variables such as voluntary choice of department. expectations from school and the nursing profession were not important variables for proactive personality. Proactive individuals will likely take every opportunity to exceed normal job expectations (31). As they act according to the situation they find themselves in or the benefits of the process. it can be assumed that they are not influenced by variables such as choice of department. expectations from school and the nursing profession.

The results of this study showed that final-year nursing students had high professional values. Karadağlı. Elmalı. Okuyan et al. reported that nursing students had high professional values (32,34). The study found that the professional values of final-year nursing students did not vary according to gender. Similar results were reported in studies conducted among nursing students in Iran (35). Our findings are in line with the literature. It can be assumed that the courses for developing nursing philosophy and professional values in nursing education in our country positively affect the perception of professional values of both genders.

The study found that the professional values of final-year nursing students living in the city centre were significantly higher than those living in the district. In contrast to our findings. Elmalı found no change in students' professional values according to their place of residence (33). This finding may be due to the personal characteristics of the final-year nursing students who participated in the study.

It was found that final-year nursing students who voluntarily chose the nursing department had higher professional values than the others. Similar results were reported by Okuyan et al.. Avci et al. and Taşkıran et al. (34,36,37). Mollaoğlu et al. reported that those who voluntarily chose the nursing profession had a better understanding of the theoretical knowledge and a more positive attitude towards the profession (38). Individuals choosing a career that aligns with their preferences may increase their motivation and make them happy. This may have a direct impact on the professionalism of the profession (39).

In this study. it was found that the professional values of final-year nursing students mainly remained the same according to their expectations from school and the nursing profession. In Karadağlı's study. expectation from school was found to be a significant variable for final-year nursing students' professional values. In contrast. expectation from the nursing profession was not found to be a significant variable in parallel with our finding (32). On the other hand. Elmalı reported that students' professional values did not change significantly according to their expectations from school and the nursing profession (33). Shi et al. concluded that society and families' expectations of the nursing profession and the proportion of those who want their children to become nurses are low in China. However, it was reported that this perception started to change with the feeling of commitment to the

profession after the pandemic (17). It can be said that this result may be because the final-year nursing students' expectations of the nursing profession and school are close.

The study found a positive and moderately significant relationship between proactive personality traits and professional nursing values among final-year nursing students. Shi et al. found a positive and significant relationship between proactive personality traits and professional identity in a study of nursing students (17). Davik et al. found that proactive personality traits influenced professionalism in a study of nurses (18). Demir and Arabacı reported a positive and moderate relationship between proactive personality traits and attitudes towards the profession and desire for career development in a study conducted with another professional group (27). Our findings support the literature and show that proactive personality traits are important for professional values. which are the cornerstone of the nursing profession.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

The study found that students had proactive personalities and high professional values above the medium level. and their professional values increased as their proactive personality traits increased. Our findings are valuable in highlighting the importance of having a proactive personality and high professional values in nursing. characterized by its role in providing care and treatment to people. The fact that nursing students with strong proactive personalities have high professional values is promising for clinical practice and the profession's future. As these students will work in the field in the future. they can offer more practical and ethical solutions to their problems and improve the existing order. In this direction. it may be recommended that students develop proactive personality traits and professional nursing values. increase their awareness. and conduct the study with larger groups.

Limitations

The study's main limitation is that the data could not be generalized to the population as they were collected from one faculty.

References

- 1. Bateman TS. Crant JM. The proactive component of organizational behavior: A measure and correlates. J Organ Behav 1993;14(2):103-118.
- Kong LN. Yang L. Pan YN. Chen SZ. Proactive personality. professional self-efficacy and academic burnout in undergraduate nursing students in China. J Prof Nurs. 2021;37(4):690–695. doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2021.04.003
- 3. Zhou L. Shi J. Psychometric properties of the Chinese translation of the proactive personality scale. Psychol Rep. 2009;105(1):43-56.
- 4. Park. IJ. The role of affect spin in the relationships between proactive personality. career indecision. and career maturity. Front Psychol. 2015;6:1754.
- 5. Ma Y. Chen SC. Zeng H. Male student nurses need more support: Understanding the determinants and consequences of career adaptability in nursing college students. Nurse Educ Today. 2020;91:104435.
- 6. Major DA. Turner JE. Fletcher TD. Linking proactive personality and the big five to motivation to learn and development activity. J Appl Psychol. 2006;91(4):927.
- 7. Lin SH. Lu WC. Chen MY. Chen LH. Association between proactive personality and academic selfefficacy. Current Psychology. 2014;33(4):600-609.
- 8. Çelik E. Raba S. The suppressive effect of thrill seeking on the relationship between life satisfaction and proactive personality. Mediterranean Journal of Humanities. 2017;7(1): 123-134. (In Turkish).
- 9. Uncuoğlu Yolcu İ. Çakmak A. The effect of psychological empowerment on the relationship between proactive personality and proactive work behavior. International Journal of Management Economics and Business. 2017;13(2):425-438. (In Turkish).
- 10. Babadağ K. Nursing and values. 1st Edition. Ankara: Alter Publishing; 2010. p. 31-55. (In Turkish).
- 11. Kaya H. Işık B. Şenyuva E. Kaya N. Personal and Professional Values of Nursing Students. Anatolian Journal of Nursing and Health Sciences. 2012;15(1):18-26. (In Turkish).
- 12. Weis D. Schank MJ. Toward building an international consensus in professional values. Nurse Educ Today. 1997;17(5):366-9. doi: 10.1016/s0260-6917(97)80096-2. PMID: 9370627.
- 13. Can R. Hisar KM. Nurses' Professional Behaviors and burnout levels. Journal of Hacettepe University Faculty of Nursing. 2019;6(1):1-9. https://doi.org/10.31125/hunhemsire.544096
- 14. Dertli S. Günay U. Correlation between the occupational professionalism level and intercultural sensitivity of pediatric nurses: Case of Türkiye. International Journal of Caring Sciences. 2022;15(1):19-27.
- 15. Kavaklı O. Investigation of the relationship between proactive personality traits and conflict resolution approach of intern nursing students. Journal of Education and Research in Nursing. 2018;15(1):9-16. (In Turkish).
- 16. Al-Omari A. Alganbousi S. The entrepreneurial intentions among undergraduate students of Sultan Qaboos University and its relationship with their proactive personality. International Journal of Educational Science and Research. 2020;10(3):37-48.

- 17. Shi Y. Zhou JX. Shi JL. Pan JF. Dai JY. Gao Q. Association between proactive personality and professional identity of nursing undergraduates: The mediating role of resilience and irrational belief. Nurse Education in Practice. 2023;71: 103729.
- 18. Davik FI. Widyacahya F. Cahya Laksana MA. Damayanti NA. Suminar DR. Wulandari RD. The Effect of Proactive Personality. Professionalism. and Work Engagement on Performance among Village Midwives in Neonatal Complication Management Using the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness. Indian Journal of Forensic Medicine & Toxicology. 2020;14(4):965-971.
- 19. Claes R. Colin B. Björn L. "Unidimensionality of abbreviated proactive personality scales across cultures." J Appl Psychol. 2005;54(4):476-489.
- 20. Akın A. Özcan NA. Short Turkish version of Proactive Scale: A study of validity and reliability. Mevlana International Journal of Education. 2015;5(1):165-172.
- 21. Weis D. Schank JM. An instrument to measure professional nursing values. Journal of Nursing Scholarship. 2000;32(2): 201– 204.
- 22. Geçkil E. Ege E. Akın B. Göz F. Turkish version of the revised nursing Professional Values Scale: Validity and reliability assessment. Japon Journal of Nursing Science. 2012;9(2):195-200. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1742-7924.2011.00202.x/abstract
- 23. Cohen JW. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioural Sciences. 2nd Edn.. Hillsdale. NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates;1998.p. 79-81.
- 24. Hu X. He Y. Ma D. Zhao S. Xiong H. Wan G. Mediating model of college students' proactive personality and career adaptability. Career Dev Q. 2021;69(3):216-230.
- 25. Aybatan K. Examining the relationship between employees' proactive personality traits and emotion management. Unpublished Master's Thesis. Istanbul Gelisim University Institute of Social Sciences. Istanbul. 2018. 1-91. (In Turkish).
- 26. Er N. Psychological resilience and proactive personality traits as predictors of self-efficacy in primary school teachers. Unpublished Master's Thesis. Gazi University Institute of Educational Sciences. Ankara. 2018. 1-55. (In Turkish).
- 27. Demir AH. Arabacı İ. The relationship between classroom teachers' proactive personality traits and their attitudes toward the profession and career development aspirations. Journal of Education and Human Sciences: Theory and Practice. 2021;12(23):1-21. (In Turkish).
- 28. Toksöz G. Şener Ü. Demircan S. Karababa R. Memiş E. Arslan H. Kaptanoğlu İK. Kabadayı A. Akyıldırım O. İnanç B. Report on monitoring gender equality in Turkey 2021-2022. (In Turkish). https://dspace.ceid.org.tr/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1/2121/2022%20%c4%b0zleme%20Rap oru.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y
- 29. Alemdar Z. Çetin E. Norms and Standards for Access to Gender Equality. 2021. (In Turkish). https://ceidizler.ceid.org.tr/dosya/toplumsal-cinsiyet-esitligine-erisimde-normlar-vestandartlarpdf.pdf
- 30. Cüceloğlu. D. Human and Behavior. 7th Ed.. Remzi Bookstore; 1997. p. 94. (In Turkish)
- 31. Hu X. Zhao R. Gao J. Li J. Yan P. Yan. X et al. Relationship between proactive personality and job performance of Chinese nurses: The mediating role of competency and work engagement. Front Psychol. 2021;12: 533293.

- 32. Karadağlı F. Nursing students' perceptions of professional values and factors affecting them. Mersin University Journal of Health Sciences. 2016;9(2):81-91. (In Turkish)
- 33. Elmalı H. Determination of nursing students' perceptions of professional values. JAREN. 2020;6(1):125-31. (In Turkish)
- 34. Okuyan CB. Çağlar S. Erden Ç. Nursing students' attitudes towards teamwork. professional values and influencing factors: A descriptive study. Gumushane University Journal of Health Sciences. 2020;9(4): 324-332. (In Turkish)
- 35. Poorchangizi B. Borhani F. Abbaszadeh A. Mirzaee M. Farokhzadian J. The importance of professional values from nursing students' perspective. BMC Nursing. 2019;18:1-7.
- 36. Avcı SÇ. Işık G. Cetişli NE. Üşümez D. Şencandan B. Bektaş C. Professional values and career plans of nursing students. Journal of Health Sciences and Professions. 2019;6(2):256-265. (In Turkish)
- 37. Taşkıran N. Akyıl RÇ. Kahraman A. Erdem N. Sarıtaş. SÇ. Evaluation of the perceptions of nurses working in hospitals about their working environment. Euphrates Journal of Health Services. 2020;1(1):14-29. (In Turkish)
- 38. Mollaoğlu M. Fertelli T. Tuncay F. Evaluation of the perceptions of nurses working in hospitals about their working environment. Euphrates Journal of Health Services. 2010;5(15):17-30. (In Turkish)
- 39. Dost A. Huyar AH. Tunçay HB. Examining the professional image perceptions of intern nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. Istanbul Gelisim University Journal of Health Sciences. 2021;(14):270-284. (In Turkish)

Article Information Form

Author(s) Notes: The author(s) would like to express their sincere thanks to the editor and the anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments and suggestions.

Author(s) Contributions: All authors contributed equally to the writing of this paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript (The article has a single author. The author has read and approved the final manuscript).

Conflict of Interest Disclosure: No potential conflict of interest was declared by the author.

Copyright Statement: Authors own the copyright of their work published in the journal and their work is published under the CC BY-NC 4.0 license.

Supporting/Supporting Organizations: No grants were received from any public. private or non-profit organizations for this research.

Ethical Approval and Participant Consent: It is declared that during the preparation process of this study. scientific and ethical principles were followed and all the studies benefited from are stated in the bibliography.

Plagiarism Statement: This article has been scanned by iThenticate.



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN : 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University Vol. 7, No. 1, 23-35, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1330263

Research Article

Healthcare Workers' Anxiety Levels and Mindful Attention Awareness Towards the Covid-19 Pandemic

Füsun Fakılı^{1*}, Nurgül Özdemir²

*1 Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Gaziantep University, Sahinbey Research Hospital, Gaziantep, Türkiye fusunfakili@yahoo.com

² Department of Psychiatric Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, Gaziantep University, Gaziantep, Türkiye nuozdemir@hotmail.com

*Corresponding Author



Received: 20.07.2023 Accepted: 29.03.2024 Available Online: 22.04.2024

1. Introduction

Abstract

Aim: Mindful attention awareness and anxiety levels of healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic were unknown. In this study, we aimed to measure the behavioral changes of healthcare workers together with their anxiety and mindful attention awareness levels during the pandemic.

Methods: A brief mental health examination was conducted on healthcare workers who were actively involved in the COVID-19 pandemic to identify any dysfunctional anxiety issues associated with COVID-19. A survey containing behavioral changes, as well as a coronavirus anxiety scale and mindful attention awareness scale were administered to healthcare workers during the pandemic.

Results: A total of 146 healthcare workers, 56.2% of women were included in the study. The coronavirus anxiety scale score values of the participants were a mean of 4 ± 4.4 (Min=0-Max=20), and 13.7% of them had high levels of anxiety. The mean score for the mindful attention awareness scale score was a mean 59.4±13.9 (Min=22-Max=90). Females had higher coronavirus anxiety scale scores (p=0.003), but males had greater mindful attention awareness scale scores (p=0.001).

It was determined that the coronavirus anxiety scale total scores averages of healthcare workers whose sleep (p=0.001), out-of-hospital clothing (p=0.006), and eating habits (p=0.017) changed during the pandemic were statistically significantly higher (p<0.05). Healthcare workers with higher coronavirus anxiety scores used more prophylactic drugs and supplements/vitamins after contact with COVID-19 patients.

Conclusions: Although the coronavirus anxiety scale score was below average and the mindful attention awareness scale score was above average, healthcare workers' behaviors changed during the pandemic. Coronavirus anxiety and mindful attention awareness scale levels affected the behaviors of healthcare workers. Psychosocial support programs must be provided to healthcare workers during the pandemic.

Keywords: COVID-19, Anxiety, Healthcare workers, Mindfulness, Behavior, Pandemics

Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is a newly detected infectious disease in humans. The first official case of novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) was announced on 11th March 2020 in Türkiye, and on the same date, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared COVID-19 infection as a global epidemic (1). COVID-19 infection is mostly seen with mild symptoms or asymptomatic. However, while rapidly progressing causes severe pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in a small group of patients, it can also be mortal (2). Vaccines have changed the course of the pandemic. Studies showed that vaccination with a mRNA COVID-19 vaccine was significantly less likely among patients with COVID-19 hospitalization and disease progression to death or mechanical ventilation (3). However, COVID-19 is still seen all over the world and causes deaths (4).

Cite as: Fakılı F., Özdemir N. Healthcare Workers' Anxiety Levels and Mindful Attention Awareness Towards the Covid-19 Pandemic. Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi. 2024;7(1): 23-35. https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1330263

Although the vast majority of patients are followed up on an outpatient basis, symptomatic patients are followed up in the hospital. Healthcare workers (HCWs) are involved in all stages of diagnosis, followup, care, and treatment of COVID-19 patients. The COVID-19 outbreak poses an excellent risk for HCWs due to the frequency of contact with viruses. While no HCW in China was initially infected with COVID-19, 7% of COVID-19 patients between January 12 and 22, 2020, were HCWs (5). According to data from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), deaths due to COVID-19 infection have occurred among HCWs in the USA (6).

The highly contagious COVID-19 virus, seen for the first time in humans, has caused concern in society. The health system is one of the most difficult institutions to manage during global outbreaks that cause mortality, such as the pandemic. Healthcare teams, who have significant professional responsibility, are affected by pandemics that have socioeconomic and mental impacts on society. In the first study conducted on HCWs in the city of Wuhan, where the COVID-19 outbreak first occurred, it was found that 71.3% of the HCWs had subthreshold and mild, 22.4% moderate, and 6.2% severe mental disorders (7). The mindfulness dimension is defined as the ability to grasp these feelings and thoughts with a balanced awareness rather than their excessive integration of transmissible painful emotions and thoughts. The most common definition of conscious awareness has been defined as mindfulness and awareness of what is happening in the present. Mindfulness is a quality of consciousness that has received a lot of attention in terms of well-being. Mindful awareness includes awareness of emotional processes and brain functions (8). Studies have shown that mindfulness is effective on anxiety, depression, and mental problems (9–11). Mindful awareness and focusing on the present can reduce negative expectations and bad feelings about the future in situations that cause anxiety and stress, such as the COVID-19 pandemic (12).

Individuals' mental health may suffer as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. At the same time, protective variables like mindfulness, which is a moment-to-moment awareness of one's feelings without judgment, may have a favorable effect on a variety of psychological outcomes throughout the pandemic. The study supports the value of trait mindfulness for psychological consequences during the COVID-19 pandemic (13). Changes in nurse-patient ratios, care for high-risk patients, the risk of getting the disease, treatment for the virus, changes to work circumstances, giving patients intensive, prolonged care while wearing protective equipment, and the potential for the virus to spread to other patients or families can all contribute to the pandemic and cause unsettling emotions in nurses, including anxiety, stigma, burnout, and anger (14). Changes in mindful awareness and anxiety levels are expected in major epidemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

This study primarily aimed to investigate the mindful attention awareness (MAA) levels and anxiety levels of HCWs during the pandemic. Secondly, we intended to show HCWs' perspectives toward COVID-19, disease prevention strategies, and behavioral changes.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design and participants

This is a cross-sectional, observational, single-center study that was conducted in a tertiary university hospital. The STROBE standards for reporting observational studies were followed. This study was approved by the Gaziantep University Medical Ethics Committee (No: S-2020-264) and The Scientific Research Ethics Committee of the Turkish Ministry of Health.

HCWs who voluntarily agreed to participate in the study between August 15 and October 15, 2020, at Gaziantep University Sahinbey Research Hospital were included. Power analysis was used to compute the sample size, and the minimum number of patients in each group was determined as p=0.05, 1-=0.80 as 121 individuals in order for a difference of $1(\pm 1)$ unit to be statistically significant in terms of visual equivalence scale. HCWs who were not actively working at the time of the study (on sick leave, on annual leave, or not delivering care services) were not included in the study.

Research questions of the study:

1. What are the attitudes of healthcare workers towards the COVID-19 pandemic?

2. What is the COVID-19 mindful attention awareness level of healthcare workers?

3. What is the COVID-19 coronavirus anxiety level of healthcare workers?

Inclusion criteria of the study: HCWs who are over 18 years old, work in an active hospital environment, and have patient contact. HCWs consisted of doctors, nurses, and emergency paramedics.

Exclusion criteria of the study: HCWs who had COVID-19 disease, were in the quarantine period, were not actively working in the hospital, and did not agree to participate in the study were excluded from the study.

The HCWs participating in the study filled out the three questionnaires below.

2.2. Measurements

2.2.1. HCWs information form

A questionnaire measuring HCWs' socio-demographic characteristics and attitudes towards the COVID-19 pandemic: It consists of 25 questions measuring HCWs' socio-demographic characteristics and attitudes towards the COVID-19 outbreak.

2.2.2. Coronavirus Anxiety Scale (CAS)

A brief mental health screening of the CAS, developed by S. Lee, was used in the study to identify possible dysfunctional anxiety cases associated with the COVID-19 crisis (15). According to the results obtained by Lee, when the reliability coefficient was 0.93, in studies in Türkiye, Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient was calculated to be 0.83 (16). The scale consists of 5 questions and one dimension. Scoring the scale: 0=never, 1=rare, less than a day or two, 2=several days, 3=more than seven days, and 4=almost every day in the last two weeks. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 20. Scores of 9 and above indicate a high anxiety level (11).

2.2.3. Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS)

This scale, which was developed by Brown and Ryan in 2003 (8), was adapted into Turkish by Özyeşil et al. in 2011(17). The internal consistency coefficient of the original scale was found to be α =0.82(8). In our study, a form translated into Turkish was applied, and the validity and reliability of the scale were found to be appropriate (17). The MAAS is a 6-score Likert type (1=almost always, 2=most of the time, 3=sometimes, 4=rarely, 5=quite infrequently, 6=almost never). Higher scores on the scale show that conscious awareness is high. MAAS was applied to the sample group selected from Selcuk University students every three weeks, and the test-retest reliability of the scale was r=0.86. To calculate the scale's criterion-related validity, the Self-Understanding Scale, Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale, and Positive and Negative Affect Scale were used and significant relationships were found between them (17).

2.3. Data collection

The study data were collected by the researcher by interviewing the healthcare professionals at the hospital face-to-face, giving information about the purpose of the study, and obtaining their verbal and written consents. It took HCWs an average of 25-30 minutes to fill out this form.

2.4. Statistical analysis

The data's compliance to normal distribution was tested with the Shapiro-Wilk test, the Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the scores of the non-normally distributed scale in two groups, and the Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn multiple comparison tests were used for the comparison of more than two independent groups. Spearman rank correlation coefficient was used to test the relationships between numerical variables, and the chi-square test was used to test the relationships between categorical variables. The reliability of the items of the scales was tested with the Cronbach alpha internal consistency coefficient. As descriptive statistics, mean \pm standard deviation for numerical variables, number and % values for categorical variables are given. SPSS for Windows version 24.0 package program was used for statistical analysis, and p <0.05 was considered statistically significant

3. Results

A total of 146 HCWs (56.2% female) were enrolled in the study. Participants; 83 (56.8%) were married, 77 (52.7%) were physicians, 65 (44.5%) were nurses, four (2.7%) emergency paramedics. It was determined that 90 (61.6%) of the HCWs were undergraduate or associate degree graduates, and the rest had postgraduate education. Considering the distribution of the workplaces of the participants in the hospital, 81 (55.5%) were in non-surgical units, 49 (33.6%) were in surgical units, seven (4.8%) were in outpatient units, five (3.4%) were in emergency services, four (2.7%) were working in intensive care units (ICU). In the study, 18 (12.3%) of the HCWs had a chronic disease, and 31 (21.2%) were active smokers (Table 1).

Baseline characteristics		Ν	%
	18-25	13	8.9
	25-29	64	43.8
Age	30-34	27	18.5
	35-39	26	17.8
	≥ 40	16	11.0
Condon	Woman Man	82	56.2
Gender		64	43.8
Marital status	Married	83	56.8
	Single	63	43.2
	Physician	77	52.7
Profession	Nurse	65	44.5
	Emergency paramedic	4	2.7
	Undergraduate or associate	90	61.6
Education	degree	90	
Education	Postgraduate	56	38.4
	Surgical units	49	33.6
	Non-surgical units	81	55.5
Position in hospital	Emergency clinic	5	3.4
	Intensive care	4	2.7
	Outpatient clinic	7	4.8
Chronic illness	Yes	18	12.3
Smoking	Yes	31	21.2
COVID-19 information	Yes	99	67.8
PPE use	Yes	141	96.6
COVID-19 case definition	Yes	125	85.6
Suspicious COVID-19 case theme	Yes	124	84.9
Drug use after COVID-19 contact	Yes	20	13.7

Table 1. Characteristics of the participants

Use of vitamins/supplements after COVID-19 contact	Yes	63	43.2
	Same	16	11.0
Hand washing habit	More often	128	87.7
	Less	2	1.4
	Never	3	2.1
Use of mask in hospital	Always	115	78.8
	Sometimes	10	6.8
	Often	18	12.3
The mask use in COUID 10 notions	Surgical mask	65	44.5
The mask use in COVID-19 patient	N95/FF2 mask	78	53.4
contact	Cloth mask	3	2.1
	Never	30	20.5
Use of PPE in COVID-19 patients'	Always	58	39.7
care	Sometimes	37	25.3
	Often	21	14.4
Uniform at the hospital	Yes	115	78.8
Sleeping habits	Yes	78	53.4
Staying away from family	Yes	96	65.8
Isolation	Yes	78	53.4
Out-of-hospital clothing habits	Yes	98	67.1
Eating habits	Yes	76	52.1
	Same	67	45.9
Social media habits	More often	61	41.8
	Less	18	12.3

Considering the answers of the HCWs to the questions about COVID-19; 99 of the participants (67.8%) received medical information about COVID-19 in their department and/or clinics, 141 (96.6%) knew which personal protective equipment (PPE) to use for COVID-19, 125 (85.6%) knew the COVID-19 case definitions, 124 (84.9%) had suspected COVID-19 case contact, 20 (13.7%) used prophylactic drug after COVID-19 case contact. It was seen that 63 (43.2%) of them used supplements of vitamins/nutrients after contact with a COVID-19 case.

Looking at the responses to the questions about PPE use and behavior change during the COVID-19 pandemic period, 115 (78.8%) of inpatient contacts with no COVID-19 case definition use masks all the time in the hospital, 78 (53.4%) use N95/FF2 masks in COVID-19 patient contact, and 58 (39.7%) also use PPE, which includes visors, overalls, and goggles. There was no significant relationship between the workplace in the hospital and PPE use (P = 0.760). During the pandemic period, it was observed that 128 of the HCWs (87.7%) washed their hands more frequently than usual, 115 (78.8%) wore the uniform in the hospital, and 98 (67.1%) had a change in their out-of-hospital clothing habits. During the pandemic period, 96 (65.8%) of the HCWs in the study were separated from their families for at least one week, and 78 (53.4%) were isolated for at least one week. HCWs (53.4%) changed their sleeping

habits, 76 (52.1%) changed their eating habits, and 61 (41.8%) utilized social media more frequently than usual (Table 1).

The mean \pm SD in the CAS score evaluation of the participants was 4.07 \pm 4.41 (Min=0-Max=20); 20 (13.7%) of them had high anxiety (score \geq 9). The mean SD in MAAS score evaluation was found to be 59.42 \pm 13.93 (Min=22-Max=90) (Table 2).

Scales	Ν	Mean ± SD	Min-Max	Median	Cronbach alfa
Corona Virus Anxiety Scale*	146	4.07 ± 4.41	0 -20	3	0.888
Mindful Attention Awareness Scale**	146	59.42 ± 13.93	22 -90	58.5	0.901
Corona Virus Anxiety Scale					
High anxiety (score≥9)	20	13.7%			
Score < 9	126	86.3%			

Table 2. Anxiety and Mindful Attention Awareness Scale Score

*Scoring the Corona Virus Anxiety Scale (CAS); 0=never, 1=rare, less than a day or two, 2=several days, 3=more than seven days, and 4=almost every day in the last two weeks. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 20. Scores of 9 and above indicate a high anxiety level.

**The Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS) is a 6-score Likert Type (1=almost always, 2=most of the time, 3=sometimes, 4=rarely, 5=quite infrequently, 6=almost never). Higher scores on the scale show that conscious awareness is high.

There was no statistical significance in CAS scores between age groups. CAS scores were significantly higher in females (p=0.003), and MAAS scores were significantly higher in males (p=0.001). CAS and MAAS scores were found to be significantly higher in those who were married (p=0.007, p=0.005). CAS scores were found to be significantly higher in patients with COVID-19 case contact (p=0.039) and those using post-exposure drugs (p=0.044). CAS showed a significant difference in the levels of PPE use responses in COVID-19 patient contact (p=0.006). HCWs who never used PPE had a low CAS score (1.73 \pm 2.15), while HCWs who always used PPE had a high score (4.59 \pm 4.5) (Table 3). According to the multiple comparison test, it was observed that the CAS scores of those who said "I never used PPE" were significantly lower than the other three PPE categories (p=0.047).

MAAS scores were significantly lower in those who used supplemental vitamins/nutrients after COVID-19 contact (p=0.026). In terms of MAAS scores, a significant difference was found between the types of masks used in contact with patients diagnosed with COVID-19 (p=0.024). According to Dunn's multiple comparison test results, the MAAS scores of those using N95/FF2 masks were found to be significantly higher than those using surgical masks (p=0.018).

CAS scores of those whose sleep habits (p=0.001), out-of-hospital clothing habits (p=0.006), and eating habits (p=0.017) were changed during the pandemic period were found to be significantly higher. CAS scores showed a significant difference between the answers given to social media habits (p=0.017) (Table 3). According to Dunn's multiple comparison test results, the scores of those who said: "more often than normal" were found to be significantly higher than those who said, "at the same frequency" (p=0.009). There was no statistically significant difference between sleeping, eating, out-of-hospital clothing, and social media habits changes with MAAS scores.

Domographic		CAS	MAAS
Characteristics	Ν	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD
Age			
18-25	13	2.92 ± 2.33	51.08 ± 13.73
25-29	64	4.06 ± 5.19	59.45 ± 14.63
30-34	27	4.52 ± 4.35	58.19 ± 13.92
35-39	26	4.19 ± 3.92	62 ± 13.17
≥ 40	16	4.06 ± 3.26	63.94 ± 10.26
	KW-H	1.733	6.837
	Р	0.785	0.145
Gender			
Woman	82	4.85 ± 4.46	55.59 ± 12.79
Man	64	3.06 ± 4.17	64.33 ± 13.89
	Z	-2.945	-3.441
	Р	0.003*	0.001*
Marital status			
Married	83	4.84 ± 4.63	62.34 ± 13.68
Single	63	3.05 ± 3.91	55.57 ± 13.42
0	Z	-2.692	-2.825
	Р	0.007*	0.005*
Suspicious COVID-19 case th	ieme		
Yes	124	4.36 ± 4.54	59.58 ± 13.56
	Z	-2.067	-0.036
	Р	0.039*	0.972
Drug use after COVID-19 cas	e contact		
Yes	20	5.95 ± 5.09	60.35 ± 15.56
	Z	-2.012	-0.194
	Р	0.044*	0.846
Use of vitamins/supplement	ts after COVID-19 c	ontact	
Yes	63	4.17 ± 3.86	57.02 ± 12.41
	Р		0.026*
Masks type in COVID-19 patients			
Surgical mask	65	3.82 ± 4.28	57.14 ± 14.94
N95/FF2 mask	78	4.32 ± 4.59	61.73 ± 12.73
Cloth mask	3	3 ± 3	48.67 ± 12.34
	KW-H	0.507	7.465
	Р	0.776	0.024*
Use of PPE in COVID-19 pati	ents		
Never	30	1.73 ± 2.15	57.8 ± 16.09
Always	58	4.59 ± 4.5	60.43 ± 13.07
Sometimes	37	5.35 ± 5.39	58.57 ± 13.68
Often	21	3.71 ± 3.52	60.43 ± 14.09
	KW-H	12.530	0.815
	Р	0.006*	0.846

Table 3. Relationship between COVID-19 Anxiety Scale (CAS) and Mindful Attention Awareness Scale(MAAS) and Demographic Characteristics
Sleeping habits			
Yes	78	5.49 ± 4.88	57.77 ± 14.14
	Z	-4.352	-1.594
	Р	0.001*	0.111
Out-of-hospital clothing habit	ts		
Yes	98	4.83 ± 4.84	60.13 ± 13.23
	Z	-2.770	-0.181
	Р	0.006*	0.856
Eating Habits			
Yes	76	4.79 ± 4.58	57.99 ± 13.24
	Z	-2.378	-1.338
	Р	0.017*	0.181
Social media habits			
Same	67	2.87 ± 3.36	60.96 ± 14.69
More often	61	4.8 ± 4.5	57.21 ± 13.38
Less	18	6.06 ± 6.24	61.17 ± 12.51
	KW-H	8.145	2.617
	Р	0.017*	0.270

*Significant <0.05 level; KW-H-H: Kruskal Wallis test, Z: Mann Whitney u test.

#Corona Virus Anxiety Scale (CAS); The Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS)

4. Discussion

Undoubtedly, HCWs are most likely to contact the SARS-CoV-2 virus and are most affected by the COVID-19 outbreak. In this study, 85% of HCWs have frequent contact with suspected COVID-19 patients. Male gender, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, hypercholesterolemia, type 2 diabetes, malignancy, hypertension, and interstitial lung diseases were found to be risk factors for COVID-19-related mortality (18–20). In this study, 12.3% of the HCWs had a chronic disease, and 21.2% of them were smokers, putting them in the COVID-19 disease risk category. HCWs' median MAAS score was higher than the average, whereas the median CAS score was lower in this study. In studies conducted with surveys from Türkiye, mindfulness was found to be negatively associated with depression and anxiety. Mindfulness has been proven to be negatively related to anxiety and despair during the COVID-19 pandemic (21). In this study, it was found that HCWs' mindfulness score levels while working in the pandemic were negatively associated with COVID-19 anxiety levels. A high level of Mindful Attention Awareness (MAAS) is required to alleviate distress, reduce worry, and accept what is happening (22). A high level of MAA also positively affects the quality of life by increasing the mechanism of coping with factors such as anxiety, depression, and stress in a positive way (23). Looking at pooled data from 44 studies conducted with HCWs in China, where the pandemic first emerged, pooled prevalence rates of moderate to severe post-traumatic stress symptoms, anxiety, depression, and sleep disorders were 27% (95% CI 16%-38%), 17% (13-21%), 15% (13-16%), and 15% (7-23%) (24). Raising the MAA of HCWs is important in terms of coping with the COVID-19 process, reducing stress levels, and increasing mental health in this process. Psychological factors are an important factor in the success of public health strategies used to manage outbreaks (25). In this study, the finding that the level of anxiety of HCWs with high mindfulness is low supports the literature.

It was revealed that 67.8% of the HCW participants received medical information about COVID-19 in the hospital, but a high rate of 96.6% knew how to use PPEs, and 85.6% knew the COVID-19 case definitions. This situation may result from intensive information with the increased use of social media during the pandemic period and increased anxiety. It has been shown that people quarantined at home,

those with high levels of anxiety, used social media more and comply with quarantine and hygiene measures more (26). Similarly, in studies conducted with nurses in the same period as our study, nurses used social media to collect and share information about COVID-19, as well as support each other by highlighting the need for education, changes in care delivery, and redeployment (27).

Although there is no prophylactic drug, nutrient, or vitamin recommended for COVID-19 yet, we have seen that 13.7% of HCWs used prophylactic drugs after COVID-19 patient contact, and 43.2% of them used supplements/vitamins. According to the results of our study, HCWs who took vitamins or supplements after interacting with a COVID-19 patient had significantly lower MAAS scores than those who did not. High MAAS seems to prevent the use of vitamins/supplements with unproven prophylactic or therapeutic effects. It is likely that the high awareness of HCWs about COVID-19 prevents the use of incorrect drug use and supplements that have no therapeutic effect in the management of the pandemic. Randomized studies on the use of supplements/vitamins after COVID-19 contact are still insufficient. A randomized controlled study with high-dose zinc and ascorbic acid found that SARS-CoV-2 infection did not significantly reduce the duration of symptoms (28). Comparative studies show that high-dose Calcifediol or 25-hydroxyvitamin D administration decreases the need for intensive care and decreases the disease's severity (29,30). It has been shown that the use of hydroxychloroquine drug after COVID-19 exposure does not prevent the disease, and the side effects seen in drug users were more than the placebo group (31). We found that HCWs using drugs after exposure to COVID-19 cases had significantly higher CAS scores. We think that this is an uncontrolled individual trial for a viral disease whose treatment is unknown. The fact that the MAAS scores were significantly low in those who used supplements/vitamins after COVID-19 contact supports this situation.

Regardless of the units in our hospital, the use of masks is at similar rates. It was observed that HCWs used more N95/FF2 masks for COVID-19 patient contact, and they "always used PPE" at a lower rate. The fact that the MAAS score of those using N95/FF2 masks was significantly higher than those using surgical masks changed the mask preferred for COVID-19 patient contact. The mask use was found to increase with higher MASS and CAS scores. Participants with low CAS scores also have low PPE use. During the pandemic, the rates of mask use in the hospital were quite high. It was shown that the use of HCWs masks prevented the transmission of COVID-19 by 70% in meta-analyses (32).

Hand washing has become more common, which is one of the methods being taken to limit virus transmission during the pandemic. This may have contributed to the reduction of hospital infections. It has been shown that the hand washing habits of HCWs were also affected by the pandemic. In general, the frequency of HCW hand washing had increased at the onset of the pandemic (33). There was no significant difference in HCWs hand washing habits variability and CAS and MAAS scores. HCWs preferred to wear the uniform while working in the hospital, but 67.1% also changed their clothing habits outside the hospital during the pandemic period.

We have seen that some HCWs do not see their families and remain isolated due to virus exposure. Although the CAS scores of those who were away from their families during the pandemic period and those who were isolated were higher, no significant difference was found. However, the fact that the CAS scores of those who change their sleeping, eating, out-of-hospital clothing habits and who use social media more frequently show that life outside of work is affected by the pandemic and causes behavioral changes in a short time. Although the HCWs' MAAS scores were above average, the pandemic had changed HCWs' behaviors. It is believed that HCWs' understanding of COVID-19 in their knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors can differentiate the epidemic's control phase, expectations, and view scores. The high anxiety rate of 13.7% among the HCWs indicates that women and married people primarily need psychological support due to the significantly high CAS scores. We see that patients with COVID-19 case contact have higher CAS scores and increase the use of drugs and supplements, whose effectiveness after contact has not been proven. Uncertainty about SARS-CoV-2 can bring along unnecessary drug use and side effects.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Working conditions in health institutions became more complex and riskier in terms of infections with the pandemic. In our study, high anxiety was detected in 13.7% of HCWs. Although the average anxiety level of HCWs was normal, some of them had severe anxiety. Anxiety levels were shown to be significantly higher in women, married, those who had contact with a COVID-19 case, and HCWs who took medication following case contact in the present research. Increases in the anxiety levels of healthcare professionals were found to be associated with behavioral changes in their in-hospital and out-of-hospital lives during the pandemic period.

Pandemic medical publications, videos, and photos made by official health institutions and medical specialist associations on social media can be more effective and safer for nutritional information about the disease during pandemic periods. The groups with higher anxiety scores are prioritized, and the psychosocial support programs, telemedicine methods, and interviews with HCWs in the hospital seem to be a mandatory need during the pandemic period.

Strategic plans should be prepared for HCWs in healthcare institutions to prepare for future pandemics. Pandemic plans should determine duty locations, sick leave regulations, change of duty rules, protective equipment rules, and infection control measures. The mental health of healthcare workers is as important as physical health. For this reason, psychiatrists and psychologists should also take part in the pandemic. Strategies to reduce stress during the pandemic should be planned.

Limitations

Our study has limitations due to its single-centered design and the low participation of HCWs in emergency and intensive care units. Due to the heavy workload of HCWs in emergency and intensive care units, survey participation was low. The findings obtained in the study can be generalized to HCWs working in a tertiary university hospital during the first period of pandemics, when the treatment was unclear, no effective vaccine was available, and the epidemic spread around the world.

Acknowledgements

We thank Prof. Seval Kul for the statistical assistance of the study.

References

- 1. World Health Organisation. WHO's COVID-19 response [Internet]. [cited 2022 Jul 5]. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/interactive-timeline (Erişim Tarihi:5 Temmuz 2022)
- 2. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020 Feb 15;395(10223):497–506.
- 3. Tenforde MW, Self WH, Adams K, Gaglani M, Ginde AA, McNeal T, et al. Association Between mRNA Vaccination and COVID-19 Hospitalization and Disease Severity. JAMA. 2021 Nov 23;326(20):2043–54.
- 4. World Health Organisation. [cited 2024 Jan 6]. COVID-19 cases | WHO COVID-19 dashboard. Available from: https://data.who.int/dashboards/covid19/cases (Erişim Tarihi:6 Ocak 2024)
- 5. Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, et al. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia. N Engl J Med. 2020 Mar 26;382(13):1199– 207.
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Preventitaion (CDC). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020 [cited 2022 Jul 5]. COVID Data Tracker. Available from: https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker (Erişim Tarihi:5 Temmuz 2022)
- Kang L, Ma S, Chen M, Yang J, Wang Y, Li R, et al. Impact on mental health and perceptions of psychological care among medical and nursing staff in Wuhan during the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak: A cross-sectional study. Brain Behav Immun. 2020 Jul;87:11– 7.
- 8. Brown KW, Ryan RM. The benefits of being present: mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. J Pers Soc Psychol. 2003 Apr;84(4):822–48.
- 9. Demir V. Bilinçli Farkındalık Temelli Kognitif Terapi Programının Bireylerin Depresif Belirti Düzeyleri Üzerine Etkisi. Psikoloji Çalışmaları. 2015 Jul 13;35(1):15–26.
- 10. Winnebeck E, Fissler M, Gärtner M, Chadwick P, Barnhofer T. Brief training in mindfulness meditation reduces symptoms in patients with a chronic or recurrent lifetime history of depression: A randomized controlled study. Behav Res Ther. 2017 Dec;99:124–30.
- 11. Hofmann SG, Gómez AF. Mindfulness-Based Interventions for Anxiety and Depression. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 2017 Dec;40(4):739–49.
- 12. Ritvo P, Vora K, Irvine J, Mongrain M, Azargive S, Azam MA, et al. Reductions in Negative Automatic Thoughts in Students Attending Mindfulness Tutorials Predicts Increased Life Satisfaction. International Journal of Educational Psychology. 2013 Oct 24;2(3):272–96.
- 13. Schmiedeler S, Reichhardt A, Schneider L, Niklas F. Trait mindfulness, self-efficacy, and coping strategies during COVID-19. Anxiety Stress Coping. 2023 Nov;36(6):674–89.
- 14. Yıldırım D, Çiriş Yıldız C. The Effect of Mindfulness-Based Breathing and Music Therapy Practice on Nurses' Stress, Work-Related Strain, and Psychological Well-being During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Holist Nurs Pract. 2022 Jun 1;36(3):156–65.
- 15. Lee SA. Coronavirus Anxiety Scale: A brief mental health screener for COVID-19 related anxiety. Death Stud. 2020;44(7):393–401.
- 16. Biçer İ, Çakmak C, Demir H. Coronavirus Anxiety Scale Short Form: Turkish Validity and Reliability Study. Anadolu Kliniği Tıp Bilimleri Dergisi. 2020 May 22;216–25.
- 17. Özyeşil Z, Arslan C, Kesici Ş, Deniz ME, Üniversitesi S. Bilinçli Farkındalık Ölçeği'ni Türkçeye Uyarlama Çalışması Adaptation of the Mindful Attention Awareness Scale into Turkish. :12. Eğitim ve Bilim, 2011; 36 (160), 225-235.

- Grasselli G, Greco M, Zanella A, Albano G, Antonelli M, Bellani G, et al. Risk Factors Associated With Mortality Among Patients With COVID-19 in Intensive Care Units in Lombardy, Italy. JAMA Intern Med. 2020 Oct 1;180(10):1345–55.
- 19. Jordan RE, Adab P, Cheng KK. Covid-19: risk factors for severe disease and death. BMJ. 2020 Mar 26;368:m1198.
- 20. Kokturk N, Babayigit C, Kul S, Duru Cetinkaya P, Atis Nayci S, Argun Baris S, et al. The predictors of COVID-19 mortality in a nationwide cohort of Turkish patients. Respir Med. 2021 Jul;183:106433.
- 21. Belen H. Fear of COVID-19 and Mental Health: The Role of Mindfulness in During Times of Crisis. Int J Ment Health Addict. 2022;20(1):607–18.
- 22. Aktepe İ, Tolan Ö. Bilinçli Farkındalık: Güncel Bir Gözden Geçirme. Psikiyatride Güncel Yaklaşımlar. 2020 Dec 28;12(4):534–61.
- 23. Arslan İ. BİLİNÇLİ FARKINDALIK, DEPRESYON DÜZEYLERİ VE ALGILANAN STRES ARASINDAKİ İLİŞKİ. Birey ve Toplum Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi. 2018 Dec 30;8(2):73–86.
- 24. Xiong N, Fritzsche K, Pan Y, Löhlein J, Leonhart R. The psychological impact of COVID-19 on Chinese healthcare workers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2022 Aug;57(8):1515–29.
- 25. Asmundson GJG, Taylor S. How health anxiety influences responses to viral outbreaks like COVID-19: What all decision-makers, health authorities, and health care professionals need to know. J Anxiety Disord. 2020 Apr;71:102211.
- 26. Rodriguez-Besteiro S, Beltran-Velasco AI, Tornero-Aguilera JF, Martínez-González MB, Navarro-Jiménez E, Yáñez-Sepúlveda R, et al. Social Media, Anxiety and COVID-19 Lockdown Measurement Compliance. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023 Mar 1;20(5):4416.
- 27. Glasdam S, Sandberg H, Stjernswärd S, Jacobsen FF, Grønning AH, Hybholt L. Nurses' use of social media during the COVID-19 pandemic-A scoping review. PLoS One. 2022;17(2):e0263502.
- 28. Thomas S, Patel D, Bittel B, Wolski K, Wang Q, Kumar A, et al. Effect of High-Dose Zinc and Ascorbic Acid Supplementation vs Usual Care on Symptom Length and Reduction Among Ambulatory Patients With SARS-CoV-2 Infection: The COVID A to Z Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Netw Open. 2021 Feb 1;4(2):e210369.
- 29. Entrenas Castillo M, Entrenas Costa LM, Vaquero Barrios JM, Alcalá Díaz JF, López Miranda J, Bouillon R, et al. Effect of calcifediol treatment and best available therapy versus best available therapy on intensive care unit admission and mortality among patients hospitalized for COVID-19: A pilot randomized clinical study. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2020 Oct;203:105751.
- 30. Ling SF, Broad E, Murphy R, Pappachan JM, Pardesi-Newton S, Kong MF, et al. High-Dose Cholecalciferol Booster Therapy is Associated with a Reduced Risk of Mortality in Patients with COVID-19: A Cross-Sectional Multi-Centre Observational Study. Nutrients. 2020 Dec 11;12(12):E3799.
- 31. Boulware DR, Pullen MF, Bangdiwala AS, Pastick KA, Lofgren SM, Okafor EC, et al. A Randomized Trial of Hydroxychloroquine as Postexposure Prophylaxis for Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2020 Aug 6;383(6):517–25.
- 32. Li Y, Liang M, Gao L, Ayaz Ahmed M, Uy JP, Cheng C, et al. Face masks to prevent transmission of COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Infect Control. 2021 Jul;49(7):900–6.
- 33. Huang F, Armando M, Dufau S, Florea O, Brouqui P, Boudjema S. COVID-19 outbreak and healthcare worker behavioural change toward hand hygiene practices. J Hosp Infect. 2021 May;111:27–34

Article Information Form

Author(s) Notes: The author(s) would like to express their sincere thanks to the editor and the anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments and suggestions.

Author(s) Contributions: All authors contributed equally to the writing of this paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript (The article has a single author. The author has read and approved the final manuscript).

Conflict of Interest Disclosure: No potential conflict of interest was declared by the author.

Copyright Statement: Authors own the copyright of their work published in the journal and their work is published under the CC BY-NC 4.0 license.

Supporting/Supporting Organizations: No grants were received from any public, private or non-profit organizations for this research.

Ethical Approval and Participant Consent: It is declared that during the preparation process of this study, scientific and ethical principles were followed and all the studies benefited from are stated in the bibliography.

Plagiarism Statement: This article has been scanned by iThenticate



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN : 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University

Vol. 7, No. 1, 36-49, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.54803/sauhsd.1190604

Research Article

The Turkish Adaptation Study of the Digital Addiction Scale For Children: A Validity and Reliability Study

Hamide Zengin¹, Elif Erbay Özdede², Nursan Çınar³

¹ Eskisehir Osmangazi University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Eskisehir, Türkiye hamide.zengin@ogu.edu.tr

²² Bilecik Seyh Edebali University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Bilecik, Türkiye elif.erbay@bilecik.edu.tr

³ Sakarya University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Pediatric Nursing, Sakarya, Türkiye ndede@sakarya.edu.tr

*Corresponding Author

Received: 17.10.2022 Accepted: 02.01.2024 Available Online: 22.04.2024

1. Introduction

Abstract

Objective: The study was conducted to perform the Turkish validity and reliability study of the Digital Addiction Scale for Children (DASC).

Methods: The study was completed with 259 students (primary school 4th grade, secondary school 5th, 6th, and 7th grades). The research data were analyzed by transferring them to Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS) 25 and Amos 22.0 package program. In the validity and reliability analyses of the scale, exploratory factor analysis (EFA), confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), reliability analysis (Cronbach's alpha), and test-retest were performed to determine the internal consistency of the factors.

Results: The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin value was found to be 0.941 as a result of EFA, and the following fit indices were obtained as a result of CFA; χ^2 /sd: 2.258, (RMSEA): 0.07, Comparative Fit Index (CFI): 0.907, Standardized Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR): 0.049. Cronbach's alpha value of the overall 25-item scale was found to be 0.946. As a result of the test-retest, the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) was identified as 0.938 for the overall scale.

Conclusion: It was found that the DASC was a valid and reliable measurement tool that could assess the level of digital addiction in Turkish children aged 9-12.

Keywords: Digital addiction, Middle childhood, Scale, Validity, Reliability

The use of the internet, computers, smartphones, and other electronic devices have increased significantly in recent years (1). As a common feature, the excessive intake of any substance directly activates the reward system in the brain and thus contributes to the reinforcement of behaviors and the formation of memories. This interaction may even lead to the emergence of problems in fulfilling usual responsibilities and duties. Addiction occurs in this way, according to the American Psychiatric Association (APA) (2). In the early 2000s, the individual use of digital tools increased rapidly, and the contents of digital tools also began to form a quality structure. Toys such as Arcade and Tetris began to become much more common than other toys, and this situation increased with the spread of computers and playstations, and their first addicts appeared (3). According to the results of a project carried out with the participation of 25101 children aged between 9 and 16 years from 19 European countries, the frequency of children using smartphones and the amount of internet use increased significantly compared to the results in 2010. Furthermore, less than half of children access the internet via a desktop or laptop computer. On the other hand, 3-15% and 1-18% of children access it through a wearable device and a connected toy, respectively (4). Nowadays, the excessive use of smartphones is considered a "problematic use," although it is not considered an addiction (5). In addition to smartphones, the use of digital devices, such as tablet computers, wearable technology, and game consoles, which the technology world adds to our lives daily, are becoming more common every day (4).

Cite as: Zengin H., Erbay Özdede E., Çınar N. The Turkish Adaptation Study of the Digital Addiction Scale For Children: A Validity and Reliability Study. Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi. 2024;7(1): 36-49. https://doi.org/ 10.54803/sauhsd.1190604

The use of digital technologies leads to various psychosocial problems in children and adolescents. It was concluded that with the increased internet use, the interaction with the family decreased, the social circle narrowed, and symptoms such as depression and loneliness increased (6). It is stated that individuals with high social anxiety or who need social support turn to the internet to compensate for problems such as loneliness and depression (7,8). It is observed that the use of digital technologies causes negative emotions in children and adolescents.

In today's digital age, there are various metrics used in Turkish literature to measure addiction caused by digital devices such as social media, the internet, and smartphones. It has been found that the nineitem Internet Gaming Disorder Scale Short Form (IGDS9-SF) is a valid and reliable scale that can evaluate internet gaming disorder in Turkish children and young adults aged 13-24 (9). The Smartphone Addiction Scale was developed by Kwon et al. (2013) for adolescents aged ten using Young's Internet Addiction Scale (10) and was adapted into Turkish by Demirci, Orhan, Demirdaş, Akpınar, and Sert (2014) (11). The Digital Addiction Scale for Children is one of the scales developed in this regard.

The DASC was developed by Hawi, Samaha, and Griffiths (2019) in English to evaluate children's overall addiction to digital devices (12). There are studies investigating digital addiction in high school and university students in Türkiye (13-16). However, a scale that is generally used to measure digital addiction in children aged between 9-12 years has not been found. Although it is seen that the problematic use of digital technologies is common among children in our country, there is no scale that evaluates the level of digital addiction. Therefore, it is important to bring the DASC into Turkish in order to define digital addiction in children aged between 9-12 years in Türkiye. Furthermore, it is thought that it will contribute to experts working in Türkiye in terms of providing a scale that they can use both in diagnosis and national and international studies.

The questions of the study conducted with this aim are as follows:

- a) Is the DASC a valid scale in a Turkish-speaking community?
- b) Is the DASC a reliable scale in a Turkish-speaking community?

2. Materials and Method

2.1. Type and aim of the study

This methodological, descriptive, and correlational study aimed to ensure the Turkish validity and reliability of the DASC. ,

2.2. Time and place of the study

The study was carried out with primary school 4th-grade and secondary school 5th, 6th, and 7th-grade students in two public schools (a primary school and a secondary school) affiliated with the Ministry of National Education between November and December 2020.

2.3. Participants

A total of 1201 students studied in the primary school where the study was conducted. There were a total of 1109 students in the secondary school. Primary school 4th-grade and secondary school 5th, 6th, and 7th-grade students (N:1180) constituted the study population. The number of samples in scale development and adaptation studies in the literature is determined in the following way:

5's rule: There should be at least five cases for each item (variable) (17, 18)

The rule of 10s: There should be at least 10 cases for each item (variable) (17-21)

The rule of 100s: The number of individuals should be five times the number of variables, or 100 individuals should be examined. If communality is low and/or a small number of variables are attributed to each factor, a larger number of individuals is required (19).

The rule of 150: There should be at least 150-300 cases (19, 22)

The rule of 200: There are opinions that there should be at least 200 cases without considering B/D (19)

Additionally, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) value is obtained as a result of exploratory factor analysis in scale development or adaptation studies to determine whether the sample size is suitable for factorization (20). The fact that the KMO value is greater than 0.60 means that the sample is sufficient. Since the KMO value was obtained as 0.941 in this study, it shows that the study sample was quite sufficient (23).

In this context, the study data were collected from 259 students who volunteered to participate in the study by determining the sample size in line with the principle of taking 5-10 times the number of scale items in line with the literature. The scale's test-retest (n: 59) was performed with 10-25% of the sample (23).

2.4. Data Collection Tools

2.4.1. Questionnaire

The questionnaire was used to examine the age, gender, and grade levels.

2.4.2. Digital Addiction Scale for Children (DASC)

The scale developed by Hawi et al. (2019) is a 5-point Likert scale (1= Never, 2=Sometimes, 3= Rarely, 4= Often, 5= Always) and consists of 25 items. The scale has nine criteria (Preoccupation, Tolerance, Withdrawal, Problems, Conflict, Deception, Displacement, Relapse, Mood modification) and two subscales. A score between 25-125 is obtained from the scale. An increase in the score is interpreted as an increase in the digital addiction level. Cronbach's alpha values for the criteria of the original study were found to be between 0.56 and 0.68, and Cronbach's alpha value for the overall scale was found to be 0.936 (12).

2.5. Ethical dimension of the study

After obtaining permission from the scale owner via e-mail to conduct the Turkish validity and reliability study of the scale, Ethics Committee (No: 07/07/2020-E.15739) approval, approval of the Provincial Directorate of National Education, and written permission from school administrators, parents, and students were obtained.

2.6. Data collection

The online questionnaire link created by the researchers via Google Forms was delivered to WhatsApp groups of parents created by primary school teachers and school administrators by a simple random method by skipping one branch for children to fill it out. The questionnaires filled out by students who volunteered to participate in the study on their mobile phones/tablets or computers were gathered in e-tables via Google Drive. It took the participants approximately 10-15 minutes to fill out the questionnaire and the scale. For the test-retest, the scale was resent online from the WhatsApp groups of the school administration to the children of all parents who had previously participated in the study.

2.7. Data analysis

The data of 259 participants were evaluated by transferring them to the IBM Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS) 25 packaged software. Descriptive statistics (n, %) were presented for categorical variables. The Content Validity Index and the Content Validity Ratio were calculated by evaluating the scores given by the experts. In the validity and reliability analyses of the scale, exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was first carried out, then confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was conducted, and finally, the reliability analysis (Cronbach's alpha) and test-retest were performed to determine the internal consistency of the factors. Pearson's correlation analysis was used for item-total score analysis. The CFA results of the study were obtained with SPSS Amos 22.0 software. The test-retest was conducted with the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC).

Hamide Zengin, Elif Erbay Özdede, Nursan Çınar

2.8. Content validity of the scale

The scale, translated from English into Turkish, was sent to nine experts in the fields of Pediatric Nursing, Psychiatric Nursing, Women's Health and Diseases Nursing, Psychological Counseling and Guidance, and Family Medicine for content validity. The experts were asked to evaluate the suitability and intelligibility of each item. They were asked to rate each statement between 1-4 points (1 point: inappropriate, 2 points: somewhat appropriate, 3 points: appropriate, 4 points: completely appropriate) and clearly write their opinions and recommendations for each item. In line with the experts' opinions, the items were reviewed, and necessary changes were made.

The Content Validity Ratio (CVR) was calculated using the formula (Ne= Total number of experts divided by the number of experts saying that the item is essential, N = the total number of experts on the panel). Since the number of experts was 9, the CVR was determined as 1.0 (23, 24).

For all 25 items, nine experts gave the answers "The item is appropriate" and "The item should be slightly revised." Since the number of experts was nine, it can be said that the content validity of the items with a CVR equal to 1 was achieved at a significance level of 5% (11). Our study found the average of the content validity index (CVI) and CVR as 1.0. Since the result CVI≥CVR was reached, the content validity of the scale was statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Descriptive characteristics of the participants

The participants comprised 145 (56%) females and 114 (44%) males. The participants' mean age (n: 259) was 10.926 \pm 1.09 (Min: 9, Max: 13). While 32 (12.4%) of the students were 4th graders, 96 (37.1%) were 5th graders, and 60 (23.2%) and 71 (27.4%) were 6th graders and 7th graders, respectively.

3.2. Construct validity

EFA and CFA were performed to determine the construct validity of the scale.

3.2.1. Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)

EFA was first performed, and the "Principal Components Method" was preferred as a factor extraction method. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test was used to determine the sample adequacy to examine the factor structure, while Bartlett's test was used to determine whether factor analysis could be applied to the scale. As seen in Table 1, the KMO value was found to be 0.941 as a result of the EFA applied to the structure consisting of 25 items. Thus, it was revealed that the sample size was adequate to apply factor analysis to the data. According to the results of Bartlett's test of sphericity, significantly high correlations were found between the variables (23). It was concluded that the scale was suitable for applying the factor analysis (p<0.01). The exploratory factor analysis was performed to reveal the scale's factor pattern. All items were conceptually loaded into two subscales. Factor-1 subscale explains 45.234% of the total variance, and Factor-2 subscale explains 5.819%. These two subscales together explain 51.052% of the total variance (Table 1).

Items	Factor Loadings "F1"	Factor Loadings "F2"
item8	0.726	
item3	0.706	
item7	0.696	
item1	0.672	
item15	0.664	
item13	0.652	
item9	0.649	
item17	0.640	

Table 1. Results of the Exploratory Factor Analysis Regarding the DASC

Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi, 7(1) 2024, 36-49

item6	0.610	
item24	0.592	
item2	0.565	
item11	0.537	
item19	0.496	
item16		0.817
item4		0.704
item25		0.621
item22		0.614
item12		0.570
item18		0.569
item23		0.476
item10		0.462
item20		0.440
	Variance Explained (%)	Self-Value (Λ)
F1	45.234	11.308
F2	5.819	1.455
Total Scale	51.052	

In the process of developing a scale, CFA should be run using a different data set from the EFA data set (21, 25). However, since EFA and CFA were performed on the same sample in the original study (12), a single sample was studied in this study in accordance with the scale's original study of the scale.

3.2.2. CFA results

The measurement model was established to confirm the structure consisting of 25 items and two factors were analyzed. As a result of the analysis, model improvement studies were performed since it was found that the model did not fit adequately. First, chi-square reduction values ("M.I." values) were examined for possible changes (e3-e13, e6-e14, e4-e8, e5-e14, e7-e11, e19-e25, and e24-e25) to be made in the model by examining the table of modification indices. The model was run by linking the modification with the highest "M.I." value when it was conceptually appropriate. As modifications were made, the model was retested and accepted if appropriate fit indices were obtained. Otherwise, the operations were repeated by making modifications according to other recommended situations in the modification output. The model was accepted or rejected according to the fit index values obtained with the last modification (26). The CFA analysis found that the whole model was validated with 25 items and two subscales. The validated measurement model is shown below (Figure 1).



Figure 1. CFA Measurement Model of the DASC

According to the measurement model in Figure 1, the items of the measurement model validated with 25 items and the standardized regression coefficients of the paths on the one-way arrows, in other words, factor loadings are seen. In the model, it was determined which items were included in the subscales, and it was revealed that the scale items had factor loadings between 0.37– 0.87 (Figure 1).

The second-level multi-factor model is defined as the model in which the observable variables are gathered under more than one independent factor, and then these factors are combined under a more inclusive factor (27). In the scale adaptation study, the establishment of the second-level multi-factor model is not mandatory for the additiveness of the scale. Since the additive analyses of the scale can be performed with ANOVA Tukey's test within the scope of reliability analyses, CFA was performed on a first-level multi-factor model. Table 2 contains the CFA fit index results of the scale.

Fit Index	Fit Index Values	Perfect Fit Values	Acceptable Values	Compliance
χ^2/sd	2.258	≤3	≤5	
CFI	0.907	≥ 0.97	≥ 0.85	
RMSEA	0.070	≤ 0.08	≤ 0.10	
SRMR	0.049	≤ 0.05	≤ 0.10	

Table 2. Fit Index Values and Good Fit Values of the Measurement Model

CFI: Comparative Fit Index, RMSEA: Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, SRMR: Standardized Root Mean Square Residual

3.2.3. Scale reliability studies

Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient in terms of internal consistency

The alpha coefficient is a measure of the homogeneity of the scale items. It can be explained that with the increase in the alpha coefficient of the scale, "the scale items consist of items that are consistent with each other and that examine the elements of the same feature, or all items work together." In conclusion, if the alpha coefficient is high, respondents' answers to the scale items are consistent to that extent and consist of items that do not leave the conceptual structure of the scale (23).

The reliability analysis found that Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.935 for factor 1 subscale consisting of 16 items, 0.830 for factor 2 consisting of 9 items, and 0.946 for the overall scale, and reliability levels were high (α >0.700) (Table 3).

Criteria	Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
Deception	0.733	2 (items 4, 16)
Conflict	0.694	2 (items 9, 22)
Displacement	0.611	3 (items 6, 18, 20)
Problems	0.713	4 (items 10, 13, 23, 25)
Preoccupation	0.656	3 (items 1, 11, 14)
Relapse	0.686	2 (items 17, 19)
Mood modification	0.763	3 (items 5, 15, 24)
Withdrawal	0.852	4 (items 3, 8, 12, 21)
Tolerance	0.656	2 (items 2, 7)
Factor 1	0.935	16
Factor 2	0.830	9
Total Scale	0.946	25

Table 3. Results of the Reliability Analysis Regarding the DASC

Test-retest reliability

The scale was applied again to 59 of 259 individuals who participated in the study two weeks later to measure the scale's stability. A high fit was revealed between the retest and the first test for the overall scale (ICC=0.938, p=0.000) (Table 4).

Table 4. Test-Retest Results of the DASC

	ICC *	ICC Values at the 95% Confidence Interval	Р
Factor 1	0.930	(0.917-0.942)	
Factor 2	0.819	(0.783-0.851)	0.000*
Total Scale	0.938	(0.925-0.949)	
*0.001			

*p<0.001

Item-total score analysis of the scale and its sub-dimensions

The item-total score analysis explains the relationship between the scores obtained from each item and the scale's total score (28-30). This value should be >0.20, positive, and as close to 1 as possible (31). In this study, the correlation of the items with the scale's total score was 0.34-0.83, and the correlation of the items with the total score of the subscales was 0.53-0.83. The correlation coefficients of the item-total score and the item-subscale total score were positive and >0.20 (Table 5).

Items	X	SD	Item-total score correlation (r)*	Item- subscale total score correlation (r)*
Item 1	2.76	1.11	0.622**	0.622**
Item 2	2.25	1.19	0.617**	0.617**
Item 3	2.03	1.22	0.638**	0.638**
Item 4	1.31	0.81	0.484**	0.644**
Item 5	2.22	1.47	0.636**	0.636**
Item 6	1.76	1.09	0.760**	0.760**
Item 7	2.13	1.22	0.774**	0.774**
Item 8	2.06	1.31	0.793**	0.793**
Item 9	1.91	1.28	0.771**	0.771**
Item 10	1.52	0.99	0.451**	0.588**
Item 11	2.00	1.27	0.666**	0.666**
Item 12	1.66	1.08	0.735**	0.765**
Item 13	2.01	1.30	0.835**	0.835**
Item 14	1.59	0.96	0.752**	0.752**
Item 15	1.99	1.18	0.730**	0.730**
Item 16	1.22	0.66	0.378**	0.654**
Item 17	1.95	1.27	0.790**	0.790**
Item 18	1.62	1.07	0.627**	0.715**
Item 19	2.20	1.26	0.635**	0.635**
Item 20	1.93	1.28	0.349**	0.551**
Item 21	1.81	1.26	0.785**	0.785**
Item 22	1.59	1.04	0.670**	0.746**
Item 23	1.29	0.74	0.419**	0.536**
Item 24	2.23	1.34	0.638**	0.638**
Item 25	1.51	0.96	0.589**	0.738**

Table 5. Correlations of the Item–Total Score and Subscale Total Score (n = 259)

Hotelling's T-squared analysis is an analysis that provides information about whether the phenomenon to be measured can be measured effectively with the existing measurement tool. (32). According to Table 6, Tukey's additivity test was applied to obtain a total scale score by summing the scale items. Considering the results, it can be said that the questions constituting the scale are homogeneous and related to each other (p<0.05). When the additivity line was examined, it was determined that the options included in the test did not show the Likert-type additive scale quality since the p-value was not >0.05 (32).

			Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	р
Between Peo	ple		3751.001	258	14.539		
Within	Between Item	IS	798.189	24	33.258	42.352	0.000
reopie		Nonadditivity	74.923ª	1	74.923	96.887	0.000
Residual	Balance	4787.528	6191	0.773			
		Total	4862.451	6192	0.785		
	Total		5660.640	6216	0.911		
Total		9411.641	6474	1.454			
Grand Mean	= 1.8659						
a. Türkiye's e	estimate of powe	er to which observa	ations must be raised	l to achieve	additivity = .249.		

Table 6. Information about the DASC ANOVA Tukey's nonadditivity analysis

In the original article of the scale, it was stated that people who approved criteria four and below were defined as 'nonaddicts,' and people who approved criteria five and above were defined as 'addicts', and it would be appropriate to evaluate the scale in this way (12).

The Hotelling T-value was at a significant level (p<0.05). In this context, it was shown that the scale could measure the desired quality at a significant level (32) (Table 7).

Table 7. Results on the DASC Hotelling's T-Squared Analysis

Hotelling's T-Squared	F	df1	df2	р
690.226	26.196	24	235	0.000

The Intraclass Correlation Coefficient test is an analysis that provides information about the validity and reliability of the scale in terms of the order of questions and structure characteristics. According to the results, it was found to be a reliable structure both in terms of individual questions and average measurements (p<0.05) (Table 8).

Table 8. The results of the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient analysis of the DASC

	Intraclass 95% Confidence Interval		F-Test with True Value 0				
	Correlation ^b	Lower	Upper	Value	df1	df2	р
		Bound	Bound				
Single Measures	0.412ª	0.369	0.459	18.514	258	6192	0.000
Average Measures	0.946 ^c	0.936	0.955	18.514	258	6192	0.000
Two-way mixed effects model where people effects are random and measures effects are fixed.							
a. The estimator is the same whether the interaction effect is present or not.							
b. Type C intraclass correlation coefficients using a consistency definition-the between-measure variance are excluded							
from the denominator variance.							
c. This estimate is con	nputed assuming th	at the interact	ion effect is absent	because it is n	ot estimabl	e otherwise.	

4. Discussion

In the Turkish literature, studies conducted in different age groups were not found in the reviews as an "internet addiction or digital addiction scale." The "Digital Addiction Scale" for university students (15, 33) and another "Digital Addiction Scale" were developed by different researchers to measure digital addiction in high school and university students (14, 16). The Digital Game Addiction Scale was developed to determine problematic digital game-playing behaviors of adolescents aged between 12-18 years (34). The Smartphone Addiction Scale was developed by Kwon et al. (2013) for adolescents aged ten years (10) and is used for secondary school students (35). This study is important since no measurement tool that measures digital addiction in children from the age of nine and whose validity and reliability in Turkish was studied was found.

Factor analysis, one of the common methods in evaluating construct validity, examines whether the scale items are gathered under different dimensions (36). In this study, EFA and CFA were conducted in the construct validity part of the scale. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test, showing whether the sample size of the scale is adequate, and Bartlett's test, determining whether the scale is suitable for factor analysis, were first carried out. The adequacy of the sample size is evaluated by examining the KMO value. KMO value between 0.90-1.00 indicates a perfect sample size (23). The fact that the KMO value was 0.941 in this study showed that the sample size was at a "very good" level in terms of adequacy. Furthermore, the result of Bartlett's test of sphericity, performed to evaluate the suitability of the sample for factor analysis, should be statistically significant (23). In the study by Hawi et al. (2019), the KMO value (0.960) and Barlett's test of sphericity results were similar to our study (12). These results showed that the sample for factor analysis.

EFA evaluates whether the relationship of the items making up a factor with the factor is sufficient (23). In the literature, it was indicated that in EFA, the ratio of explaining the total variance of the factor loadings created between 40% and 60% would be considered sufficient, and the items with a factor loading value below 0.32 should be excluded from the analysis (37). According to the EFA results of the DASC in this study, it was determined that the scale, together with its subscales, explained 51.052% of the total variance, and factor loadings were over 0.40. In the original study of the scale, the total variance of the whole scale was 46.32% (12). Both our study and the original scale study are similar to the literature.

In the study by Hawi et al. (2019), thirteen items were loaded on component 1, including the complete item sets of conflict, displacement, and problems criteria. Twelve items were loaded on component 2, including the complete item sets of mood modification, withdrawal, and tolerance criteria (12). However, in this study, 16 items were loaded into component 1, and nine items were loaded into component 2. It can be said that this situation originates from cultural differences, which are wrong equivalent of the psychological terms used (38, 39). Therefore, it is usual that the validity and reliability values are different in scale adaptation studies from different cultures.

After EFA, CFA was performed to confirm the structure. It was found that the model was validated with 25 items and two subscales, and the factor loadings of the items varied between 0.37– 0.87. In CFA, the value of the factor loading is required to be at least 0.30, and it is emphasized that the items below this value should be removed from the scale (22). As a result of the CFA conducted to determine whether the structure in the original scale was confirmed for Turkish children, the values of $\chi 2/sd<3$, RMSEA \leq 0.08, and SRMR \leq 0.05 among the fit indices showed a perfect fit according to the criteria specified in the literature, and the value CFI \geq 0.85 was acceptable ($\chi^2/sd: 2.258$, RMSEA: 0.07, CFI: 0.907, SRMR: 0.049) (9, 23, 26, 37). In the original study of the scale, similar results, $\chi^2/sd: 2.434$, RMSEA: 0.0418, CFI: 0.959, and SRMR: 0.0337 (12), were obtained with our study.

Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient and test-retest method were used to calculate the scale's reliability. The literature emphasizes that Cronbach's alpha value should be 0.60 and above (23). As a result of Cronbach's alpha analysis, the overall reliability coefficient of the DASC consisting of 25 items was found to be 0.946, and Cronbach's alpha internal consistency coefficient of the subscales and criteria was found to be between 0.611 and 0.935. In the original study of the scale (12), Cronbach's alpha value of the overall scale was 0.936, and the value of the criteria was found to be between 0.56 and 0.68, which is similar to our result. Furthermore, the results support that the overall scale is highly reliable.

The test-retest analysis is also among the most commonly used reliability methods. The test-retest analysis examines the scale's consistency in repetitive applications and its invariance over time (36). In this study, the scale was applied to 59 individuals at two-week intervals. A high fit was observed between the retest and the first test (ICC= 0.938), which indicated no variance over time in the DASC and its subscales and that the DASC was reliable.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Based on the content validity, construct validity and reliability values of the scale, it was found that the DASC was a reliable measurement tool to measure digital addiction in children studying in grades 4 - 7 of primary and secondary schools (9-12 years old) in the Turkish literature. It is recommended to apply the scale to clinically diagnosed individuals and examine whether it can distinguish between digital addicts and non-addicted individuals. It is necessary to test the scale's measurement invariance in terms of gender and different cultures. To this end, the scale should be used by Turkish researchers in international studies, and measurement invariance should be examined by multi-group confirmatory factor analysis. Only when these studies are completed, it may be possible to use the scale more reliably in international studies, it may be recommended to repeat the validity and reliability of the scale in different groups of children, conduct studies that reveal the effects of individual and dynamic variables on the occurrence of the problem, and use it in prevalence studies in the community.

Limitations

Our study has some limitations. First, our sampling technique was not random, and the participants were selected by the convenience sampling technique, significantly limiting the sample's representativeness. In future studies, determining participants by the random sampling technique as much as possible will ensure the representativeness of the sample. The second important issue was that research was conducted with individuals not diagnosed with digital addiction while collecting the data. It was considered that this situation caused the scale to lack clinical validity.

References

- 1. WHO, 2021. "Addictive behaviours" https://www.who.int/health-topics/addictive-behaviours#tab=tab_2.
- American Psychiatric Association; APA. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5®). American Psychiatric Publishing. Retrieved from: https://cdn.websiteeditor.net/30f11123991548a0af708722d458e476/files/uploaded/DSM%2520V.pdf at 03.06.2021
- 3. Sözbilir A. Açık hava etkinliklerinin dijital bağımlılık düzeyine etkisinin incelenmesi. Yayınlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Marmara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Halk Eğitimi Anabilim Dalı, Halk Eğitimi Bilim Dalı, İstanbul, 2019.
- 4. Smahel D, Machackova H, Mascheroni G, Dedkova L, Staksrud E, Ólafsson K, Livingstone S, Hasebrink U. EU Kids Online 2020: Survey results from 19 countries. EU Kids Online. 2020. https://doi.org/10.21953/lse.47fdeqj01ofo
- 5. Panova T, Carbonell X. Is smartphone addiction really an addiction? Journal of Behavioral Addictions, 2018; 7(2): 252–259.
- 6. Kraut R, Patterson M, Lundmark V, Kiesler S, Mukopadhyay T, Scherlis W. Internet paradox: A social technology that reduces social involvement and psychological well-being. American Psychologist, 1998: 53 (9); 1017-1031.
- 7. Desjarlais M, Willoughby T. A longitudinal study of the relation between adolescent boys and girls' computer use with friends and friendship quality: Support for the social compensation or the rich-get-richer hypothesis? Computers in Human Behavior, 2010; 26: 896–905.
- 8. Stepanikova I, Nie NH, He X. Time on the Internet at home, loneliness, and life satisfaction: Evidence from panel time-diary data. Computers in Human Behavior, 2010; 26: 329–338.
- 9. Erkorkmaz Ü, Etikan İ, Demir O, Özdamar K, Sanisoğlu SY. Doğrulayıcı faktör analizi ve uyum indeksleri. Turkiye Klinikleri Journal of Medical Sciences, 2013; 33(1): 210-223.
- Kwon M, Lee JY, Won WY, Park JW, Min JA, Hahn, Kim DJ. Development and validation of a smartphone addiction scale (SAS). PloS one, 2013; 8(2): e56936. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0056936
- 11. Demirci K, Orhan H, Demirdas A, Akpınar A, Sert H. Validity and reliability of the Turkish Version of the smartphone addiction scale in a younger population. Bulletin of Clinical Psychopharmacology, 2014; 24(3): 226-234.
- 12. Hawi NS, Samaha M, Griffiths MD. The digital addiction scale for children: Development and validation. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 2019;22(12):771-778.
- Göldağ B. Lise öğrencilerinin dijital oyun bağımlılık düzeylerinin demografik özelliklerine göre incelenmesi. YYÜ Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi (YYU Journal of Education Faculty), 2018;15(1):1287-1315. http://dx.doi.org/10.23891/efdyyu.2018.105
- 14. Eryılmaz S, Çukurluöz Ö. Lise öğrencilerinin dijital bağımlılıklarının incelenmesi: Ankara ili, Çankaya ilçesi örneği. Elektronik Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 2018;17(67):889-912.
- 15. Arslan A, Bardakçı S. Üniversite öğrencilerinin dijital bağımlılık düzeylerinin iletişim becerileri üzerindeki etkisinin incelenmesi. Gençlik Araştırmaları Dergisi, 2020;8(20):36-63.
- 16. Altınok M. Lise öğrencilerinin dijital bağımlılık ve yaşam doyumunun incelenmesi. TEBD, 2021;19(1):262-291. https://doi.org/10.37217/tebd.689774
- 17. Brown TA. Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research. Second ed. The Guilford Press, 2015.
- 18. Finch W. Exploratory factor analysis. SAGE Publications Inc. 2020. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781544339900
- 19. Sümbüloğlu K, Akdağ B. İleri biyoistatistiksel yöntemler. Hatiboğlu Yayınları, 1. Baskı. pp:160, 2009.

- 20. Shrestha N. Factor analysis as a tool for survey analysis. American Journal of Applied Mathematics and Statistics, 2021; 9(1): 4-11. doi: 10.12691/ajams-9-1-2.
- 21. MacCallum RC, Widaman KF, Zhang S, Hong S. Sample size in factor analysis. Psychological Methods, 1999; 4(1): 84-99.
- 22. Hutcheson G, Sofroniou N. The multivariate social scientist: Introductory statistics using generalized linear models. Sage Publication, Thousand Oaks, CA; 1999. https://doi.org/10.4135/9780857028075
- 23. Alpar R. Spor, sağlık ve eğitim bilimlerinden örneklerle uygulamalı istatistik ve geçerlikgüvenirlik-SPSS'de çözümleme adımları ile birlikte. 3. Baskı. Detay Yayıncılık; 2014: pp: 434-485.
- 24. Yeşilyurt S, Çapraz C. Ölçek geliştirme çalışmalarında kullanılan kapsam geçerliği için bir yol haritası. Erzincan Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 2018; 20(1): 251-264. https://doi.org/10.17556/erziefd.297741
- 25. Schumacker RE, Lomax RG. A beginner's guide to structural equation modeling (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge; 2010.
- 26. Karagöz Y. SPSS-AMOS-META uygulamalı istatistiksel analizler. Ankara: Nobel Yayıncılık; 2019: pp: 1043-1044
- 27. Byrne BM. (2010). Structural equation modelling with Amos, New York, Routledge.
- 28. DeVellis RF, Thorpe CT. Scale development, theory and applications. Fifth Edition. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publication Inc.; 2022: pp:125-128
- 29. Hayran M, Hayran M. Basic statistic for health research. Ankara: Art Ofset Matbacılık Yayıncılık; 2011: pp:132-332
- 30. Jonhson B, Christensen L. Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches. California: SAGE Publication, Inc.; 2014: pp: 277-316
- 31. Şencan H. Sosyal ve davranışsal ölçümlerde güvenirlilik ve geçerlilik. Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık; 2005: pp: 65-104
- 32. Özdamar K. (2013). Paket programlar ile istatistiksel veri analizi-II, (Çok değişkenli yöntemler),9. Baskı, Eskişehir: Nisan Kitabevi.
- 33. Arslan A. Üniversite öğrencilerinin dijital bağımlılık düzeylerinin çeşitli değişkenler açısından incelenmesi. International e-Journal of Educational Studies (IEJES), 2020;4(7):27-41. DOI: 10.31458/iejes.600483
- 34. Irmak AY, Erdoğan S. Dijital oyun bağımlılığı ölçeği Türkçe formunun geçerliliği ve güvenilirliği. Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry, 2015;16(Special issue.1): 10-18.
- 35. Durak H, Seferoğlu SS. Ortaokul öğrencilerinin akıllı telefon kullanımları ve bağımlılık düzeyleriyle ilgili bir inceleme. Eğitim Teknolojisi Kuram ve Uygulama, 2018; 8(1): 1-28.
- 36. Karakoç FY, Dönmez L. Ölçek geliştirme çalışmalarında temel ilkeler. Tıp Eğitimi Dünyası, 2014; 13(40): 39-49. https://doi.org/10.25282/ted.228738
- 37. Seçer İ. Psikolojik test ve geliştirme ve uyarlama süreci. SPSS ve Lisrel uygulamaları. 2. Baskı. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık; 2018: pp: 65-104
- 38. Korkmaz M. Psikolojik ölçmenin yeni kuralları ve Türkiye'deki durumu. Türk Psikoloji Bülteni, 2007; 13(40): 8-14.
- 39. Erkuş A. Psikometrik terimlerin Türkçe karşılıklarının anlamları ile yapılan işlemlerin uyuşmazlığı. Eğitimde ve Psikolojide Ölçme ve Değerlendirme Dergisi, 2010; 1(2): 72-77.

Article Information Form

Author(s) Notes: The author(s) would like to express their sincere thanks to the editor and the anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments and suggestions.

Author(s) Contributions: All authors contributed equally to the writing of this paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure: No potential conflict of interest was declared by the author.

Copyright Statement: Authors own the copyright of their work published in the journal and their work is published under the CC BY-NC 4.0 license.

Supporting/Supporting Organizations: No grants were received from any public, private or non-profit organizations for this research.

Ethical Approval and Participant Consent: It is declared that during the preparation process of this study, scientific and ethical principles were followed and all the studies benefited from are stated in the bibliography.

Plagiarism Statement: This article has been scanned by iThenticate.



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN: 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University

Vol.7, No. 1, 50-60, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1177163

Research Article

Prevalence of Anaemia in Pregnant Women Registered in a Family Health Centre in Kütahya



¹ Kütahya Health Sciences University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Kütahya, Türkiye addurmaz@gmail.com

² Kütahya Health Sciences University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Kütahva, Türkive zerkesa@gmail.com

*Corresponding Author

Received: 19.09.2022 Accepted: 23.04.2024

Available Online: 25.04.2024

1. Introduction

Abstract

Objective: The aim of this study was to determine the prevalence of anaemia in pregnant women enrolled in a family health centre in Kütahya and to determine the proportion of pregnant women with low haemotocrit, low ferritin and vitamin B12 deficiency and some factors affecting them.

Method: The population and sample of this retrospective study consisted of 91 pregnant women who were registered to Yıldırım Bayazıt FHC between 01 October and December 2021 and whose medical records were complete. Haemoglobin, haematocrit, ferritin, vitamin B12 values of pregnant women were examined.

Results: The mean age of the pregnant women included in the study was 28.83±8.61 years. Anaemia was found in 7 (7.7%), low haemotochrit in 3 (3.3%), low ferritin in 67 (73.6%), and B12 deficiency in 19 (20.9%) of the pregnant women. It was found that haemoglobin, haematocrit and ferritin values of pregnant women did not differ significantly according to age, educational status, number of pregnancies, nutrition and planning status of pregnancy (p>0.05).

Conclusion: Low ferritin levels were found to be high in pregnant women in our study group. Ferritin levels of pregnant women should be monitored in Family Health Centres.

Keywords: Pregnant women, Anaemia, Ferritin, Vitamin B12

Anaemia is a condition in which the number of erythrocytes or the concentration of haemoglobin in them is lower than normal (1). When anaemia occurs, the capacity of the blood to carry oxygen to body tissues decreases. This results in symptoms such as fatigue, weakness, dizziness and shortness of breath (1). The optimal haemoglobin concentration required to meet physiological needs varies according to age, gender, high altitude, smoking habits and pregnancy status (1,2).

Anaemia can be classified as acquired or hereditary (2). Iron, folate and vitamin B12 deficiency anaemia, anaemias due to blood loss, anaemias of chronic diseases, acquired haemolytic anaemias and aplastic anaemias are considered acquired anaemias, while sickle cell anaemia, thalassemia and Fanconi anaemias are considered hereditary (1). Anaemia has mainly three causes: blood loss, increased blood destruction and decreased blood production (2). The most common causes of anaemia due to decreased blood production include nutritional deficiencies, especially iron deficiency (1-4). Folic acid and vitamin B12 deficiencies are other important causes (5). Anaemia is a very common disease affecting one third of the global population (1). In most cases, it is mild and asymptomatic and does not require any treatment. Its prevalence increases with age and is more common in women of reproductive age, pregnant women and the elderly (1). Anaemia is a global public health problem affecting especially children, women of reproductive age and pregnant women (5). It is estimated that one third of all

Cite as: Durmaz A, Yılmaz M. Prevalence of Anaemia in Pregnant Women Registered in a Family Health Centre in Kütahya. Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi. 2024;7(1): 50-60. https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd. 1177163



women of reproductive age are anaemic. WHO estimates that 42% of children younger than five years and 40% of pregnant women are anaemic worldwide (5). The prevalence of anaemia in pregnant women is estimated to be 18% in developed countries and 35-75% in developing countries (4,5). In Türkiye, the prevalence of anaemia among women of reproductive age varies between 20.0% and 39.9% (6).

Maternal anaemia affects pregnancy outcomes negatively. Anaemia in pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of maternal morbidity and mortality and an increased risk of growth retardation, low birth weight, preterm birth and perinatal mortality in the foetus (6). In addition, maternal anaemia is responsible for 20-40% of maternal mortality due to direct or indirect causes including heart failure, pre-eclampsia, antepartum haemorrhage, postpartum haemorrhage and puerperal sepsis (6). Mild iron deficiency anaemia is observed in women of reproductive age; this condition is usually seen due to inadequate iron intake and monthly loss with the menstrual cycle (1). In pregnancy, iron deficiency anaemia is most common, followed by vitamin B12 and folic acid deficiency anaemia (7,8). In Türkiye, iron, vitamin and mineral supplements are provided free of charge to pregnant women by the Ministry of Health. By using these preparations, health problems related to anaemia and micronutrient deficiencies are tried to be prevented in all pregnant women (8).

Many studies related with anaemia of pregnancy have been conducted in Türkiye (9-15). However, no research on anaemia of pregnancy has been conducted in Kütahya. This will be the first study conducted in this subject in Kütahya. In addition, determining the prevalence of anaemia of pregnancy and some factors affecting it in Kütahya will contribute to the knowledge of the extent of the problem and the solution of the problem. In this study, we aimed to determine the prevalence of anaemia, the rate of pregnant women with low haemotocrit, low ferritin and vitamin B12 deficiency, and some factors affecting them in pregnant women registered to Yıldırım Bayazıt Family Health Centre in Kütahya. Research Questions:

1: How common is anaemia during pregnancy?

2: What is the frequency of low Haematocrit and ferritin during pregnancy?

3: How common is vitamin B12 deficiency during pregnancy?

4: Is there any difference between the groups in pregnant women with anaemia, low haemotocrit, low ferritin and vitamin B12 deficiency?

2. Material and methods

2.1. Type of research

This is a retrospective study.

2.2. Place and time of the study

This study was conducted at Yıldırım Bayazıt Family Health Centre (FHC) in Kütahya between 01 October and December 2021. Kütahya is a province located in the west of the Republic of Türkiye. According to the year 2021, the population of Kütahya is 578640. This population consists of 284739 (49.21%) males and 293901 (50.79%) females. Of the total population of Kütahya, 277270 (47.92%) live in the central district. Of those living in the central district, 136730 were male, and 140540 were female (16). A total of 3994 people (2052 females and 1942 males) were registered to Yıldırım Bayazıt ASM where the study was conducted. At the time of the study, 91 pregnant women were registered to Yıldırım Bayazıt FHC. The research was conducted.

2.3. Population and sample of the study

The population and sample of the study consisted of the medical records of pregnant women registered to Yıldırım Bayazıt FHC. 91 pregnant women who were registered to Yıldırım Bayazıt FHC between 01 October and December 2021 and whose medical records were complete constituted the sample.

2.4. Data collection tools

Pregnancy Follow-up Form: Information on age (year), educational status, number of pregnancies, medication, smoking and alcohol use were obtained. Family Medicine Information System (FHIS): Haemoglobin, haemotocrit, ferritin, vitamin B12 values of pregnant women were obtained from laboratory records of the Family Medicine Information System (FHIS).

In accordance with the recommendations of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), pregnant women with a haemoglobin value below 11 g/dl were considered anaemic and pregnant women with a haemotocrit value below 33% were considered to have a low haemotocrit value (17,18). Ferritin values below 20 ml/ng were considered as low ferritin and vitamin B12 values below 150 pg/ml were considered as low B12 (19,20).

2.5. Evaluation of data

SPSS 22.0 programme was used for data analysis. In descriptive statistics, continuous variables were defined as mean and standard deviation, and categorical variables were defined as number and percentage. Independent student t-test for continuous variables and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) were used to analyse the differences between groups. Tukey test was used as a post-hoc test to determine which group was responsible for the difference between more than two groups. Logistic regression (LR) analysis was performed to evaluate the relationship between the characteristics of the participants and B12 deficiency. Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test was used to evaluate model fit. p < 0.05 was considered significant.

2.6. Ethical approval

Ethics committee approval (Decision No: 2022/07-03 Date: 22.06.2022) was obtained from Kütahya Health Sciences University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee and necessary permission was obtained from Kütahya Provincial Health Directorate. The study was conducted in accordance with the Principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

3. Results

A total of 91 pregnant women were included in the study. While 33 (36.3%) of the participants were under the age of twenty four years, 37 (40.7%) were between the ages of 25-34, and 21 (23.1%) were 35 years and over. Forty-four (48.4%) of the pregnant women were university graduates. Some descriptive characteristics of the pregnant women are shown in Table 1.

Features	n (%)
Age (year)	
18-24 years	33 (36.3)
25-34 years	37(40.7)
35 years and over	21(23.1)
Educational status	
Primary school	12(13.2)
High school	35(38.5)
University	44(48.4)
Pregnancy number	
1st pregnancy	37(40.7)
2nd pregnancy	35(38.5)
3 and more pregnancies	19(20.9)
Pregnancy planning	
Yes	68(74.7)
No	23(25.3)

 Table 1. Descriptive Characteristics of Pregnant Women (n=91)

Medication	
Yes	4(4.4)
No	4(95.6)
Smoking	
Yes	2(2.2)
No	89(97.8)
Alcohol	
Yes	0 (0.0)
No	91(100.0)

Anaemia was found in 7 (7.7%), low haemotocrit in 3 (3.3%), low ferritin in 67 (73.6%) and B12 deficiency in 19 (20.9%) pregnant women. Table 2 shows the distribution of haematological values in pregnant women.

Table 2. Distribution	of Haematological Values	in Pregnant Women	(n=91)
	0	0	`

Parameter	Reference range	n (%)
Haemoglobin	<11	7 (7.7)*
	≥11	84 (92.3)
Haematocrit	<33	3 (3.3)**
	≥33	88 (96.7)
Ferritin	≤20	67 (73.6)***
	>20	24 (26.4)
Vitamin B12	<150	19 (20.9)****
	≥150	72 (79.1)

*Anemic, **Low haemotocrit, ***Low ferritin, ****B12 deficiency

The mean haemoglobin values of the pregnant women included in the study were 12.88 ± 1.15 g/dl (min-max: 9.10-15.50), 38.76 ± 3.08 (min-max: 28.20-49.10), 19.83 ± 18.96 ml/ng (min-max: 1.70-113.00) and 221.11 ± 90.76 pg/ml (min-max: 60.00-670.00). Haemoglobin and haemotocrit values of pregnant women did not differ significantly according to age, educational status, number of pregnancies, nutrition and pregnancy planning status (Table 3). A statistical difference was found between pregnancy planning status and B12 values (t=2.131, p=0.036). A statistical difference was found between the age of pregnant women and B12 values (F=3.121, p=0.049). Post-hoc test was applied to determine which group the difference originated from. The difference was found between 18-24 years and 25-34 years (p=0.038) (Table 4).

Table 3. The Relationship Between Age, Education Level, Number of Pregnancy and Planning Status ofPregnancy and Haemoglobin and Haemotocrit Values of Pregnant Women

	Haemoglobin (g/dl)		Haemotocrit	
Features	Mean±SD	F;p	Mean±SD	F;p
Age (year)				
18-24 years ^a	12.73 ± 1.11	0.485;0.617	38.48±2.85	0.207;0.814
25-34 years ^b	13.00±1.03506		38.93±2.59	
35 years and over ^c	12.90 ± 1.40		38.90±4.18	
Educational status				
Primary education	12.55 ± 1.08	0.592;0.556	38.15±2.63	0.445;0.642
High school	12.97±0.87		38.62±2.18	
University	12.89 ± 1.35		39.04±3.77	
Pregnancy number				
1st pregnancy	12.82±1.18	0.466;0.629	38.37±2.97	0.621;0.540
2st pregnancy	12.82±0.97		38.88±2.37	
3 and more pregnancies	13.10±1.39		39.31±4.31	
Pregnancy planning				

Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi, 7(1) 2024, 50-60

Yes	12.97±1.22	1.284;0.203	39.12±3.22	1.936;0.056
No	12.61±0.88		37.70±20.39	

Mean: Average; SD: Standard deviation

Table 4. The Relationship Between Ferritin and B12 Values of Pregnant Women and Age, EducationLevel, Number of Pregnancy and Planning Status of Pregnancy

	Ferritin (ml/ng)		B12 (pg/ml)	_
Feature	Mean±SD	F;p	Mean±SD	F;p
Age (year)				
18-24 years ^a	18.96±15.56	0.145;0.865	249.26±103.94	3.121;0.049
25-34 years ^b	21.14±20.96		196.21±77.06	Tukey test: a-b (p:0.038);
35 years and over ^c	18.91±20.85		220.7619±81.47	a-c (p:0.485); b-c (p:0.571)
Educational status				
Primary education	24.07±17.32	0.688;0.505	167.00±44.68	2.752;0.069
High school	21.18±21.18		222.25±113.10	
University	17.60±17.60		234.97±74.83	
Pregnancy number				
1st pregnancy	19.32±19.17	0.057;0.945	214.77±82.88	0.167;0.846
2nd pregnancy	20.69±17.13		227.18±101.48	
3 and more pregnancies	19.25±22.49		222.31±88.54	
Pregnancy planning				
Yes	20.69±18.07	0.742;0.460	232.68±95.29	2.131;0.036
No	17.29±21.62		186.93±66.37	

Mean: Average; SD: Standard deviation

Logistic Regression (LR) analysis was performed by including age groups, educational status, number of pregnancies and whether the pregnancy was planned or not in the model, which were found to be statistically significant by ANOVA and t-test and which could be risk factors for B12 deficiency. According to the Hosmer-Lemeshow test, the fit of the model was evaluated as good (χ 2=9.693, p=0.287, R2=0.213). As a result of logistic regression analysis, B12 deficiency was found to be 9.687 times higher in the 25-34 age group compared to the 35 years and older group (p=0.04). As a result of logistic regression analysis, B12 deficiency in the group with 1st pregnancy, 4.932 times higher in the group with 2nd pregnancy (p=0.039) and 7.711 times higher in the group with 3rd or more pregnancies (p=0.043). No relation was found between educational status and planned pregnancy and B12 deficiency (Table 5).

						95% Co interva	nfidence ll for OR
	β	St. Error	Wald	р	OR	Lower limit	Upper limit
Age (year)							
35 years and over*			7.053	0.029	1		
25-34 years	2.271	1.108	4.198	0.040	9.687	1.104	85.019
18-24 years	0.160	0.820	0.038	0.845	1.174	0.235	5.854
Pregnancy planning							
Yes*					1		
No	-0.566	0.636	0.793	0.373	0.568	0.163	1.973
Educational status							
Primary Education*			1.762	0.414	1		
High school	0.959	0.843	1.293	0.255	2.609	0.500	13.630
University	1.014	0.795	1.629	0.202	2.757	0.581	13.084
Pregnancy Number							
1st pregnancy*			5,354	0.069	1		
2nd pregnancy	1.596	0.775	4,244	0.039	4.932	1.081	22.507
3rd and higher	2.043	1.011	4,083	0.043	7.711	1.063	55.932
pregnancy							

Table 5. Logistic regression analysis for factors associated with B12 deficiency

β: Regression coefficient, St. Error: Standard error; OR: Odds Ratio; *: reference category

4. Discussion

Anaemia was found in 7.7% and low ferritin in 73.6% of the pregnant women. No significant difference was found between haemoglobin, haemotocrit and ferritin values of pregnant women according to age, educational status, number of pregnancies, nutrition and planning status of pregnancy. The percentage of pregnant women with vitamin B12 deficiency was 20.9%. B12 deficiency was found to be 9.687 times higher in the 25-34 age group than in the 35 years and older group, 4.932 times higher in the group with the first pregnancy than in the group with the second pregnancy, and 7.711 times higher in the group with the third or more pregnancies. No relationship was found between educational status and planned pregnancy and B12 deficiency.

Many studies have been conducted in our country regarding the prevalence of anaemia in pregnant women (9-15). According to these studies, the prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy in our country varies between 20% and 74.1%. However, the prevalence of anaemia in our country is still not known exactly (21,22). In a study conducted in Elazığ, the prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy was found to be 27.9%, in a study conducted in women presenting for delivery, the prevalence of anaemia was found to be 41.6%, in the study by Öztürk et al. the prevalence of anaemia was found to be 20.0%, and in the study by Çıkım et al. the prevalence was found to be 24.2% (12-15). It was found to be 23.5% in a study conducted in Tokat, 19.7% in a study conducted in Batman, and 23.3% in a study conducted in Şanlıurfa (9-11). In our study, the prevalence of anaemia in pregnant women enrolled in Kütahya Yıldırım Bayazıt FHC was found to be 7.7%. According to our study, the prevalence of anaemia in pregnant women is not similar to other studies. When compared with these studies, it is seen to be lower. The fact that the studies were conducted in different samples may have led to this result. The other reason for this result may be considered as a result of the successful implementation of iron supplementation for pregnant women by the Ministry of Health in the ASM where the study was conducted. However, in order to make this evaluation, studies specifically analysing this issue are needed.

The most important cause of anaemia in pregnancy is iron deficiency (1-3,5). Serum ferritin level is an indicator of total iron storage and its low level indicates iron deficiency (23). In our study, the mean ferritin level was found to be 19.83 ± 18.96 , whereas it was found to be 27.5 ± 24.7 in a study conducted in Şanlıurfa (24). In addition, the rate of pregnant women with ferritin values below $20 \ \mu g/L \ was 73.6\%$

in our study. In the study by Çıkım et al. the rate of pregnant women with low ferritin was 20.8% (14). In the study by Sayar et al. low ferritin was found in 28% of pregnant women (22). When compared with other studies, both the mean ferritin values were lower and the rate of pregnant women with low ferritin levels was higher in our study. In iron deficiency, the decrease in ferritin levels occurs earlier than serum iron, transferrin saturation and haemoglobin values (14). Therefore, low ferritin levels are more important than others. Although the prevalence of anaemia was low in the pregnant women included in our study, the high rate of low ferritin values suggests that there is a risk of anaemia if the pregnant women are followed up. Iron deficiency in pregnancy has been reported to cause cognitive function and learning disorders in the fetus even in the absence of anaemia. Ferritin deficiency is also important in this respect (25,26). In our study, no relation was found between ferritin deficiency and age, educational status, number of pregnancies, nutrition and planning status of pregnancy. Therefore, ferritin deficiency may be due to the fact that the drugs given to pregnant women for iron supplementation have not been provided or used regularly recently. In the study of Sayar et al. a difference was found between pregnant women who used iron preparations regularly and pregnant women who used iron preparations irregularly or did not use iron preparations in terms of ferritin levels (22). In addition, other factors that may affect ferritin deficiency should be investigated. However, firstly, it should be investigated whether the drugs given within the scope of the Ministry of Health application are provided regularly or used regularly. However, iron supplementation given to pregnant women with normal iron levels may lead to Fenton reaction, formation of free oxygen radicals and precipitation of iron into tissues (14,27). In order to avoid these adverse effects and for early diagnosis of anaemia, monitoring of ferritin levels in pregnant women should be given importance.

Vitamin B12 deficiency is a common cause of anaemia in pregnant women. The most important function of vitamin B12 is to synthesise DNA which is necessary for cell division and proliferation. Vitamin B12 deficiency in the mother is important in terms of causing maternal anaemia as well as affecting the baby. Newborns whose mothers have vitamin B12 deficiency are born with low vitamin B12 stores and are at risk of megaloblastic anaemia, delayed neuromotor maturation and growth retardation (22,28). Vitamin B12 deficiency is observed between 10% and 30% in the world. B12 deficiency is more common in pregnant women (29). In our study, the mean B12 level was 221.11±90.76. Pregnant women with low vitamin B12 were found to be 20.9%. In the study by Sayar et al. vitamin B12 deficiency was found in 90.4% of pregnant women (22). While the rate of pregnant women with B12 deficiency in our study was compatible with the prevalence in the world, it was found to be lower than the study of Sayar et al. The study of Sayar et al. may have been high because it was conducted with term pregnant women who presented to the gynaecology and obstetrics clinic for delivery. According to our study findings, B12 deficiency was associated with age and number of pregnancies. As a result of LR analysis, the risk of B12 deficiency increased in the 25-34 age group and with increasing number of pregnancies. In a study conducted in Sanliurfa, no relation was found between age and number of births and B12 deficiency, which is different from our study (24). In our study, although B12 deficiency and pregnancy planning status were found to be significant in univariate analysis, it was concluded that it did not cause an increased risk in multivariate analysis. Since vitamin B12 cannot be made in the human body, it should be taken from outside through diet. Vitamin B12 is found in foods of animal origin. Since it is found very little in vegetables, B12 deficiency due to inadequate intake is common, especially in those who are fed a vegetarian diet. Dietary habits are one of the most important factors determining whether vitamin B12 deficiency is present or not (30,31). Failure to make changes in dietary habits in consideration of vitamin B12 even if the pregnancy is planned may be the reason for the lack of difference with unplanned pregnancies.

4.1. Limitations of the study

The study was conducted in a family health centre in Kütahya and in a small number of pregnant women. Therefore, it is not representative of Kütahya and Türkiye. In this retrospective study using records, factors that may cause anaemia, vitamin B12 deficiency in pregnant women such as nutrition and medication habits could not be evaluated because they were not recorded.

5. Conclusions

It has been found that low ferritin is still a serious and common health problem in pregnant women in our study group. Although not as common as low ferritin levels, low B12 levels are also frequently encountered in our study group. However, the results of the study can only be generalised to the family health centre. In this retrospective study using records, factors that may cause anaemia and vitamin B12 deficiency in pregnant women such as nutrition and medication habits could not be evaluated. According to the data we evaluated; B12 deficiency is more common in pregnant women aged 25-34 years and in women with more than one pregnancy. As the number of pregnancies increases, the likelihood of low B12 levels increases.

The causes of anaemia, low ferritin and vitamin B12 deficiency in pregnant women included in the study despite the routine free distribution of iron and vitamin preparations during pregnancy should be investigated. In addition, it may be recommended to investigate the prevalence of anaemia, low ferritin levels and vitamin B12 deficiency in a sample representative of Kütahya and whether the distributed preparations are used correctly and regularly by pregnant women

References

1. Turner J, Parsi M, Badireddy M. Anemia. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; August 8, 2023.

2. Conrad ME. Anemia. In: Walker HK, Hall WD, Hurst JW, eds. Clinical Methods: The History, Physical, and Laboratory Examinations. 3rd ed. Boston: Butterworths; 1990.

3. Abu-Ouf NM, Jan MM. The impact of maternal iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia on child's health. Saudi Med J. 2015 Feb;36(2):146-9. doi: 10.15537/smj.2015.2.10289.

4. Petry N, Olofin I, Hurrell RF, Boy E, Wirth JP, Moursi M, Donahue Angel M, Rohner F. The Proportion of Anemia Associated with Iron Deficiency in Low, Medium, and High Human Development Index Countries: A Systematic Analysis of National Surveys. Nutrients 2016;8:693. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8110693.

5. World Health Organization. Anaemia. https://www.who.int/health-topics/anaemia#tab=tab_1 (Accessed August 14, 2022).

6. Bilgin Z, Demirci N. Current Approaches Based on Evidence in Iron and Folate Deficiency Anemia in Pregnancy. Medical Bulletin of Zeynep Kamil. 2019;50(3):167-174. https://doi.org/10.16948/zktipb.469571

7. Karbancıoğlu Cantürk F, Songur Dağlı S. Effects of Maternal Anemia on Perinatal Outcomes. The Journal of Gynecology-Obstetrics and Neonatology. 2019;16(1);22-26.

8. T.C. Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Public Health, Department of Women and Reproductive Health. Prenatal Care Management Guide. Ankara, 2018. Ministry of Health Publication No: 925. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/depo/Yayinlarimiz/Rehberler/dogum_oncesi_bakim_08-01-2019_1.pdf (Accessed August 14, 2022).

9. Bucak FK, Ozcanarslan F, Demir M. The Prevalence Of Anemia And Related Factors In Pregnant Women Admitted To Sanliurfa Maternity Hospital. Journal of Helath Academics. 2017;4(2):103-109. https://doi.org/10.5455/sad.13-1492422573

10. Çıtıl R, Yakıştıran Barut S, Eğri M, Önder Y. Anemia Prevalance and Related Factors in Pregnant Women Admitted to State Hospital. Journal of Contemporary Medicine. 2014;4(2):76-83.

11. Tunc SY, Görük NY, Ceylan B, Tunc N. The Relationship Between Gestation and Iron Deficiency Anemia in Women Applied to Obstetrics and Gynecology Outpatient Clinic. J Clin Exp Invest. 2012;3(1):49-52.

12. Yakar B, Pirincci E, Kaya MO, Onalan E. Prevalence of Anemia and Associated Risk Factors among Pregnant Women, What is the Role of Antenatal Care in Prevention? A Cross-sectional Study. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2021;(11):1341-1345. doi: 10.29271/jcpsp.2021.11.1341.

13. Taner CE, Ekin A, Solmaz U, Gezer C, Çetin B, Keleşoğlu M, Erpala MB, Özeren M. Prevalence and risk factors of anemia among pregnant women attending a high-volume tertiary care center for delivery. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc. 2015;16(4):231-6. doi: 10.5152/jtgga.2015.15071.

14. Cıkım G, Tok A. Evaluation of the Frequency of Iron Deficiency Anemia in Healthy Pregnants According to Trimesters. F.Ü.Sağ.Bil.Tıp.Derg. 2020;34(3): 249 – 253.

15. Öztürk M, Öztürk Ö, Ulubay M, et al. Anemia prevalence at the time of pregnancy detection. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;14(3):176-180. doi:10.4274/tjod.06337.

16. TUIK, Turkish Statistical Institute. Geographic Statistics Portal, National Data Page. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=Nufus-ve-Demografi-109 (Accessed September 7, 2022).

17. WHO (2001) Iron deficiency anemia: assessment, prevention and control. WHO/NHD/01.3, Geneva. World Health Organization, Switzerland

18. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). CDC criteria for anemia in children and childbearing-aged women. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1989;38(22):400-4.

19. Yıldız Y, Yapar Eyi EG. Gebelikte annenin anemisi (Maternal anemia in pregnancy). The Journal of Gynecology - Obstetrics and Neonatology. 2012;9 (35):1456-1459.

20. Koebnick C, Hein UA, Dagnelie PC, Wickramasinghe SN, Ratnayaka ID, Hothorn T. Longitudinal concentrations of vitamin B12 and vitamin B12-binding protein during uncomplicated pregnancy. Clin Chem. 2002;48:928–33.

21. Davas I, Marangoz D, Varolan A, Akyol A, Baksu B. The influence of iron intake to maternal and perinatal outcomes. J Turk Soc Obstet Gynecol. 2008;5:174–81.

22. Sayar EH, Orhaner BB, Sayar E, NesrinTuran F, Küçük M. The frequency of vitamin B12, iron, and folic acid deficiency in the neonatal period and infancy, and the relationship with maternal levels. Turk Pediatri Ars. 2020;55(2):139-148. doi: 10.14744/TurkPediatriArs.2020.14042.

23. Gülücü S, Güçlü M, Çelik S, Can İS, Soyer Çalışkan C, Çelik S. The Relationship of First Trimester Vitamin D, Vitamin B12 and Ferritin Levels with Preeklampsia Ahi Evran Med J. 2021;5(3):229-235. doi: 10.46332/aemj.865619

24. Yenigül NN, Buldum D. Hemoglobin, ferritine, folate, B12 and vitamine D levels in first trimester pregnancies in Şanlıurfa. Genel Tıp Derg. 2021;31(1):24-28.

25. Chouthai NS, Sampers J, Desai N, et al. Changes in neurotrophin levels in umbilical cord blood from infants with different gestational ages and clinical conditions. Pediatr Res. 2003;53: 965-969.

26. Dalal E, Shah J. A comparative study on outcome of neonates born to anemic mothers versus non anemic mothers. Natl J Med Res. 2014; 4:270-273.

27. Winterbourn CC. Toxicity of iron and hydrogen peroxide: The Fenton reaction.Toxicol Lett. 1995; 82-83:969-974.

28. Keskin EY, Keskin M, Karaibrahimoğlu A. Association of Maternal Vitamin B12 Status With Infant Findings and Neurodevelopment in Vitamin B12-Deficient Breast-fed Babies. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2022;44(1):e91-e95. doi: 10.1097/MPH.0000000002122.

29. Sukumar N, Adaikalakoteswari A, Venkataraman H, Maheswaran H, Saravanan P. Vitamin B12 status in women of childbearing age in the UK and its relationship with national nutrient intake guidelines: Results from two National Diet and Nutrition Surveys. BMJ Open. 2016;6:e011247. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011247

30. Emen B, Kılıç Öztürk Y, Eren MA, Özdemir E, Öztürk F, Düzenli E, Sarıaslan D. Retrospective Analysis Of The Correlation Of Etiological Factors With Laboratory Features In Vitamin B12 Defficient Patients, The Anatolian Journal of General Medical Research. 2013;23(1):19-23. doi: 10.5222/terh.2013.95182

31. Şimşek H, Karaağaç Y, Tunçer E, Yardımcı H. Is It Necessary Folic Acid, Vitamin B12, Vitamin D and Iodine Supplementation in Pregnancy?: Posssible Risks. KSU Medical Journal. 2021;16(3):439-447. doi:10.17517/ksutfd.832401

Article Information Form

Authors Notes: The authors would like to express their sincere thanks to the editor and the anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments and suggestions.

Authors Contributions: All authors were responsible for the conception and study design. A. D. were involved in participant selection and performed the data collection. M. Y. contributed to the analysis of the data. A. D. and M. Y. wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure: No potential conflict of interest was declared by the author.

Copyright Statement: Authors own the copyright of their work published in the journal and their work is published under the CC BY-NC 4.0 license.

Supporting/Supporting Organizations: No grants were received from any public, private or non-profit organizations for this research.

Ethical Approval and Participant Consent: It is declared that during the preparation process of this study, scientific and ethical principles were followed and all the studies benefited from are stated in the bibliography.

Plagiarism Statement: This article has been scanned by iThenticate.



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN: 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University

Vol. 7, No. 1, 61-70, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd. 1415058

Research Article

Relationship Between Fluid Control and Symptom Severity in Hemodialysis Patients

İkbal Demiralp¹, Feride Taşkın Yılmaz^{2*}

¹ Istanbul Gelişim University Vocational School of Health Services, Istanbul, Türkiye, ikbaldemiralp42@gmail.com

² Sakarya University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, Sakarya, Türkiye feridetaskinvilmaz@subu.edu.tr



Received: 05.01.2024 Accepted: 29.04.2024 Available Online: 30.04.2024

1. Introduction

Abstract

Objective: This study was conducted to determine fluid control and symptom severity in hemodialysis patients, to reveal related factors, and to determine the relationship between fluid control and symptom severity.

Methods: The descriptive and correlational study was conducted with 150 patients receiving treatment in a private hemodialysis center in Istanbul between 01-30 April 2022. Data were obtained using a patient identification form, the Fluid Control Scale in Hemodialysis Patients and the Dialysis Symptom Index.

Results: The mean Fluid Control Scale in Hemodialysis Patients score of the patients was 50.75±8.13. The mean Dialysis Symptom Index score of the patients was 19.09±17.08. In addition, it was found that there was a weak negative correlation between the mean scores of the Fluid Control Scale in Hemodialysis Patients and the Dialysis Symptom Index (r=-0.349; p<0.05).

Conclusion: It has been determined that the fluid control of hemodialysis patients is generally at a moderate level, the symptom severity is quite low, and the symptom level may decrease as the level of knowledge, behavior, and attitude toward fluid control increases. It is recommended that nurses should regularly educate and counsel hemodialysis patients about the importance of fluid control and closely monitor the patient's compliance with fluid control.

Keywords: Hemodialysis, Fluid control, Symptom severity, Nursing care

Hemodialysis (HD) is the most preferred renal replacement treatment method, which allows the removal of toxic substances accumulated in the body due to end-stage renal failure and waste products resulting from metabolism and is based on the rules of physics (1). HD has advantages such as being easily accessible through health institutions, being administered by a health professional, and prolonging life (2). However, HD treatment also has various disadvantages in terms of requiring compliance with fluid and nutrition, causing loss of time and labor, performing invasive procedures in each HD session, and requiring surgical procedures for arteriovenous fistula or other intervention methods (3). Successful management of the HD treatment process is very important in improving the quality of life by reducing the morbidity and mortality rate in end-stage renal failure. The success of HD treatment; Patients' compliance with diet and fluid restriction, regular use of their medications, uninterrupted health checks and laboratory tests, and effective ultrafiltration (UF) have a significant impact (4).

Patients receiving HD treatment experience a wide range of symptoms such as constipation, diarrhea, nausea, loss of appetite, muscle contraction, edema, dyspnea, fatigue, insomnia, pain in bones or joints, dry skin, itching, and sexual dysfunction due to uremia caused by chronic renal failure. (5). HD treatment aims to prevent the development of uremic symptoms, fluid accumulation, fluid-electrolyte, and acid-

Cite as: Demiralp İ, Taşkın Yılmaz F. Relationship Between Fluid Control and Symptom Severity in Hemodialysis Patients. Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi. 2024;7(1): 61-70. https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd. 1415058



base balance disorders in the patient (6). In the effective management of the treatment process, patients' compliance with the treatment must be high (7).

The issue that HD patients experience the most stress and difficulty in adapting to treatment is fluid restriction (8). Fluid control in HD patients depends on the balance between daily sodium intake, fluid intake, urine output, and the amount of UF in dialysis sessions. HD patients are recommended to drink fluids at a rate of urinary volume + 500 mL/day (9). Due to increased fluid in patients, symptom burden, morbidity, and mortality rates increase. If the patient complies with the treatment and pays attention to fluid restriction, complications can decrease and quality of life can increase (10). It is stated in the literature that if interdialytic weight gain is not taken into consideration, complications and mortality rates such as hypertension, hypotension, muscle cramps, congestive heart failure, and ascites are high (11). In a study conducted by Kaplan and Karadağ (2022), it was found that symptoms were less in HD patients with high compliance with fluid control (12). In the study of Atik et al. (2020), it was found that patients experiencing symptoms of fatigue and decreased energy had poor fluid control (13). In another study, it was determined that the level of depression could decrease with compliance with fluid therapy (11). Therefore, maintaining fluid control in HD patients is of vital importance.

A multidisciplinary team approach is very important in the compliance of HD patients with treatment. Nurses who have direct communication with the patient have important roles in this team. Nurses' diagnosis of symptoms in HD patients, planning nursing interventions, and planning and implementing effective nursing interventions during complications contribute positively to the treatment (14). Additionally, nurses need to evaluate the treatment compliance process in HD patients. This study was conducted to determine fluid control and symptom severity in HD patients and to determine the relationship between fluid control and symptom severity. It is anticipated that the findings obtained in the study will guide nursing interventions on symptom management in HD patients and contribute to the literature.

Questions of study:

- What is the level of fluid control in HD patients?
- What is the level of symptom severity in HD patients?
- Is there a relationship between fluid control and symptom severity in HD patients?

2. Methods

2.1. Type, population, and sample of study

The study was conducted in a descriptive and relationship-seeking type. The population of the study consisted of patients who received HD treatment at a private dialysis center in Istanbul between 01-30 April 2022. The number of HD patients registered in this center, including acute/chronic, and guest/permanent, is 324. The annual average number of registered patients is 279. The study was conducted with 150 patients who met the inclusion criteria. To determine the reliable adequacy of the sample size, power analysis was performed using the G-Power 3.1 program. In the power analysis, it was determined that at the 0.05 significance level, the effect size was 0.80 and the power was 95%. The obtained values show that the number of samples is sufficient (12).

Inclusion criteria;

- Volunteering to participate in the study,
- Being 18 years or older,
- Having no problems with hearing, reading, and understanding,
- Having the cognitive competence to answer study questions.

2.2. Data collection tools

The study data were obtained using the patient diagnosis form, Fluid Control Scale in Hemodialysis Patients (FCSHP), and Dialysis Symptom Index (DSI).

Patient diagnosis form: The form was prepared by the researchers in light of the literature (2,4,11,16) and consists of 11 questions regarding the sociodemographic characteristics of the patients and 17 questions regarding the disease and treatment characteristics.

Dialysis Symptom Scale: The scale was developed by Weisbord et al. in 2005 from the short form of the Memorial Symptom Diagnostic Scale to measure the physical and emotional symptoms encountered by HD patients and the severity of these symptoms. The validity and reliability of DSI Turkish was made by Foreword and Master Yeşilbakan in 2013. DSI includes 30 physical and emotional symptoms. Patients are asked to answer yes or no to the symptoms they have experienced during the last week, and if yes, to evaluate the severity. Severity assessment is scored on a 5-point Likert scale, with 0 = not at all and 4 = very much. The scale score is determined by adding up the scores obtained from the results. The score range varies between 0-150, and it is seen that the severity of symptoms increases as the score increases. In the Turkish validity and reliability study of the scale, Cronbach's alpha coefficient was determined as 0.83 (15). In this study, the Cronbach's alpha value of the scale was found to be 0.87.

Fluid Control Scale in Hemodialysis Patients: The scale was developed by Coşar and Pakyüz in 2012 to measure the knowledge, attitude, and behavior about fluid restriction in HD patients. The scale is a 3-point Likert type and consists of 24 items. The scale has three sub-dimensions: knowledge, behavior, and attitude. Nine items on the scale are scored in the reverse direction. Scores between 7-21 can be obtained from the knowledge sub-dimension of the scale, scores between 11-33 from the behavior sub-dimension, scores between 6-18 from the attitude sub-dimension, and scores between 24-72 from the general sub-dimension. As the score obtained from the scale increases, fluid control compliance also increases. In the development study of the scale, the overall Cronbach alpha value was 0.88, the knowledge sub-dimension was 0.67 (17). In this study, Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the overall scale was found to be 0.78, 0.78 in the knowledge sub-dimension, 0.77 in the behavior sub-dimension, and 0.83 in the attitude sub-dimension.

2.3. Statistical analysis

The data obtained in the study were analyzed in a computerized environment with the SPSS 25.00 package program. While investigating whether the variables came from a normal distribution, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used due to the number of units. In addition to descriptive statistics, the Spearman Correlation test was applied when examining the relationship between scales because they did not come from a normal distribution. P<0.05 was used as the significance level when interpreting the results.

2.4. Ethical dimension and implementation of study

To collect data in the study, written approval was obtained from the ethics committee of a university (date 24.02.2022, number 2022/02) and from the institution where the study was conducted (Approval date: 16/03/2022). The participants were informed about the purpose of the study, its plan, and where the data would be used, and the principle of "Respect for Human Dignity" was fulfilled voluntarily, the principle of "Respect for Autonomy" was fulfilled, and the principles of "Confidentiality and Protection of Confidentiality" were fulfilled by keeping the data confidential. Written permission was obtained from the participants by filling out an informed consent form. Data were collected by face-to-face

interview method. Information regarding the disease and metabolic parameters was obtained from the patient's file with his/her consent. Data collection took approximately 20-25 minutes.

3. Results

According to the study, 32% of the patients were over 65 years old, 76.7% were male, and 47.3% had completed primary school. The study also found that 78.7% of the patients were married, 91.3% were unemployed, and 69.3% had an income equal to their expenses. In terms of their general health status, 62.7% of the patients reported it as good. Lastly, 23.3% of the participants were smokers at the time of the study (Table 1).

Characteristics		n	%
Age	Under 65 years	102	68.0
	Over 65 years	48	32.0
Gender	Female	35	23.3
	Male	115	76.7
	Not illiterate	5	3.3
	Primary school	71	47.3
Education status	Middle school	32	21.3
	High school	22	14.7
	Licence	20	13.3
Marital status	Married	118	78.7
	Single	32	21.3
Working status	Yes	13	8.7
	No	137	91.3
	Income exceeds expenses	24	16.0
Income status	Income equals expenses	104	69.3
	Income is less than expenses	22	14.7
Place of residence	City center	149	99.3
	Town	1	0.7
Living status	Alone	10	6.7
0	With family	140	93.3
	Yes	35	23.3
Smoking status	Left	74	49.3
	Never	41	27.3
Ability to perform daily living	Can do it alone	142	94.7
activities	Can do it with help	8	5.3

Table 1. Distribution of Patients' Personal Characteristics (N=150)

The average duration of kidney disease diagnosis of the participants was 99.87±81.73 months and the average duration of HD treatment was 67.23±56.85 months. It was determined that 21.3% of the patients started HD treatment due to chronic glomerulonephritis, and 12.7% had another chronic disease other than renal failure for which they were treated (Table 2).

The total score average of the patients on FCSHP is 50.75 ± 8.13 . When the sub-dimensions are examined, the total average score of the knowledge level is 17.93 ± 2.06 , and the average total score of the behavioral level is 22.75 ± 5.64 . The average total score of the attitude level is 10.06 ± 3.82 . The mean DSI total score of the patients is 19.09 ± 17.08 (Table 3).

Table 2. Distribution of Patients' Disease-Related Characteristics (N=150)

Kidney disease duration (months)99.87+81.73HD treatment duration (months)67.23±56.85HD treatment duration (months)07.23±56.85Disease causing kidney failureUnknown2416.0Disease causing kidney failureDiabetes Mellitus2919.3Hypertension4832.0Polycystic Kidney1711.3Time to start HD treatment afterWithin the first month7650.7diagnosis of diseaseOne month later7449.3Number of HD treatment days per weekTwo times2818.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Failed transplantation85.35.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation85.3Status of receiving iID treatmentNo13388.7Status of receiving iID treatmentNo85.3Mo85.311.3138Going for health check-upYes1284.Preson providing trainingYes1284.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.11.40Keudication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, Menever you think of it21.320.0Irregular, blos of complaints, you won't have32.02.0Irregular, lots of complaints </th <th>Characteristics</th> <th></th> <th>n</th> <th>%</th>	Characteristics		n	%	
HD treatment duration (months)67.23±56.85Unknown2416.0Chronic Glomerulonephritis3221.3Disease causing kidney failureDiabetes Mellitus2919.3Hypertension4832.0Polycystic Kidney1711.3Time to start HD treatment afterWithin the first month7650.7diagnosis of diseaseOne month later7449.3Number of HD treatment days per weekThree times12180.7Four times10.73.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.34HD treatment duration%5.35.31711.3Transplantation historyFailed transplantation85.3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3388.7Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.794.7MealterNo13389.2.012789.4Person providing trainingFried/neighbor128.42.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have the all done completely.2494.7Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wates hum/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even though his/her doctor wates hum/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even though his/her doctor wates hum/her to do it, he/she	Kidney disease duration (months)	99.87±81.73			
Unknown2416.0Disease causing kidney failureChronic Glomerulonephritis3221.3Diabetes Mellitus2919.3Hypertension4832.0Polycystic Kidney1711.3Time to start HD treatment afterWithin the first month7650.7diagnosis of diseaseOne month later7449.3Number of HD treatment days per weekTwo times180.7HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Failed transplantation85.37.3Transplantation historyFailed transplantation85.3Status of receiving education about herYes1711.3Status of receiving ducation about herYes14294.7Going for health check-upIrregular1388.7Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have the all done completely.12684.0Kent and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have the all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor washs, you won't have it done.2.01.32.0Diduction use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized1.4294.7Irregular, his of complaints21.32.01.42Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseOrganized1.4294.7Irregular, whenever you think of it management of the diseaseOrganized<	HD treatment duration (months)	67.23±56.85			
Disease causing kidney failureChronic Glomerulonephritis3221.3Disease causing kidney failureDiabetes Mellitus2919.3Hypertension4832.0Polycysic Kidney1711.3Time to start HD treatment after diagnosis of diseaseWithin the first month7650.7One month later7449.3Number of HD treatment days per weekThree times12180.7Four times10.7Four times10.7Four times10.7Four times14898.7Transplantation historyValing for transplantation85.3Transplantation historyYes1711.3Mitting for transplantation3624.070.7Not planning transplantation3624.094.7Status of receiving education about her tesseeYes1711.3Person providing trainingYes14294.7Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficuti32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wants him/her do ot the/she won't do it.2114.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have ther all done completely.20.0		Unknown	24	16.0	
Disease causing kidney failureDiabetes Mellitus2919.3Hypertension4832.0Polycystic Kidney1711.3Time to start HD treatment afterWithin the first month7650.7diagnosis of diseaseOne month later7449.3Number of HD treatment days per weekTwo times2818.7Four times10.73.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Failed transplantation85.35.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving education about herYes1711.3No85.35.388.7Status of receiving education about herYes14294.7diseaseNo85.32.1Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.114.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Leven if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it. done.2114.014.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsOrganized14294.714.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsOrganized14294.7 </td <td></td> <td>Chronic Glomerulonephritis</td> <td>32</td> <td>21.3</td>		Chronic Glomerulonephritis	32	21.3	
Hypertension4832.0Polycystic Kidney1711.3Time to start HD treatment after diagnosis of diseaseWithin the first month7650.7One month later7449.3Number of HD treatment days per weekTwo times2818.7Four times10.750.7Four times10.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Failed transplantation85.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes17No13388.7Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes1289.4Person providing trainingYes1289.4Press-publication32.12.0Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0Ifris/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/mer to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsOrganized14294.7Medicationuse status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, whenever you think of it tit done. <td>Disease causing kidney failure</td> <td>Diabetes Mellitus</td> <td>29</td> <td>19.3</td>	Disease causing kidney failure	Diabetes Mellitus	29	19.3	
Polycystic Kidney1711.3Time to start HD treatment after diagnosis of diseaseWithin the first month7650.7Mumber of HD treatment days per weekTwo times2818.7Number of HD treatment days per weekThree times10.7Four times10.70.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration85.30.7HD treatment duration85.30.7Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3No13388.7Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7MessageNo85.30.0Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.10.0Irregular, family difficult32.00.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely. Even hough his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even fiyour doctor requests it, ifyou have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints42.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think o		Hypertension	48	32.0	
Time to start HD treatment after diagnosis of diseaseWithin the first month7650.7Mumber of HD treatment days per weekTwo times2818.7Number of HD treatment days per weekThree times12180.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours1498.7Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation85.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving education about herYees1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseYees14294.7Mo85.35.39.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.12.1Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.14294.7Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it1107.3.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, holes of complaints 21.31.3		Polycystic Kidney	17	11.3	
diagnosis of diseaseOne month later7449.3Number of HD treatment days per weekTwo times2818.7Number of HD treatment days per weekThree times12180.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Transplantation historyFailed transplantation85.3Maiting for transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes17Not planning transplantation3624.0Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes142Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor1284.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.140.84.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementIf his/her doctor wants hum/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even though his/her doctor wants hum/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even though his/her doctor wants hum/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.3.2.0Medicationuse status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7It done.Tregular, whenever you think of it it done.42.71.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseTregular, whenever you think of i	Time to start HD treatment after	Within the first month	76	50.7	
Number of HD treatment days per weekTwo times2818.7Number of HD treatment durationFour times12180.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Transplantation historyFailed transplantation85.3Treasplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3No13388.7Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7Meath working12789.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.114.0Image for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0Going for health check-upIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12.684.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.2114.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it21.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, bots of complaints21.	diagnosis of disease	One month later	74	49.3	
Number of HD treatment days per weekThree times12180.7Four times10.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Transplantation historyFailed transplantation85.3Trensplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7ReseNo85.33Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.113892.0Going for health check-upIrregular96.01184.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementIf his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7It application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, holenev you think of it Irregular, holenev you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints21.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Diet application status rega		Two times	28	18.7	
Four times10.7HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Transplantation historyFailed transplantation85.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving education about her diseaseYes1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseNo85.3Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Person providing trainingRegular13892.0Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely. Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.2.014.0Medicationuse status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, holenev you think of it Irregular, holenev you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints21.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0	Number of HD treatment days per week	Three times	121	80.7	
HD treatment duration3.5 hours21.3HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Transplantation historyFailed transplantation85.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7No85.3Health working12789.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.0Medicationuse status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7It explication status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints21.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Diet application status regarding theIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints27 <td></td> <td>Four times</td> <td>1</td> <td>0.7</td>		Four times	1	0.7	
HD treatment duration4 hours14898.7Iteration historyFailed transplantation85.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7Regular12789.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Regular13892.0Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Itergular, whenever you think of it management of the disease1.32.01.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, bots of complaints B271.80Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, bots of complaints271.80 <td></td> <td>3.5 hours</td> <td>2</td> <td>1.3</td>		3.5 hours	2	1.3	
Transplantation85.3Transplantation historyWaiting for transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7diseaseNo85.3Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Person providing trainingIrregular, family difficult32.1Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Kedicationuse status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, lots of complaints21.32.014.0Medicationuse status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, lots of complaints21.31.32.0Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.31.31.3	HD treatment duration	4 hours	148	98.7	
Transplantation10670.7Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7diseaseNo85.3Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Itregular, lots of complaints21.32.0Itregular, whenever you think of it management of the disease14294.7Itregular, henever you think of it it done.21.4Medication use status in the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, hots of complaints2718.0Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Itregular, lots of complaints2718.018.05.3		Failed transplantation	8	5.3	
Not planning transplantation3624.0The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3No13388.7Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7MeaseNo85.3Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.113892.0Going for health check-upIrregular96.00Irregular, family difficult32.000Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Medication status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints1382.0Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.35.313.0	Transplantation history	Waiting for transplantation	106	70.7	
The presence of another member of the family receiving HD treatmentYes1711.3Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7Mo85.3Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular96.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0MedicationUse statusIf his/her doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.2114.0MedicationUse statusIrregular, lots of complaints21.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.31.31.3		Not planning transplantation	36	24.0	
family receiving HD treatmentNo13388.7Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7No85.3Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular13892.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Medicationuse statusorganized14294.7Medicationuse statusin the ti done.14294.7Medication use statusin the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.35.3133Irregular, lots of complaints11073.3Irregular, lots of complaints85.3133	The presence of another member of the	Yes	17	11.3	
Status of receiving education about her diseaseYes14294.7Mo85.3Person providing trainingHealth working12789.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular96.0Irregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Even though his/her doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.314.0110	family receiving HD treatment	No	133	88.7	
diseaseNo85.3Person providing trainingHealth working12789.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular39Irregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Even though his/her doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have32.0Medication use status in management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, bots of complaints S33	Status of receiving education about her	Yes	142	94.7	
Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor1289.4Person providing trainingFriend/neighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Going for health check-upIrregular13892.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints21.31.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, status of complaints2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.31313	disease	No Health working	8	5.3	
Person providing trainingFriend/heighbor128.4Press-publication32.1Press-publication32.1Regular13892.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Irregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have 			127	89.4	
Press-publication32.1Regular13892.0Going for health check-upIrregular96.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult12684.0Intregular, family difficult2114.0Intregular, family difficult2114.0Intregular, family difficult2114.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, family difficult32.0Intregular, whenever you won't do it.2114.0Intregular, whenever you think of it42.7Intregular, whenever you think of it11013.3Intregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Intregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Intregular, whenever you think of it2718.0Intregular, lots of complaints85.3	Person providing training		12	8.4	
Regular13892.0Going for health check-upIrregular96.0Irregular, family difficult32.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsEven though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.2114.0Medication use status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, lots of complaints21.31.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Medication use status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, lots of complaints85.3		Press-publication	3	2.1	
Going for health check-upIrregular96.0Irregular, family difficult32.0If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsEven though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.02.0MedicationUse status in the management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0MedicationIrregular, use of complaints85.314.0		Regular	138	92.0	
Irregular, family difficult32.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.2114.0Medication use status in management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, whenever you think of it management of the disease1.31.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.35.31.3	Going for health check-up	Irregular	9	6.0	
Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsIf his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.12684.0Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsEven though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it. Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.2114.0Medication use status in management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints21.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2018.0Status in Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0Bit Irregular, lots of complaints85.35.3		Irregular, family difficult	3	2.0	
Having routine checks such as blood tests and blood pressure measurementsEven though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.2114.0Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.0Medication use status in management of the diseaseOrganized14294.7Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2018.0Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, lots of complaints2718.0Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, lots of complaints2718.0Status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, lots of complaints85.3		If his/her doctor wishes, he/she can have them all done completely.	126	84.0	
tests and blood pressure measurementsEven if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.32.0Medicationusestatusin theOrganized14294.7Medicationusestatusin tregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints42.7Does not administer medication21.31.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, lots of complaints Irregular, lots of complaints2718.0StatusIrregular, lots of complaints85.31.3	Having routine checks such as blood	Even though his/her doctor wants him/her to do it, he/she won't do it.	21	14.0	
MedicationusestatusintheIrregular, whenever you think of it14294.7MedicationusestatusintheIrregular, whenever you think of it42.7Irregular, lots of complaints21.31.31.3Does not administer medication21.31.3Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.373.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it2718.0Irregular, lots of complaints85.31.31.3	tests and blood pressure measurements	Even if your doctor requests it, if you have no complaints, you won't have it done.	3	2.0	
MedicationusestatusintheIrregular, whenever you think of it42.7management of the diseaseIrregular, lots of complaints21.3Does not administer medication21.3Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it27Irregular, lots of complaints85.3		Organized	142	94.7	
management of the diseaseIrregular, lots of complaints21.3Does not administer medication21.3Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it27Irregular, lots of complaints85.3	Medication use status in the	Irregular, whenever you think of it	4	2.7	
Does not administer medication21.3Irregular, whenever you think of it11073.3Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.085.3	management of the disease	Irregular, lots of complaints	2	1.3	
Diet application status regarding the management of the diseaseIrregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints2718.085.3		Irregular whenever you think of it	2	1.3	
management of the disease Irregular, lots of complaints 8 5.3		In regular, whenever you think of it	110	/3.3	
management of the disease in regular, lots of complaints 0 5.5	Diet application status regarding the	irregular, whenever you think of it Irregular, lots of complaints	۲/ ۵	18.0 18.0	
Does not follow a diet 5 3 3	management of the disease	Does not follow a diet	5	3.3	
Scales	Mean±SD	Min	Max		
-----------	-------------	-------	-------		
FCSHP					
Knowledge	17.93±2.06	10.00	21.00		
Behavior	22.75±5.64	11.00	33.00		
Attitude	10.06±3.82	6.00	18.00		
General	50.75±8.13	30.00	67.00		
DSI	19.09±17.08	0.00	84.00		

Table 3. Distribution of Patients' FCSHP and DSI Average Scores

In the study, a statistically significant relationship was determined between the FCSHP knowledge, behavior, and attitude sub-dimension of the patients and the general scale score average and DSI score average (p<0.05). The relationship between them has a weak reverse strength (r=-0.266; p<0.05). As the level of fluid control knowledge, behavior, and attitude increases, the symptom level decreases (Table 4).

Table 4. Comparison of Patients' FCSHP and DSI Score Averages

FCSHP	Test	DSI
Knowledge	r	-0.266
	р	0.001
Behavior	r	-0.210
	р	0.010
Attitude	r	-0.259
	р	0.001
General	r	-0.349
	р	<0.001

r= Spearman Correlation analysis

4. Discussion

Despite the developments in HD treatment, the increase in the quality of the materials used, and the equipment of the service group increasing day by day, mortality rates are still very high. Patients' compliance with their diet and fluid restriction, regular use of their medications, and effective UF affect the success of HD treatment (8). In this study, it was determined that the fluid control level of the patients was at a moderate level. Different findings were obtained in studies with similar scales in the literature. Consistent with this study, it was emphasized in the study by Karabulutlu and Yılmaz (2019) that the fluid control level was moderate (16). In a study by Kulaksız and Arslan (2018), it was determined that the fluid control level was above average (18). However, in the study of Kaplan and Karadağ (2022) and the study of Balım and Pakyüz (2016), it was stated that the level of fluid control was low (12,19). The finding obtained in this study shows that although the rate of patients receiving education about the disease is high, compliance with fluid control is not at the desired level. This may be due to the patient's perspective on the disease and the failure to create living conditions that would support adaptation to the disease.

In the study, it was determined that the level of knowledge in fluid control was high. Similarly, in the study of Karabulutlu and Yılmaz (2019) and Özkan et al. (2019), it was observed that fluid control knowledge was at a high level in HD patients (16,20). Despite this, in Balım and Pakyüz's (2016) study, it was observed that the level of knowledge was low (19). It is thought that the different results obtained from the studies are due to the difference in the education levels of the patients and the fact that the studies were conducted in different geographical regions.

In the study, it was found that the fluid control behavior level was at a moderate level. The study finding is similar to the study of Kaplan and Karadağ (2022), Karabulutlu and Yılmaz (2019), and Balım and Pakyüz (2016) (12,16,19). In this study, it is thought-provoking that although the patients' knowledge about fluid control was high, their behavioral level was low. This finding may be due to patients not being aware of the importance of fluid control.

In the study, it was found that the fluid control attitude level was low. The study findings are parallel to the literature. The attitude level was also evaluated as low in the studies of Kaplan and Karadağ (2022), Karabulutlu and Yılmaz (2019), and Özkan et al. (2019) (12,16,20). Although patients' knowledge levels regarding fluid control are high, their attitude levels are low, which may be related to their acceptance of the disease. Similarly, patients' attitudes towards fluid control may be negatively affected by reasons such as difficulty in fluid control and boredom with fluid control.

In the study, it was found that the symptom severity of the patients was quite low. In the literature, it is seen that the severity of symptoms assessed by DSI varies in HD patients. In the study of Yılmaz et al. (2020), it was reported that the symptom severity of the patients was low (1). In the studies of Dikmen and Aslan (2020), Akgöz et al. (2017) and Demiroğlu and Bülbül (2021), the symptoms were found to be of moderate severity (21-23). In Zamanian et al.'s (2014) study, it was stated that symptom severity was high (24). In this study, although the symptom severity should be low, it is thought that this may be due to the long duration of the disease and the duration of HD.

The number and severity of symptoms increase in patients who do not comply with a liquid diet. Excess fluid that cannot be removed from the individual's body affects the quality of life and increases the mortality and mortality rate (7). In the study, it was determined that there was a weak negative relationship between the level of knowledge, behavior, and attitude of the patients toward fluid control and the level of symptoms. Accordingly, as patients' fluid control levels in knowledge, behavior, and attitude increase, dialysis symptom levels may decrease. In the literature, Kurt et al.'s (2011) study stated that complications such as pulmonary edema, hypertension, and cardiovascular complications due to fluid load in the body are frequently experienced in patients who do not comply with fluid control. In the same study, it was emphasized that symptoms such as edema, dyspnea, headache, chest pain, and numbness in the feet were frequently observed in patients due to fluid overload (25). In a study by Atik et al. (2020), it was stated that headache symptoms were frequently encountered in patients without fluid control, and symptoms of loss of appetite and anxiety were observed when patients did not control their fluid consumption (13). In some studies, the amount of intradialytic fluid in patients who do not maintain fluid control increases, resulting in nausea, vomiting, cramps, hypotension, etc. It has been emphasized that it may increase the severity of symptoms (19,26). The study finding, which is consistent with the literature, emphasizes the importance of fluid control in reducing symptom severity in HD patients.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

In this study, HD patients had moderate fluid control; It was determined that the symptom severity was low. Additionally, it has been determined that the symptom level may decrease as the level of knowledge, behavior, and attitude toward fluid control increases. In line with these findings, it is recommended that HD patients and their relatives be educated and counseled about the importance of fluid control in symptom management at regular intervals. Additionally, applications that will support fluid control in HD patients, such as taking notes and filling out charts, can be developed and taught to patients. In each HD session, patients' compliance with fluid controls should be evaluated with applications such as charts and tables to support fluid compliance. In addition, it is recommended to conduct qualitative studies on the variables that support and hinder compliance with fluid control in HD patients.

Limitations

The study contains several limitations. First, the study was conducted in a single center and over a specific period, so the findings cannot be generalized. In addition, the patient's symptom level and compliance with the fluid control level were evaluated with the HHSKS and DSI, and these data forms were filled out based on the patient's self-report. However, variables that would affect fluid restriction or symptom level were not excluded from the study. Despite these limitations, our study provides important data to support disease management in HD patients.

References

- 1. Ersoy FF. Hemodiyalizin fiziksel temelleri: Hemodiyaliz. Hekim El Kitabı 3.Baskı, Samsun; 2010.
- Taşkın Yılmaz F, Sert H, Karakoç Kumsar A, Aygin D, Sipahi S, Genç A. Evaluation of hope, symptom control, and medication compliance/adherence in hemodialysis patients. Acıbadem Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi. 2020;11(1):35-43. doi: 10.31067/0.2019.197
- 3. Topbaş E, Bingöl G. With the psychosocial persperctive, dialysis treatment and nursing interventions towards adaptation process. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2017;12(1):36-42.
- 4. Özkurt S, Sağlan Y, Gölgeli H, et al. Assessment of compliance with treatment in hemodialysis patients. Ankara Med J. 2017;4:275-283. doi:10.17098/amj.364140
- 5. Alkın Demir C, Özer Z. The relationship of symptoms and comfort in patients receiving hemodialysis. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2022;17(1):10-27.
- 6. Yangöz ŞT, Özer Z. The effect of motivational interviewing on adherence to fluid intake, diet and drug management in the individuals receiving hemodialysis treatment: Systematic review. Türkiye Klinikleri Hemşirelik Bilimleri Dergisi. 2020;12(3):419-429.
- 7. Görgen Ö, Topbaş E, Bingöl G. Turkey in dialysis nursing curriculum investigations of nursing course contents and student views of this course. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2018;2(13):62-70.
- 8. Güçlüel Y, Güneş N. Fluid control and affecting factors in individuals undergoing hemodialysis treatment. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2023;18(3):144-150.
- 9. Kavala A, Enç N. Importance of nutrition education and alternative methods in patients with chronic kidney failure. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2022;17(1):29-38. doi: https://doi.org/10.47565/ndthdt.2022.51
- 10. Doğan S, Bardak Perçinci N. The effect of nutrition education on some biochemical parameters and diet compliance in hemodialysis patients. Türkiye Sağlık Araştırmaları Dergisi. 2021;2(1):16-25.
- 11. Washington T, Hain D, Zimmerman S, Ney IL. Identification of potential mediators between depression and fluid adherence in older adults undergoing hemodialysis treatment. Nephrol Nurs J. 2018;45(3):251-258.
- 12. Kaplan A, Karadağ S. The determination of adherence to fluid control and symptoms of patients undergoing hemodialysis. Afr Health Sci. 2022;22(3):359-368. doi: 10.4314/ahs.v22i3.38
- 13. Atik D, Karatepe H, Özcan Yüce U. The relationship between fluid control and disease adaptation levels with symptoms in patients undergoing hemodialysis. Journal of Basic and Clinical Health Sciences. 2020;4(3):264-270.
- 14. Akbal Y, Nural N. Nursing Approaches in Intradialitic Complications. In. Urinary System Diseases and Nursing Approaches. Türkiye Klinikleri, Ankara; 2021. s.56-62.
- 15. Önsöz HB, Usta Yeşilbalkan Ö. Reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the Dialysis Symptom Index in chronic hemodialysis patients. Turk Nephrology Dialysis and Transplantation Journal. 2013;22(1):60-67.
- Karabulutlu EY, Yılmaz MÇ. Level of concordance with fluid restriction in individuals receiving hemodialysis. Acibadem Universitesi Sağlık Bilimleri. 2019;10(3):390-398. doi: 10.31067/0.2018.97
- 17. Coşar AA, Pakyuz SC. Scale development study: The fluid control in hemodialysis patients. Japan Journal of Nursing Science. 2016;13(1):174-182.
- 18. Kulaksız AT, Arslan S. Adaptation to liquid ıntake restriction by persons undergoing hemodialysis treatment. STED. 2018;27(6):407-414.
- 19. Balım S, Çınar Pakyüz S. Evaluation of hemodialysis patients' compliance with fluid restriction. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2016;11(1):34-42.
- 20. Özkan ZK, Ünver S, Çetin B, Ecder T. Determining of compliance of patients receiving hemodialysis for fluid control. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2019;14(1):10-16.

- 21. Dikmen RD, Aslan H. The effects of the symptoms experienced by patients undergoing hemodialysis treatment on their comfort levels. Journal of Clinical Nephrology and Renal Care. 2020;6:60.
- 22. Akgöz N, Arslan S. Examination of symptoms in patients who are on hemodialysis treatment. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2017;12(1):20-28.
- 23. Demiroğlu S, Bülbül E. The relationship of patients receiving hemodialysis with depression, anxiety, stress conditions and dialysis symptoms. Nefroloji Hemşireliği Dergisi. 2021;16(3): 124-133. doi:https://doi.org/10.47565/ndthdt.2021.40
- 24. Zamanian H, Kharameh ZT. Translation and psychometric properties of the Persian version of the dialysis symptom index in hemodialysis patients. Nephro-Urology Monthly. 2014; e23152. doi:10.5812/numonthly.23152
- 25. Kurt YT, Erdem E, Karataş A, Arık N. The effect of education given to hemodialysis patients on blood pressure and weight gain. Türk Nefroloji Transplantasyon Dergisi. 2011;21(1):39-44.
- 26. Correa S, Pena-Esparragoza J, Scovner K, Causland F. Predictors of intradialytic symptoms: an analysis of data from the hemodialysis study. Am J Kıdney Dis. 2020;76(3):331-339. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.01.004

Article Information Form

Author(s) Notes: The author(s) would like to express their sincere thanks to the editor and the anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments and suggestions.

Author(s) Contributions: All authors contributed equally to the writing of this paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure: No potential conflict of interest was declared by the author.

Copyright Statement: Authors own the copyright of their work published in the journal and their work is published under the CC BY-NC 4.0 license.

Supporting/Supporting Organizations: No grants were received from any public, private or non-profit organizations for this research.

Ethical Approval and Participant Consent: It is declared that during the preparation process of this study, scientific and ethical principles were followed and all the studies benefited from are stated in the bibliography.

Plagiarism Statement: This article has been scanned by iThenticate.



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN : 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University

Vol. 7, No. 1, 71, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1476416

Düzeltme Makalesi

Spinal Kord Yaralanması Olan Hastalarda Fiziksel Engelliler İçin Fiziksel Aktivite Ölçeği'nin (FEFA) Geçerlik ve Güvenilirliği

Abdurrahim Yıldız^{1*}, Rüstem Mustafaoğlu², Fatma Nur Kesiktaş³

¹ Sakarya Uygulamalı Bilimler Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi, Fizyoterapi ve Rehabilitasyon Bölümü, Sakarya, Türkiye *abdurrahimyildiz@subu.edu.tr

² İstanbul Üniversitesi- Cerrahpaşa, Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi, Fizyoterapi ve Rehabilitasyon Bölümü, İstanbul, Türkiye ahiska_1944@hotmail.com

³ Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi, İstanbul Fizik Tedavi ve Rehabilitasyon Sağlık Uygulama ve Araştırma Merkezi, Fiziksel Tıp ve Rehabilitasyon Bölümü, İstanbul, Türkiye nur.kesiktas@gmail.com Düzeltme Makalesi

Holistik sağlık dergisinin Cilt 6 sayı 3'te yayınlanan makalemizin giriş bölümünün son paragrafı aşağıdaki şekilde düzenlenmiştir. Değerli okuyuculara saygılarımızla sunarız.

"Ülkemizde SKY'li hastalarda Türkçe geçerlik ve güvenirlilik çalışması yapılmıştır (12). SKY li hastalarda fiziksel aktiviteye katılım için üst ekstremite motor fonksiyonları önem arz etmektedir. Çalışmamızda da üst ekstremite etkilenimi olan servikal bölge yaralamalı hasta ağırlıklı olarak yapılması amaçlanmıştır."

Available Online: 30.04.2024



Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi Sakarya University Journal of Holistic Health

ISSN : 2687-6078 Publisher : Sakarya University

Vol. 7, No. 1, 72-80, 2024 DOI: https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1251146

Review

Nonpharmacologic Methods Used in the Management of Premenstrual Syndrome: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Postgraduate Theses

Ahsen Demirhan Kayacık^{1*}, Kevser İlçioğlu¹

¹Sakarya University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Sakarya, Türkiye *ahsendemirhan@sakarya.edu.tr kevserozdemir@sakarya.edu.tr

*Corresponding Author



Received: 14.02.2023 Accepted: 05.06.2023 Available Online: 22.04.2024

Abstract

Objective: The aim of this study is to examine the randomized controlled postgraduate nursing theses on nonpharmacological applications used in the management of premenstrual symptoms.

Method: In this systematic review, theses registered to the National Thesis Center were searched between October 2022 and November 2022 using the keywords "PMS", "premenstrual syndrome" and/or "premenstrual syndrome". As a result of the search, 130 studies were found and 4 randomized controlled dissertations meeting the inclusion criteria were included in the study.

Results: The included studies were sorted and analyzed according to years, and numerical analyzes were carried out in computer environment. Results of the interventions used in the study, Premenstrual Syndrome Scale (PMSS), Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS), Visual Pain Scale (VAS), Menstrual Distress Complaint List, Perceived Stress Scale, World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment Scale Short Form, Menstrual Distress Complaint List was evaluated using the WHO Short Form of the Quality of Life Scale (WHO-SF) and the Healthy Lifestyle Behaviors Scale (SYBDS II).

Conclusion: The theses in the study showed that aromatherapy, health-related education models, the use of health belief models and acupressure were effective in alleviating PMS symptoms.

Keywords: PMS, Premenstrual syndrome, Nonpharmacological methods, Randomized controlled, Postgraduate thesis

1. Introduction

Premenstrual syndrome (PMS) is characterized by significant somatic and psychological symptoms that occur at the beginning of the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle and end with menstruation, and is frequently experienced by millions of women of reproductive age worldwide (1,2). The American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG) defined premenstrual syndrome (PMS) as a clinical condition characterized by the cyclical occurrence of physical and emotional symptoms that are not associated with any structural disorder, starting within five days before menstruation and ending by the fourth day of menstruation (3). The global prevalence of this syndrome is 47.8% worldwide (2). Among them, about 20% of women experience symptoms severe enough to interfere with their daily activities and the rest have mild to moderate symptoms. Symptoms of PMS include changes in appetite, weight gain, complaints of pain in the abdomen, lower back and head, breast swelling and tenderness, nausea, constipation, anxiety, irritability, anger, fatigue, restlessness, mood swings and crying (4). Although the pathophysiology of premenstrual syndrome has not been clearly explained, it is believed to be triggered by hormonal changes after ovulation (5-7). PMS is likely to be affected by the effect of progesterone on neurotransmitters such as gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), opioids, serotonin and catecholamine. Increased sensitivity to progesterone and pre-existing serotonin deficiency are also thought to be

Cite as: Demirhan Kayacık A., İlçioğlu K. Nonpharmacologic Methods Used in the Management of Premenstrual Syndrome: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Postgraduate Theses. *Sakarya Üniversitesi Holistik Sağlık Dergisi*. 2024;7(1): 71-79. https://doi.org/10.54803/sauhsd.1251146

responsible for this disorder. Increased prolactin levels or increased sensitivity to prolactin action, changes in glucose metabolism, abnormal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis function, insulin resistance and some nutritional electrolyte deficiencies and genetic factors have a role in PMS. Stress causes dysmenorrhea by increasing sympathetic activity and thus uterine contractions (6,7). Premenstrual syndrome is managed with nonpharmacologic, pharmacologic and surgical therapies. In the first stage, the condition should be managed with nonpharmacologic treatments. Nonpharmacologic treatments consist of pharmacologic and non-surgical applications such as exercise, reflexology, vitamin preparations, aromatherapy and herbal products (8). These methods are more reliable and have fewer complications compared to pharmacologic and surgical treatments (9). International literature suggests that nonpharmacologic treatments are an effective way to improve PMS symptoms method in the treatment of PMS. In a randomized controlled trial conducted by Heidari et al. in which participants received vitamin D or placebo every two weeks for four months, a significant improvement in PMS symptoms was shown (10). In a meta-analysis examining the effect of yoga on PMS, it was concluded that yoga reduced PMS (11). In a meta-analysis examining the effect of electroacupuncture on PMS, acupuncture was found to significantly reduce PMS (12). Another study investigated turmeric and PMS and found that turmeric reduced symptoms (13). Studies examining psychosocial interventions with PMS also reported that they were effective in reducing PMS symptoms (14,15). It is important to enrich studies on the subject, to provide evidence-based practices and to educate nurses about the subject. It is essential to increase the number of randomized controlled studies to ensure evidence-based practices. Therefore, our aim in this study was to examine the postgraduate theses in Turkey that conducted randomized controlled studies of nonpharmacological applications used in the management of premenstrual syndrome in the field of nursing and to guide nursing practices and contribute to the literature by evaluating the results.

2. Methods

This study is a systematic review and was conducted to examine the findings of randomized controlled postgraduate theses on PMS in the field of nursing between 2000 and 2022. In the first phase of the study "Premenstrual syndrome", "PMS", "premenstrual syndrome" keywords and literature search was conducted with the Higher Education Council (YÖK) National Thesis Center Database. This phase was carried out between October 2022 and November 2022. As a result of the search, 130 studies were found. After the studies were examined by the researchers, it was seen that only 47 of the 130 studies were postgraduate theses in the field of nursing. Seven of these 45 studies were experimental type studies. After examining the seven studies, it was seen that 6 studies were randomized control studies. After re-evaluating the six studies, two of them were found to be studies on perimenstrual distress and were excluded from the study. The study was conducted with four randomized controlled trials. The included studies were sorted and examined according to years and their numerical analysis was performed in a computer environment. After the evaluations, the studies were summarized in a table as thesis title, year, thesis type, intervention, sample size, data collection tools and results.

Since this study was a literature review, ethics committee permission was not required.

Inclusion criteria;

-In the YÖK National Thesis Center Database, the following theses were included: Department of Nursing, Department of Women's Health and Diseases Nursing, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Nursing

-Published between 2000 and 2022

-The keywords PMS, premenstrual syndrome, premenstrual syndrome are included in the thesis,

-Which is a randomized controlled experimental study,

Graduate theses for which the full text was available were included in the study.

3. Results

As a result of this systematic literature review, it was found that there were four postgraduate theses on PMS between 2000 and 2022 in the Department of Nursing, Department of Women's Health and Diseases Nursing, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Nursing. It was observed that 75% of the theses were doctoral dissertations (Table 1).

Table 1. Distribution of Theses According to Types

Thesis Type	n	%
Master's Degree	1	25
PhD	3	75

Although the first thesis on the subject was conducted in 2008, it is seen that the studies intensified after 2016 (Table 2).

Table 2. Distribution of the Theses Analyzed According to Years

Year of publicatio	2016	2017	2018	2022
Number of thesis	1	1	1	1
%	%25	%25	%25	%25

The studies were conducted in different sample groups such as university students, individuals with PMS risk behaviors, and individuals applying to Family Health Center (FHC). The studies were conducted by applying reflexology, yoga, aromatherapy, training based on the Health Belief Model (HIM) + acupressure and healthy lifestyle behaviors training interventions. The results of the interventions used in the study were evaluated through the Premenstrual Syndrome Scale (PMSS), Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS), Visual Pain Scale, Menstrual Distress Complaint List, Perceived Stress Scale, World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment Scale Short Form (WHOQOL-SF), Menstrual Distress Complaint List (SUS) and Healthy Lifestyle Behaviors Scale (HLSBS II). The author, year of publication, purpose, study group, study type, measurement tool used, sample size and results of the postgraduate theses are summarized in Table 3 (Table 3)

Table 3. Information on Graduate Theses

Author/Year	Title	Objective	The group to which the study was applied	Sample size	Intervention	Measurement tool used	Conclusion
Tuğba UZUN ÇAKMAK, 2016[16]	The effect of aromatherapy on coping with premenstrual syndrome in university students	Studying the effect of aromatherapy on PMS	Students with PMS staying in university dormitories	Experiment:40 Control:37	Aromatherapy	PMSS	Inhalation aromatherapy has been found to be effective in coping with PMS, reducing anxiety, depressive affect, fatigue, irritability, pain, bloating, depressive thoughts
Nazife BAKIR,2017[17]	The effect of healthy lifestyle behaviors training in university students with premenstrual complaints	Investigation of the effect of healthy lifestyle behaviors training given to individuals with PMS risk factors on PMS symptoms and healthy lifestyle behaviors	Health Services Female students studying at the Vocational School	Experiment:77 Control: 78	Healthy lifestyle behaviors training	DASS PMSS HLSBS II	It was found that healthy lifestyle behaviors training improved health behaviors, was effective in reducing risk factors for premenstrual complaints and decreased premenstrual complaints.
Didem ŞİMŞEK KÜÇÜKKELEPÇE, 2018 [18]	The effect of acupressure and training on premenstrual symptoms and quality of life under the guidance of the Health Belief Model for coping with premenstrual syndrome	The effect of health belief model-based education and acupressure on premenstrual symptoms and quality of life	All women with PMS registered at ASMs in a specific region in Adıyaman province center	51 education + acupressure 55 training, 57 control group	Training based on health belief model+acupressure	PMSS WHOQOL-SF	PMS symptoms decreased and quality of life improved after training and acupressure. It was also found that education and education + acupressure had a similar effect on PMS.
Ece ÖZKARADİĞİN,2022 [19]	Evaluation of the effectiveness of web-based education on premenstrual syndrome (PMS) symptoms and quality of life	Examining the effectiveness of web- based education on PMS symptoms and quality of life	University students with PMS	Experiment:33 Control:33	Web-based education	PMSS, SUS	Web-based training was found to be effective in reducing PMS symptoms and improving quality of life.

4. Discussion

Complications and costs of pharmacologic and surgical treatments in the management of premenstrual syndromes have made nonpharmacologic methods more reliable and advantageous. The fact that nonpharmacologic applications are frequently preferred options has led to the need for studies in the nursing profession. In our study, postgraduate theses on the subject in the field of nursing in Turkey were examined. Uzunçakmak (2016) looked at the relationship between aromatherapy and PMS symptoms in her thesis and found that inhalation aromatherapy via lavender oil was effective in the management of PMS and also reduced symptoms of fatigue, bloating, exhaustion, depression, anxiety, irritable mood, pain (16). Heydari et al. in 2016, 31 control subjects in Iran 33 intervention group, it was reported that psychological (p < 0.001), physical, social and total PMS scores of the aromatherapy group using essential oils of Rosa damascena decreased, while no change was observed in the control group (20). In a single-blind randomized controlled study conducted by Matsumoto et al. in Japan in 2016 with aromatherapy groups and placebo groups, it was reported that tension-anxiety, anger-hostility and fatigue decreased in aromatherapy groups, but no change was observed in other symptoms (21). Lotfipur- Rafsanjani et al. (2018) found that aromatherapy massage significantly reduced PMS physical and mental symptoms compared to massage therapy (22). The findings in Uzunçakmak's thesis are in line with the literature and show that aromatherapy is an effective method for managing PMS symptoms. Şimşek Küçükkelepçe (2018) found in her thesis that the training and acupressure intervention given to women with PMS using the health belief model reduced PMS complaints. It is also stated that education and acupressure practices have similar effects (18). When randomized controlled studies examining the effect of acupressure on PMS were examined, 97 students diagnosed with PMS were divided into 3 groups as LIV3, LI4 acupuncture and placebo points in a single-blind randomized study and it was shown that application of simple acupressure protocol in LIV3 and LI4 led to a decrease in PMS symptoms, depression and anxiety severity and improvement in quality of life. In addition, pressure in LIV3 and LI4 was found to be equally effective (23).

In a randomized controlled study examining the effectiveness of acupressure and reflexology on PMS, it was found that both methods reduced the severity of PMS, but reflexology was found to be the more effective method (24). Studies show that acupressure is effective on PMS symptoms.

In her thesis, Bakır (2017) provided training based on healthy lifestyle behaviors to university students with PMS complaints and found that after the training, the health behaviors of the students improved and there was a decrease in PMS complaints by reducing the risk factors causing premenstrual complaints (17). Özkaradiğin (2022) found that PMS symptoms decreased and quality of life increased in university students with PMS who were given web-based training prepared with reference to the Premenstrual Syndrome Management Guide and evidence-based practices for the management of PMS (19). Şimşek Küçükkelepçe (2018) also found that training based on the health belief model reduced PMS complaints (18). The findings of the study are in parallel with the findings of other studies on the subject. In a randomized controlled study investigating the effectiveness of a health belief model-based health education program on PMS in late adolescence, health belief model-based education was found to be effective in coping with PMS (25). In Pondicherry, a significant decrease was found in total PMS and all subscale scores three months after the health education given to secondary school students with PMS compared to the pre-training period (26). It was found that there was a significant decrease in PMS severity of students after the training program applied to nursing college students (27). Shakiba et al. also found that dysmenorrhea decreased after an educational intervention based on the health belief model applied to hospital staff experiencing PMS (28). In the study of Khalilipour Darestani et al. (2017), it was reported that the implementation of education based on the health belief model was effective in the adoption of PMS preventive behaviors (29). The results of the postgraduate theses included in our study are similar to the results of the literature and show that education reduces PMS complaints and facilitates coping with PMS and has a positive effect on PMS by ensuring the adoption of preventive behaviors.

5. Conclusion

The theses in our study showed that aromatherapy, health-related education models, use of health belief models and acupressure were effective in alleviating PMS symptoms. These nonpharmacological interventions have become popular in the management of PMS over the last decade and hold significant promise for other areas of human health.

References

1. Abdnezhad R, Simbar M, Sheikhan Z, Mojab F, Nasiri M. The effect of Salvia (Sage) extract on the emotional symptoms of premenstrual syndrome. Iran J Obstet Gynecol Infertil. 2017; 20:84-94. Doi:10.22038/IJOGI.2017.10160

2. Nascimento AF, Gaab J, Kirsch I, Kossowsky J, Meyer A, Locher C. Open- label placebo treatment of women with premenstrual syndrome: study protocol of a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open. 2020; 17:10(2):e032868

3. ACOG (American Collage of Obstetricians and Gynecologists), Premenstual Syndrome (PMS), 2021: Erişim tarihi: 25.12.2022, Erişim adresi: https://www.acog.org/womens-health/faqs/premenstrual-syndrome

4. Akmalı N, Özerdoğan N, Gürsoy E. Prevalence of premenstrual syndrome, associated factors and its effect on quality of life in women of reproductive age working in a public hospital. Mersin University Journal of Health Sciences. 2020; 13(1): 63-74.

5. Rapkin AJ, Akopians AL. Pathophysiology of premenstrual syndrome and premenstrual dysphoric disorder. Menopause Int. 2012;18(2):52–9. Doi:10.1258/mi.2012.012014 PMID: 22611222

6. Barth C, Villringer A, Sacher J. Sex hormones affect neurotransmitters and shape the adult female brain during hormonal transition periods. Front Neurosci. 2015; 9:37.

7. Vaghela N, Mishra D, Sheth M, Dani VB. To compare the effects of aerobic exercise and yoga on Premenstrual syndrome. J Educ Health Promot. 2019; 8:199.

8. Gnanasambanthan S, Datta S. Premenstrual syndrome. Obstetrics, Gynaecology & Reproductive Medicine. 2019; 29(10): 281-285.

9. Sehati Shafaie F, Dastgheib Shirazi H, Kamalifard M, Ghojazadeh M. The effect of foot medical zone-therapy reflex on the intensity of PMS symptoms in students (double-blind random controlled clinical trial). Iranian Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Infertility. 2018;21(7):10

10. Heidari H, Amani R, Feizi A, Askari G, Kohan S, Tavasoli P. Vitamin D Supplementation for Premenstrual Syndrome-Related inflammation and antioxidant markers in students with vitamin D deficient: a randomized clinical trial. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):14939. Doi:10.1038/s41598-019-51498-x

11. Pal A, Nath B, Paul S, Meena S. Evaluation of the effectiveness of yoga in management of premenstrual syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology,2022:517-525 Doi:10.1080/0167482X.2022.2086457

12. Zhang J, Cao L, Wang Y, Jin Y, Xiao X, Zhang Q. Acupuncture for Premenstrual Syndrome at Different Intervention Time: A Systemic Review and Meta- Analysis. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2019;25; 6246285. Doi:10.1155/2019/6246285

13. Khayat S, Fanaei H, Kheirkhah M, Moghadam ZB, Kasaeian A, Javadimehr M. Curcumin attenuates severity of premenstrual syndrome symptoms: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Complement Ther Med. 2015;23(3):318-24. Doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2015.04.001.

14. Shariati K, Ghazavi H, Saeidi M, Ghahremani S, Shariati A, Aryan H, ... Ghazanfarpour M. Psychotherapy for depression and anxiety in premenstrual syndrome (PMS): a systematic review and meta-analysis. International Journal of Pediatrics.2019; 7(3): 9169-9179.

15. Han J, Cha Y, Kim S. Effect of psychosocial interventions on the severity of premenstrual syndrome: a meta-analysis. Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2019; 40(3): 176-184

16. Uzunçakmak T. The Effect of Aromatherapy Applied to University Students on Coping with Premenstrual Syndrome. Doctoral Thesis, Gazi University Institute of Health Sciences, Ankara,2016

17. Bakır N. The Effect of Healthy Lifestyle Behaviors Education on University Students with Premenstrual Complaints. Doctoral Thesis, Istanbul University Institute of Health Sciences, Istanbul,2017.

18. Şimşek Küçükkelepçe D. The Effect of Training and Acupressure Guided by the Health Belief Model for Coping with Premenstrual Syndrome on Premenstrual Symptoms and Quality of Life. Doctoral Thesis, İnönü University Institute of Health Sciences, Istanbul,2018

19. Özkaradiğin E. Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Web-Based Education on Premenstrual Syndrome (PMS) Symptoms and Quality of Life. Master's Thesis, Pamukkale University, Institute of Health Sciences, Denizli, 2022

20. Heydari N, Abootalebi M, Tayebi N, Hassanzadeh F, Kasraeian M, Emamghoreishi M & Akbarzadeh M. The effect of aromatherapy on mental, physical symptoms, and social functions of females with premenstrual syndrome: A randomized clinical trial. J Family Med Prim Care. 2019;8(9):2990-2996. Doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_452_19.

21. Matsumoto T, Kimura T, Hayashi T. Aromatic effects of a Japanese citrus fruit—yuzu (Citrus junos Sieb. ex Tanaka)—on psychoemotional states and autonomic nervous system activity during the menstrual cycle: a single- blind randomized controlled crossover study. BioPsychoSocial medicine. 2016;10(1): 1-11.

22. Lotfipur-Rafsanjani SM, Ravari A, Ghorashi Z, Haji-Maghsoudi S, Akbarinasab J, Bekhradi R. Effects of Geranium aromatherapy massage on premenstrual syndrome: A clinical trial, International Journal of Preventive Medicine.2018;9: 98

23. Bazarganipour F, Taghavi SA, Allan H, Beheshti F, Khalili A, Miri F, Salari S. The effect of applying pressure to the LIV3 and LI4 on the symptoms of premenstrual syndrome: A randomized clinical trial. Complement Ther Med. 2017; 31:65-70. Doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2017.02.003.

24. Padmavathi P. Effect of acupressure vs reflexology on pre-menstrual syndrome among adolescent girls--a pilot study. Nurs J India. 2014;105(5):236-9.

25. Ayaz-Alkaya S, Yaman-Sözbir Ş, Terzi H. The effect of Health Belief Model- based health education programme on coping with premenstrual syndrome: a randomised controlled trial. International Journal of Nursing Practice.2020; 26(2): e12816.

26. Ramya S, Rupavani K, Bupathy A. Effect of educational program on premenstrual syndrome in adolescent school girls. Int J Reprod Contracept Obstet Gynecol. 2016; 3(1): 168-71.

27. Abdalla N, Gibreel M. Effects of an educational program in increasing knowledge and reducing premenstrual syndrome signs, symptoms and severity among nursing college students. International Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences. 2016; 5(4): 200.

28. Shakiba S, Shojaeizadeh D, Sadeghi R, Azam K. The effectiveness of educational intervention based on the health belief model on eating style and the severe reduction of menstrual pain among clinical personnel of the imam khomeini hospital complex. Iran J Health Educ Health Promot. 2016; 4(2): 158-68.

29. Khalilipour Darestani M, Panahi R. Effect of Education on Promoting Preventive Behaviors of Premenstrual Syndrome in Female Adolecents: Health Belief Model Application. J Educ Community Health. 2017; 4(2): 44-54. Doi: 10.21859/jech. 4.2.44

Article Information Form

Ethical Approval: Ethics Committee approval was not required in this study since the accessibility of all of the postgraduate theses examined in the study was approved by the authors.

Author Contributions: Topic selection: A.D.K; Literature review: A.D.K., K.İ; Writing and editing: A.D.K., K.İ

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Financial Support: The authors disclosed that they received no financial support for this study

Copyright Notice: The copyright of the work published in the journal belongs to the authors and their work is published under the CC BY-NC 4.0 license.

Plagiarism Statement: This article has been scanned by iThenticate.